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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK
EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED
(THE “STOCK EXCHANGE”)

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to
accommodate small and mid-sized companies to
which a high investment risk may be attached than
other companies listed on the Stock Exchange.
Prospective investors should be aware of the potential
risks of investing in such companies and should
make the decision to invest only after due and careful
consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally
small and mid-sized companies, there is a risk that
securities traded on GEM may be more susceptible to
high market volatility than securities traded on the Main
Board and no assurance is given that there will be a
liquid market in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited take no responsibility for
the contents of this report, makes no representation as to its
accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability
whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance
upon the whole or any part of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors of Sing Lee Software
(Group) Limited (the “Company”)(the “Directors”) collectively
and individually accept full responsibility, includes particulars
given in compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited for the purpose of giving information with regard to
the Company. The Directors, having made all reasonable
enquiries, confirm that, to the best of their knowledge and
belief the information contained in this report is accurate
and complete in all material respects and not misleading
or deceptive and there are no other matters the omission
of which would make any statement herein or this report
misleading.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Lin Xue Xin (Chairman)
Hung Ying (Vice Chairman)
Zang Jingjing

Li Dong

Cai Jin

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Pao Ping Wing

Chan Tsang Mo

Chen Xinai (appointed on 28 March 2024)

COMPANY SECRETARY

Wong Ka Wai (appointed on 15 April 2024)
Tong Tsz Kwan (resigned on 15 April 2024)
CPA, FCCA, FCG (CS, CGP), HKFCG (CS, CGP)

COMPLIANCE OFFICER
Lin Xue Xin

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES

Lin Xue Xin

Wong Ka Wai (appointed on 15 April 2024)

Tong Tsz Kwan (resigned on 15 April 2024)
CPA, FCCA, FCG (CS, CGP), HKFCG (CS, CGP)

AUDIT AND RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

Chan Tsang Mo (Chairman)
Pao Ping Wing
Chen Xinai (appointed on 28 March 2024)

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Chan Tsang Mo (Chairman)

Pao Ping Wing

Lin Xue Xin

Chen Xinai (appointed on 28 March 2024)

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Lin Xue Xin (Chairman)

Pao Ping Wing

Chan Tsang Mo

Chen Xinai (appointed on 28 March 2024)
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
DNREH

AUDITOR

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu

Registered Public Interest Entity Auditors
35/F One Pacific Place

88 Queensway

Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

Industrial and Commercial Bank of China (Asia) Limited
Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited

Bank of China, Hangzhou Branch

Industrial and Commercial Bank of China, Zhejiang Branch

HEAD OFFICE AND PRINCIPAL PLACE OF
BUSINESS IN HONG KONG

Room 1610, 16/F, Tower Il, Silvercord,
30 Canton Road,

Tsim Sha Tsui

Hong Kong

HEAD OFFICE AND PRINCIPAL PLACE OF
BUSINESS IN THE PRC

16th Floor, Building 9,
West City Best Space,
No. 158, Zixuan Road,
Sandun, Xihu District,

Hangzhou, China

REGISTERED OFFICE

Clarendon House
2 Church Street
Hamilton, HM11
Bermuda

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER OFFICE

Ocorian Management (Bermuda) Limited
Victoria Place, 5th Floor,

31 Victoria Street,

Hamilton HM 10,
Bermuda
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HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR AND EEROBFERITE
TRANSFER OFFICE

Tricor Investor Services Limited BEBAEERABRAR
17/F, Far East Finance Centre B

16 Harcourt Road E7EB1658
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ERW|E

On behalf of the board of Directors (the “Board”) of Sing Lee
Software (Group) Limited (the “Company”), | am pleased to
present the audited financial results of the Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) for the
year ended 31 December 2024.

BUSINESS REVIEW
Overall Business of the Group in 2024

The year of 2024 was one filled with challenges and
opportunities. Against a backdrop of persistent global
economic uncertainties, rapid technological transformations,
and diversified market demands, the Group faced
unprecedented pressures while simultaneously gaining
momentum. Through in-depth market research and
comprehensive analysis, the Group keenly discerned changes
in the external environment, leveraging these as opportunities
to refine and enhance its overall capabilities. Building on
the achievements of the optimized management structure
in 2023, we continued to deepen strategic adjustments in
2024, aiming to effectively address the current weakness in
market demand and strive for a dual leap in both quality and
efficiency.

Looking back at 2024, the global technology industry
underwent multifaceted transformations. The further
maturation of technologies such as artificial intelligence,
big data, and cloud computing drove digital transformation
across industries. Particularly in the fintech sector, the
gradual adoption of blockchain technology, along with the
rise of smart contracts and decentralized finance, brought
new challenges and opportunities to traditional financial
systems. Against this backdrop, the Group consistently
adhered to innovation-driven strategies, actively responding
to market changes and achieving significant progress.

In terms of business expansion, we continuously deepened
collaborations with existing clients while exploring
opportunities to engage new partners, thereby solidifying the
Group’s revenue foundation. Despite numerous uncertainties
in the market environment, our sales team persistently
expanded the client base through exceptional market
development capabilities and unwavering determination,
providing robust support for the Group’s revenue. This
strategy began to yield results in 2024, with significant sales
performance growth anticipated to materialize in 2025.

SING LEE SOFTWARE (GROUP) LIMITED
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Secondly, we remained steadfast in increasing research
and development investments, committing to technological
innovation and product upgrades. Our research and
development team continuously explored new technologies
and applications, successfully launching a series of market-
competitive products. These new offerings not only enriched
our product portfolio but also elevated our competitiveness
in the market. Concurrently, we iterated and upgraded
existing products to further optimize performance and user
experience. Leveraging the strong reputation built through
client collaborations, we continuously enhanced product
competitiveness, delivering higher-quality products and
services to customers.

Furthermore, we boldly explored business model innovation,
transitioning from a singular product sales model to an
integrated “product + operations” service model. Through
this approach, we moved closer to end-users, gaining a
deeper understanding of their needs and pain points, thereby
enabling more precise and efficient service delivery. This
innovative business model not only improved profitability
but also injected new vitality into the Group’s long-term
development. In 2024, we successfully completed a pilot
project in one province and plan to gradually expand
collaboration scope in the future to achieve steady revenue
growth.

However, we are acutely aware that challenges and difficulties
persisted during the Group’s development in 2024. Despite
notable research and development progress in product and
market expansion, operational losses remained substantial
due to lagging performance impacts. As of December
31, 2024, the Group recorded a loss of approximately
RMB11,617,000 (2023: approximately RMB8,264,000),
representing a year-on-year increase of 40.6%.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ERW|E

FUTURE OUTLOOK

Looking forward 2025, we are filled with confidence
and anticipation. With the gradual recovery of the global
economy and the rapid development of the fintech industry,
we foresee increased opportunities and possibilities. The
innovative application of cutting-edge technologies such as
big data and large-scale Al models holds immense market
potential for the Group’s products and services. The Group
will steadfastly uphold prudent and sustainable operations,
building a solid foundation to capture market trends with
precision. Simultaneously, emerging business models will
act as catalysts, infusing fresh energy and momentum into
the Group’s expansion. As external conditions continue to
improve, we firmly believe that, through the collective efforts
and relentless dedication of all colleagues, the achievements
and advancements of 2025 will be within reach, inspiring
boundless optimism.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

On behalf of the Board of Directors, | would like to express
my sincere gratitude to all shareholders for their support and
to all employees for their loyalty and dedication. In addition,
| would also like to extend my heartfelt appreciation to our
customers, partners, suppliers and bankers for their trust and
support.

Lin Xue Xin
Chairman

27 March 2025
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL REVIEW

The Group is principally engaged in the development and
sales of information and network technologies and services
to the financial industry in the People’s Republic of China (the
“PRC”).

Revenue of the Group comprises of:

For the year ended 31 December 2024 (“the financial
year”), the Group recorded a total revenue of approximately
RMB58,814,000, a decrease of 16.4% as compared
to the same period of last year (2023: approximately
RMB70,377,000).
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Revenue
R

2024 2023
—E-MF TEC=HF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARBET T
Sales of software products SHE BT E 1,261 2,866
Sales of hardware products 6 18 1 B2 1,040 422
Provision of technical support services R4 1lT L 8 IR 75 56,513 67,089
58,814 70,377

The decrease in the turnover of the Group was mainly
attributable to customers reduced its capital expenditures. As
a results, the revenue of the Group’s provision of technical
support services decreased by approximately 15.8% when
compared to the same period of last year. The total revenue
for the year 2024 mainly came from the provision of technical
support services. The source of total revenue for the year
2024 was the same as that for the year of 2023.

Cost of sales for the year ended 31 December 2024 is
decreased by 8.3% to approximately RMB51,146,000 (2023:
approximately RMB55,803,000). In addition to decrease in
staff costs due to streamlining the workforce, cost of sales
decreased in line with business activities. The Group’s overall
gross profit margin decreased by approximately 7.7% to
approximately 13.0% (2023: approximately 20.7%).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEENWE DN

Administrative expenses for the year ended 31
December 2024 is decreased by 20.8% to approximately
RMB12,336,000 (2023: approximately RMB15,568,000).
The decrease in administrative expenses was mainly due to
decrease in staff costs and rental expenses as the Company
closed its Hong Kong office. Distribution and selling expenses
for the year ended 31 December 2024 is increased by
16.2% to approximately RMB5,125,000 (2023: approximately
RMB4,412,000). The increase in distribution and selling
expenses was mainly due to an increase in staff costs. Other
income mainly included refund of value added tax, grants and
interest income, which decreased by 69.9% to approximately
RMB463,000 for the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023:
RMB1,537,000). The decrease in other income was mainly
due to a decrease in government grants; and other gains and
losses mainly included exchange differences and fair value
changes in financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.

Impairment losses under expected credit loss model, net
of reversal on trade receivables and contract assets for the
year ended 31 December 2024 is decreased by 85.8% to
approximately RMB324,000 (2023: RMB2,280,000). The
decrease in impairment losses under expected credit loss
model, net of reversal on trade receivables and contract
assets was mainly due to the Group’s effective control over
the settlement of trade receivables.

Research and development expenses for the year ended
31 December 2024 is increased by 19.0% to approximately
RMB7,893,000 (2023: approximately RMB6,631,000).

Loss amounted to approximately RMB11,617,000 for
the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: approximately
RMB8,264,000), increase of 40.6% as compared to the
same period of last year. The increase in loss was mainly
attributable to the decrease in revenue and gross profits.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Hangzhou Singlee Technology Company Limited (“Singlee
Technology”), a subsidiary of the Company, was established
in Hangzhou, PRC, is regarded as a High and New
Technology Enterprise and is therefore entitled to 15%
preferential tax rate for PRC enterprise income tax. According
to the PRC Enterprise Income Tax Law, the applicable
tax rate of Hangzhou Singlee Software Company Limited
(“Singlee Software”), and Xin Yintong Technology Co., Ltd.
(“Xin YinTong”) is 25% for the years ended 31 December
2024 and 2023.

Property, plant and equipment comprise mainly the Group’s
owned properties, leasehold improvements, computer
and related equipment and motor vehicles. Decrease
of approximately 6.7% is mainly attributable to usual
depreciation.

Trade receivables and contract assets decreased in line with
business activities during the year. During the year under
review, the trade receivables and contract assets turnover
(the average of the trade receivables balance and contract
assets at the beginning and the end of the year divided by
the total revenue of the year times 365 days) decreased by 9
days to 103 days (2023: 112 days). The Group’s customers
are generally granted with credit period ranging from 90-
180 days. The Group will continue to exercise due care in
managing the credit exposure.

Advance to staff is petty cash granted to certain employees
of the Group for payment of business related disbursement,
such as expenses incurred on business trip or meeting with
clients. Such advances are interest free, security free with no
fixed term of settlement. As at 31 December 2024, advance
to staff is stable at approximately RMB2,252,000 (2023:
approximately RMB2,207,000).

Borrowings amounted to approximately RMB29,291,000 as
at 31 December 2024 (2023: approximately RMB26,919,000),
representing an increase of 8.8%, which is mainly attributable
to the increase of bank borrowings. The borrowings and
unsecured loan from a related parties would be used for
general corporate purposes including working capital.

11

BEEFWE DM

MM RERERAE ([FAE]) BAERAF
RABEMMNKZ 2B AR - BREAS M
T BEPBRCEMSHIS%BEERE - RIE
FECERSRE BE T -_NMFER T =
FHZA=+T—HIEFE  TUNAHEHEERA
a8 (I AEH]) REiR@EEaRAE ([HE
W) ZiEAMER25% °

WE BMELAKEIZREAEENEEDE -
MEWMELRE  BIREEREBERER - THY
6.7% = ENIEFITEFTE °

EREZERRAEVNEEREFTANER TR
DM - REIEFRN  BRESERRAENE
EREXH (FVRERNEREZIEIRED
BEFHEHRBR U FLRINRITFIAICEKR) FH A9
RKEIOBR (ZEZ=F : 112K) - XEBHK T
EPZEEH BN TOEISOATSE - AEH
BRELEEEEEERR

BETHEMNRRAEERNETEIZRNTAR
© AN EEBBENIL - Ml ZEsk
HEEFEHMEENER - ZEMNKEHNE -
EER AEETHNEEHR RN F
+T-AZ+—B BNEIZFEBTEHARE
2,252,000t (ZZE - =4 : A R#2 207,000
JL) °

RZBE-_NME+_A=+—BHNEEYLAEA
R #29201,000 (T ZE - =F: H AR
26,919,0007T) * #118.8% - EZ R HMNF AL
IERTE R R R G B 5 EIEAE R - Fri5E
BEBRE-—REXAR  REEAZEEASD -

FAEY (KE) ROBERLF
TEIMEFR



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEENWE DN

We will continue striving our best to increase sales and
strengthen our cost control measures. With the products
of our Group becoming more mature in the market and the
effective cost control, we expect that financial results of the
Group would be further improved in the coming year.

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND
GEARING RATIO

The operating expenditures of the Group are funded by
cash flow from operations and borrowings. The Group has
adequate sources of funds to meet its future working capital
requirements.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group held cash and cash
equivalents denominated in RMB, US dollars and HK
dollars, amounted to approximately RMB28,528,000 (2023:
approximately RMB35,107,000), representing a decrease of
approximately 18.7% as compared with the end of previous
year. The decrease in bank balances and cash was mainly
due to net cash used in operating activities. The Group’s
current ratio, based on total current assets over total current
liabilities, as at 31 December 2024 was approximately 4.2
times (2023: approximately 4.8 times).

The Group’s net cash outflow for the year ended 31
December 2024 approximately amounted to RMB6,579,000
(2023: net cash inflow approximately RMB19,789,000).

SING LEE SOFTWARE (GROUP) LIMITED
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At 31 December 2024,

the Group had the following

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEERWR DT

R-ZE-_WF+-_A=1+—H0 AEEHRER

outstanding borrowings: BT -
2024 2023
—E-mEF ZEZ=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET ARBFIT
Fixed-rate borrowings: EEMEE :
Unsecured loans from a related party ﬂ%ﬁ#ﬁf’%ﬂ HiEE 28,291 26,419
Unsecured bank borrowings EIEMRITEER - 500
Secured bank borrowings BEARITEE 1,000 -
29,291 26,919
The borrowings’ contractual maturity dates are as follows: BEEAHESHANT
2024 2023
—E-_ME —E =5
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARBFT
Within one year 1FR 1,000 500
Between two to five years 2E5F 1,197 1,148
More than five years 5F 1% 27,094 25,271
29,291 26,919

The Group’s loans from a related party are all owing to Mr.
Hung Yung Lai. The Group’s loans from Mr. Hung Yung Lai
of approximately RMB27,094,000 (2023: RMB25,271,000)
are denominated in HK dollars, other borrowings are
denominated in the functional currency of the respective
group entity.

During the year 2020, the Group entered into two revolving
loan facility agreements with a bank with a total credit
amounts of RMB15,000,000. The maturity date of the
revolving loan facilities is on 6 July 2025 and 22 July 2025
respectively. These two revolving loan facilities were utilised
amounted to RMB1,000,000 as at 31 December 2024 (2024:
Nil). The unutilised facility would be utilised as the working
capital.

No interest was capitalised by the Group during the year
(2023: Nil).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEENWE DN

The gearing ratio of the Group, based on total liabilities over
total assets, as at 31 December 2024 was approximately
67.5% (2023: approximately 55.7%). The Group has confident
that gearing ratio can improve in the coming year.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

During the year ended 31 December 2024, 4,354,000 share
options were lapsed. During the year ended 31 December
2023, 6,507,000 share options were lapsed.

Save as disclosed above, the Company had no other changes
in capital structure during the year ended 31 December 2024.

ACQUISITION AND DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES
AND AFFILIATED COMPANIES

The Group did not have any material acquisitions or disposals
of subsidiaries and affiliated companies during the year.

RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group has established and maintained sufficient risk
management procedures to identify and control various types
of risk within the organisation and the external environment
with active management participation and effective internal
control procedures in the best interest of the Group and its
shareholders.

SEGMENTAL INFORMATION

The Group’s revenue segmented on types of goods or
services delivered or provided:

a) Sales of software products
b) Sales of hardware products
C) Provision of technical support services

For the year ended 31 December 2024, provision of technical
support services remained the principal source of revenue of
the Group. This services revenue accounted for 96.1% (2023:
95.3%) of Group revenue.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group recorded
revenue from sales of software products, sales of hardware
products and provision of technical support services
decrease of approximately 56.0%, increase of approximately
1.5 times and decrease of approximately 15.8% respectively
as compared to the same period of last year. Such decrease
was primarily attributing to the customers reduced its capital
expenditures.

Segment loss is approximately RMB7,147,000 (2023:
approximately RMB4,819,000).

Details of segment information are presented for the Group as
disclosed in note 6 to the consolidated financial statements.

EMPLOYEE INFORMATION

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had 418 employees
(2023: 622 employees), including both the PRC and Hong
Kong employees. Remuneration and bonus policy are
basically determined by the performance of the individual
employees and financial results of the Group. Total staff costs
for the year amounted to approximately RMB55,954,000
(2023: approximately RMB61,375,000).

The Group adopted a share option scheme, details of which
were set out in the “Report of the Directors”.

CHARGE ON GROUP ASSETS

As at 31 December 2024, certain properties of the Group
located in Hangzhou with an aggregate net carrying amount
of approximately RMB7,260,000 (2023: approximately
RMB7,808,000) were used to secure the banking facilities.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS
AND EXPECTED SOURCE OF FUNDING

Save as disclosed in this report, the Group did not have plans
for material investments and capital assets as at the date of
this report.

15

BEEFWE DM

HE-_Z-_NE+-A=1+—BILFE A&£H
BEHENHER  HEBRMHERRREHENS
ERBWAD RIS EFREATEL56.0% - EF
1 5RERM T ERA15.8% ° IR D EERHREF
WMAOET MM -

DEbEIE Y AREET 147,000 (ZE ==
AFR#4,819,0007T) °

F: 4

REBER D B EMFRBEN R AR 5 RKRME6 -

EEER
)‘5"_7_@¢‘1‘ H +—8" $’il4@ﬁ
MHMBZE BT (ZE_ZF:622%81) O

#@lmi@&%ﬂ% mﬁlﬁ)ﬂé&**qﬁzﬁﬁ
ZEJNEIREERFEXREMET -#HEZZT
“TWE+ A=+ BILFEE EIKALNA
AR #55054000C (ZZE-=F: H AR
61,375,0007T) °

AEECRMN—ABREE > FBF2HE
EREE] -

BEERKH

RZE-_MF+—A=+—8 KEECZHmM
BREFEA XN AREKT? 260,000T (ZE ==
F Y AREET 808,0007T) ME TWHED BER
ITRVE AR -

AREARESIBAELEENEFE

BRAREPIEEESI  RAREBH - AEEW
BEAREREREETE -

FAEMS (EE) ROBRAE
“E_NEER



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEENWE DN

EXPOSURE TO EXCHANGE RATE FLUCTUATION

The Group’s revenue generating operations are mainly
transacted in RMB. The Directors consider the impact of
foreign exchange exposure to the Group is minimal.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2024, the Group did not have any
material contingent liabilities (2023: Nil).

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

Our commitment to protect the environment is well reflected
by our continuous efforts in promoting green measures
and awareness in our daily business operations. The
Group encourages environmental protection and promotes
awareness towards environmental protection to the
employees. The Group adheres to the principle of Recycling
and Reducing. It implements green office practices such
as make use of water efficiently, double-sided printing and
copying, setting up recycling bins, promoting using recycled
paper and reducing energy consumption by switching off
idle lightings and electrical appliance. The Group is also
using office equipment carrying Energy Label issued by the
Electrical and Mechanical Services Department which save
energy in the offices.

The Group will review its environmental practices from time
to time and will consider implementing further eco-friendly
measures and practices in the operation of the Group’s
businesses to move towards adhering the 3Rs — Reduce,
Recycle and Reuse and enhance environmental sustainability.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2024, there was no
incidence of non-compliance with the relevant laws and
regulations of the places in which the Group operates that
which has significant impact on the business operations of
the Group.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

RELATIONSHIPS WITH STAKEHOLDERS

The Company recognises that employees are our valuable
assets. Thus the Group provides competitive remuneration
package to attract and motivate the employees. The Group
regularly reviews the remuneration package of employees
and makes necessary adjustments to conform to the market
standard.

The Group also understands that it is important to maintain
good relationship with business partners and bank
enterprises to achieve its long-term goals. Accordingly, our
senior management have kept good communication, promptly
exchanged ideas and shared business update with them
when appropriate. During the year, there was no material
and significant dispute between the Group and its business
partners or bank enterprises.

The Group collaborates with responsible suppliers to provide
quality goods with competitive pricing. To this end, the Group
implements policies on supply chain management to ensure
fair suppliers selection procedures. The suppliers should fulfill
the requirements in the supplier screening procedures and
the Group’s experienced employees ensure those goods
received from the suppliers meet the Group’s expectation.

KEY RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group’s financial condition, results of operations, and
business prospects may be affected by a number of risks and
uncertainties directly or indirectly pertaining to the Group’s
businesses. The followings are the key risks and uncertainties
identified by the Group. There may be other risks and
uncertainties in addition to those shown below which are not
known to the Group or which may not be material now but
could turn out to be material in the future.

Market Risks

Market risk is the risk that deteriorates profitability or affects
ability to meet business objectives arising from the movement
in market prices, like foreign exchange rates, interest rates
and equity prices. The management of the Group manages
and monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate
measures are implemented on a timely and effective manner.

17

BEEFWE DM

B & 2 B BA R

ARARA - RERLAMOEEEE - Bk - A
EEIZEABFHOFMSR - SR HBE
8- AEERHRNEENFHEE  TERE
AR AT 1 4 A 3 o

AEBETAR - EREBHMRITERRITRYT
BEBE  BRRMEKREBRHEER - Mk -
BREEEEEEERATRAREETRIA
B ERRXRBERRAERAEBER - £
AEBEFEBHARITEEZELREEAM
REmAt L -

AEERBRENHERSFAERF INER
RUEEENER - Bkt - AEERHEREE)
EERERAFHEHEHEFOERRK - HER
BT A EREEREFNER  MAKE AR
MEBEREERRENERNTEARENTE

TERRRFAPRE

AEBNMHENRR - 2EXEREHHSAES
FEAEEXEEEXFEBENTZ ARET
REARENRE - U T RASENEN T ZER
RARBAEE - B TXAINESN  BFERE
BYWARMERBAATRE N EZEARAIGERSE
ZmH AR T AAREE -

™5 ELER

MG R T E TS ER (BIEX - M X &KE)
HEMERNENZERFEERETBIRMEE
HeEk - AREEEEEUZERBETEER
S URERENFARREEE FEG

FRBRMS (RE) ROBRAA
“EREER



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEENWE DN

Foreign Exchange Rates Risk

The Group’s assets and liabilities were denominated in
Renminbi, Hong Kong dollars (“HKD”) and United States
dollars (“USD”), in view of the potential HKD and USD
exchange rate fluctuation the Group undertake foreign
exchange rate risk. The Group currently does not have a
foreign currency hedging policy. However, the management
monitors foreign exchange exposure and will consider
hedging significant foreign currency exposure when the need
arises.

Interest Rate Risk

For interest-sensitive products and investments, the Group
analyses its interest rate exposure on a dynamic basis and
considers managing this risk in a cost-effective manner when
appropriate, through variety of means.

Liquidity Risk

Liquidity risk is the potential that the Group will be unable to
meet its obligations when they fall due because of an inability
to obtain adequate funding or liquidate assets. In managing
liquidity risk, the Group monitors cash flows and maintains
an adequate level of cash and cash equivalent to ensure
the ability to finance the Group’s operations and reduce the
effects of fluctuation in cash flows. The management of the
Group monitors the utilisation of borrowings and ensures
compliance with all the loan limits or covenants (where
applicable) on any of its borrowing facilities.

Operational Risk

Operational risk is the risk of loss resulting from inadequate
or failed internal processes, people and systems or from
external events. Responsibility for managing operational
risks basically rests with every function at divisional and
departmental levels. Key functions in the Group are guided
by their standard operating procedures, limits of authority
and reporting framework. Our management will identify
and assess key operational exposures regularly so that
appropriate risk response can be taken.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Investment Risk

Investment risk can be defined as the likelihood of occurrence
of losses relative to the expected return on any particular
investment. Key concern of investment framework will be
balancing risk and return across different investments, and
thus risk assessment is a core aspect of the investment
decision process. Proper authorisation system has been
set up and detailed analysis will be made before approving
investments. Regular updates on the progress of the
investments of the Group would be submitted to the Board.

Manpower and Retention Risk

The Group may face the risk of not being able to attract and
retain key personnel and talents with appropriate and required
skills, experience and competence which would meet the
business objectives of the Group. The Group will provide
attractive remuneration package to suitable candidates and
personnel.

Business Risk

Performance of the Group’s core business will be affected
by various factors, including but not limited to economic
conditions, performance of property markets in regions
where our investments locate, the performance of the
fund managers for our invested funds, which would not be
mitigated even with careful and prudent investment strategy
and strict procedure.

Cyber Attack and Security Risk

The Group could be impacted negatively if it sustains
cyberattacks and other data security breaches that disrupt
its operations or damage its reputation. For example, various
information and sensitive or confidential data relating to its
operations may be subject to attack from hackers and other
malicious software programs that attempt to exploit any
security vulnerability in its system; Sophisticated software
and applications that it produces may contain “bugs” that
could unexpectedly interfere with the operation of the system
or may present unidentified security risk; Misappropriation of
sensitive or confidential data about its customers could lead
the Group to loss of reputation, and exposure to potential
litigation and liability. The Group will continue to enhance
IT security and security information awareness and comply
with mandatory privacy and security standards and protocols
imposed by law, regulation, industry standards, or contractual
obligations.

19

BEEFWE DM

RERg

BERR TR EAEMEIERERE LB R
BABEMNTENE - REERNTIEZEREZA
FESEREZRR KB - B @RS
BAREBRTHNEE B - AEEDRIEEN
RIEHE TSR ERERETHEAD T - &
EECREERAEEETHESN  THESSE
i -

ANHERERBAL ZER

ZRER (B A] BE T e SRR S R R %Hﬁmé&%ﬁ
e BBMETREZEIZABRATHRR - &
LTRABRATYREDAEEXBRIEMS
ZAE - AEEHR/AEBENERABREARS
VAL TV

EBER

AEEROEBNRABIINZEREZNTE
BIFEETRREERR  NEBREAERY
EMBHNERE  RAFREESNESLENR
RE - AEEREFEFENRE XK REEHE
7 D‘Fﬁi%‘ EREZEE -

MEREBRZ2AER

WMEAEBEESRENERAMEEBELZ2 T EN
&m BYREXBKELPEHIBEZIES A
EA RGN E - waﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ
%Wﬁﬂ&ﬂ@i%mﬁf AREeXIEER
HtBERHREANKE  ABEHRESENER
Aﬁﬁﬁ'@ﬁﬁ%mﬁiﬂmﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ¢
BETFAE [RRETERPE ] - TIRE R Bl RATETT - 1t
ﬁ%%tiﬂ RBERFBRSMEEANE
AR ErEEBE  HEEAEHRD  AEEH

BERSAMBHE R RARER BN R

AR OER - TRERISA QBN R B
BAMZ2RER T

FAEMS (EE) ROBRAE
“E_NEER



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEERNWR DA

Intellectual Property Risk

The Group could suffer if it does not develop and protect its
own intellectual property. The Group will take full advantage
of legal protections by applying for software copyright. For
licensed Intellectual Property, take appropriate steps to
assure its continued validity.

PROSPECTS OF NEW PRODUCTS

Please refer to the “Chairman’s Statement” for a discussion
on this.
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FIVE YEARS FINANCIAL SUMMARY OF THE GROUP FHSEMNMBHEE
Year ended Year ended Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
2023 2022 2021 2020
B2-T-=-F H2-T--F HPE-_T-—F PE-_T-ZF
+-A=t-8 +ZA=+-HB +ZA=t-B +=-A=t-H
LtFE tFE tFE HFE
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFL AREFTL ARETT AREFTL
Revenue HEMA 58,814 70,377 84,949 94,408 85,535
Loss attributable to shareholders & R IE{LE1E (11,617) (8,264) (18,381) (13,768) (31,204)
Total assets EELE 60,202 70,360 95,810 100,082 151,196
Total liabilities afEeE 40,629 (39,170) (56,356) (48,102) (85,448)
Net assets EEFE 19,573 31,190 39,454 51,980 65,748
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BIOGRAPHICAL INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Lin, Xue Xin, aged 49, a Director and Chief Executive
Officer of our Group. Mr. Lin was resigned as Chief Executive
Officer and appointed as the chairman on 1 November
2022. Mr. Lin has over 21 years of experience in the field of
computer technology. He obtained his bachelor degree of
Computer Science and Technology from People ‘s Liberation
Army Polytechnic University in 2009. Mr. Lin joined the Group
since 2000 and was appointed as the general manager of
Hangzhou Singlee Technology Co., Ltd, a subsidiary of the
Company, in May 2011. Between 2010 and 2012, Mr. Lin
was also employed as a technology expert in UnionPay. In
June 2022, Mr. Lin was admitted to Zhejiang University as an
MBA student of the School of Management.

Mr. Hung, Ying, aged 55, a Director and Vice Chairman
of our Group. He had been the deputy general manager
of Hangzhou Singlee Technology Co., Ltd. and Hangzhou
Singlee Software Co., Ltd of the Group from April 2007 to
April 2011. Prior to joining the Group, he had worked as the
marketing director and general manager in Beijing San Ding
Ti Lian Network Technology Company Limited from May
2001 to December 2005. Mr. Hung graduated in information,
social and management sciences (majoring in business
administration) from University of Paisley and obtained an
EMBA from Peking University. Mr. Hung has several years
of experiences in management, and is specialised in market
planning and sales.

Mr. Zang Jingjing, aged 50, a Director and deputy general
manager of our Group. He has 23 years of experience in
the field of computer technology. He obtained his bachelor
degree of Mechanical Engineering specializing in Thermal
Processing from the Jiangsu University of Science and
Technology (which later merged to form Jiangsu University)
in 1997. Mr. Zang joined the Group since 2000 and served
in a number of positions including chief of the Xi’an office
and manager of the Northwest region of Hangzhou Singlee
Technology Co., Ltd* (fTM#EFIEHEBR A7) (*Hangzhou
Singlee”), a subsidiary of the Company, sales director of
Hangzhou Singlee Software (Zhuhai) Co., Ltd* (/437 Fl &1+
(Fx8)EBR A7), deputy sales director of Hangzhou Singlee
and promoted as deputy general manager of Hangzhou
Singlee in May 2011.
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BIOGRAPHICAL INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

ESENRSREEERE

Mr. Li Dong, aged 50, a Director and deputy general
manager of our Group. He has 24 years of experience in
the field of computer technology. He obtained his bachelor
degree of Electric System and Automation from the Hefei
University of Technology in 1997. Mr. Li joined the Group
since 2001 and served in a number of positions including
project manager, technology deputy director, customer
service director and subsequently promoted as deputy
general manager of Hangzhou Singlee in May 2011.

Ms. Cai Jin, aged 42, a Director of our Group. She has 16
years of experience in business management, marketing and
sales. She obtained her bachelor degree of Bio-technology
from the Zhejiang University of Science and Technology in
2003 and her Dipl.- Ing. of Food Process Engineering from
the University of Applied Science and Art Hannover, Germany
in 2007. Ms. Cai served as a planning supervisor in Doehler
Food & Beverage from 2007 to 2011. She then served as
an assistant to the head of human resources in Bayer China
from 2012 to 2013. She later served as a marketing and
sales manager in DMK (Deutsches Milchkontor) Shanghai
from 2013 to 2018. She served as a business partner in Rurui
Health Management from 2018 to 2022. Since 2022, she
acted as a director of Shanghai Biyun Culture and Art Center.
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BIOGRAPHICAL INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Pao, Ping Wing, JP, aged 77, was appointed as an
independent non-executive director of the company in
December 2003. In the past years, he had been actively
serving on government policy committees and authorities,
including those relating to town planning, urban renewal,
public housing and environment matters. He has been
appointed as a Justice of the Peace of Hong Kong since
1987. He was an ex-urban councilor. He obtained a
Master of Science Degree in Human Settlements Planning
and Development from the Asian Institute of Technology
in Thailand in 1980. He was elected as one of the Ten
Outstanding Young Persons of Hong Kong in 1982 and
one of the Ten Outstanding Young Persons of the World in
1983. Mr. Pao is a Hon. Fellow of the Hong Kong Institute
of Housing. He is an independent non-executive director
of Capital Environmental Holdings Limited, Soundwill
Holdings Limited, Maoye International Holdings Limited and
International Credit Group Limited all of which are listed on
the Stock Exchange.

Mr. Chan Tsang Mo, aged 40, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director in January 2019. He is
the chairman of the audit committee of the Board (“Audit
Committee”) and a member of the Remuneration Committee
and the Nomination Committee. Mr. Chan has over 10
years of finance, accounting and treasury experience.
Mr. Chan assumed various positions in professional
accounting and financial firms including as a senior auditor
(mainly responsible for accounting, auditing and taxation
assignments) of RSM Nelson Wheeler (principally engaged in
the provision of accounting services) from December 2009
to January 2011, as a supervisor in the corporate services
division (mainly responsible for accounting, payroll, treasury
and audit assignments) of Intertrust Resources Management
Limited (principally engaged in the provision of legal and
financial administrative services) from June 2011 to June
2013, and as an accounting manager (mainly responsible for
the management and supervision of tax and financial matters)
of Reignwood International Investment (Group) Co., Ltd.
(principally engaged in investment services) from October
2013 to April 2016.
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Mr. Chan was an executive director of Ares Asia Limited
(stock code: 645), the shares of which are listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange, from June 2014 to March
2016. From May 2016 to October 2017, he worked as a
financial controller in Wan Cheng Metal Packaging Company
Limited (stock code: 8291), the shares of which are listed
on GEM of the Stock Exchange and was responsible for
overseeing the consolidated accounts and preparing financial
information, forecast memorandum, notes to the consolidated
financial statements and checklists for the listing application
of the company. Mr. Chan served as the company secretary
of Century Energy International Holdings Limited (formerly
known as China Oil Gangran Energy Group Holdings Limited)
(stock code: 8132), the shares of which are listed on GEM
of the Stock Exchange, from April 2020 to August 2021.
From September 2022 to July 2023, Mr. Chan served as
an independent non-executive director of Hong Wei (Asia)
Holdings Company Limited (stock code: 8191), the shares of
which are listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange. Since
August 2017, he has been a director of Morton Professional
Services Limited and is responsible for advising on company
formation, business establishments and legal compliance
related matters. Since February 2018, Mr. Chan was
appointed as the company secretary of China International
Development Corporation Limited (formerly known as Ascent
International Holdings Limited) (stock code: 264), the shares
of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.
Mr. Chan was appointed as the company secretary of Yues
International Holdings Group Limited (stock code: 1529), the
shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange, with effect from June 2022. Since 15 January
2019, Mr. Chan served as an independent non-executive
director of Geotech Holdings Limited (stock code: 1707),
the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange. Since 31 August 2023, Mr. Chan served
as an independent non-executive director of Speedy Global
Holdings Limited (stock code: 540), the shares of which are
listed on Main Board of the Stock Exchange.

Mr. Chan has been admitted as a member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants in January 2010
and is currently a practicing member of the Accounting and
Financial Reporting Council. Mr. Chan graduated from the
City University of Hong Kong with a Bachelor of Business
Administration degree in Accountancy in November 2006.
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Ms. Chen Xinai, aged 51, an associate researcher and a
master’s supervisor, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director in March 2024. She has more than 10
years of experience in the mining and functional research
of functional genes in plants and microorganisms (fungi),
the development of bioactive secondary metabolites and
molecular biology research of biosynthetic regulation. She
obtained a professional degree in tea science from Zhejiang
Agricultural University in 1996 and a master’s degree in
food science from the Zhejiang University in 1999. Ms. Chen
obtained a doctorate degree in biochemical engineering from
Zhejiang University in 2003. From 2002 to 2006, she worked
as an assistant researcher in the School of Life Sciences,
Zhejiang University, and then served as a postdoctoral fellow
at the University of Tokyo in Japan from 2006 to 2008. She
then worked as an assistant researcher in the College of Life
Sciences, Zhejiang University from 2008 to 2010, and then
as an associate researcher in the College of Life Sciences,
Zhejiang University from 2011 to 2017. In 2017, she was
an associate researcher at Zhejiang University School of
Medicine.

Ms. Chen graduated from Zhejiang University with a doctorate

degree in engineering in biochemical engineering in March
2003.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Wong Ka Wai, who is aged 45 and currently not
an employee of the Company, appointed as a Company
Secretary with effect from 15 April 2024. Mr. Wong has been
serving as an independent non-executive director of China
Vered Financial Holding Corporation Limited (stock code:
245) since March 2024, Wenling Zhejiang Measuring and
Cutting Tools Trading Centre Co., Ltd. (stock code: 1379)
since May 2022 and Jujiang Construction Group Co., Ltd.
(stock code: 1459) from August 2015 to June 2024, which
are companies listed on the Stock Exchange. Mr. Wong
served as the chief financial officer and company secretary of
Ruifeng Power Group Company Limited, a company listed on
the Stock Exchange (stock code: 2025), from May 2017 to
June 2023. From February 2017 to June 2017, he served as
an independent non-executive director of Green International
Holdings Limited, a company listed on the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 2700). From January 2013 to March 2017, he
served as the Chairman of Jai Dam Distribution (Hong Kong)
Co. Ltd., and was responsible for the business development
and management of the French Brand ‘‘Jai Dam’’ in the
region of Greater China and managing the sub-distributors
of Jai Dam Distribution (Hong Kong) Co. Ltd. in Beijing
and Shanghai. From November 2011 to December 2012,
he worked at PricewaterhouseCoopers Singapore branch,
with his last position held as a manager of the individual tax
business unit. From November 2010 to September 2011, he
worked at BASF East Asia Regional Headquarters Limited,
with his last position held as a manager. From January 2008
to May 2010, he worked at the Shanghai office of Ernst
& Young, with his last position held as manager in the tax
human capital-PRC department. From July 2006 to January
2008, he worked at Ernst and Young, with his last position
held as a senior accountant in the tax department. From
September 2001 to May 2004, he worked at KPMG, with his
last position held as a tax consultant. Mr. Wong obtained his
bachelor’'s degree in accountancy in November 2001 from
the City University of Hong Kong. He obtained his bachelor’s
degree in laws from the University of London in the United
Kingdom in August 2007. He was also admitted as a member
of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants (ACCA)
in October 2009.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

The Directors have pleasure in presenting their annual report
and the audited consolidated financial statements of the
Company for the year ended 31 December 2024,

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
The principal activities of the Group are the development and
sale of information and network technologies and services to
the financial industry in the PRC. There were no significant
changes in the nature of the Group’s principal activities
during the year.

The principal activities of the subsidiaries are set out in note
29 to the consolidated financial statements.

SEGMENTAL INFORMATION

An analysis of the Group’s revenue and results from operation
by principal activities and geographical area of operations for
the year ended 31 December 2024 is set out in note 6 to the
consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS

The results for the year are set out in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
on page 85.

The directors of the Company do not recommend the
payment of dividend.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A discussion and analysis of the activities as required by
Schedule 5 to the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the
Laws of Hong Kong) (the “Company Ordinance”), including a
fair review of the business, a discussion of the principal risks
and uncertainties facing the Group, particulars of important
events affecting the Group that have occurred since the
end of the financial year 2024, an indication of likely future
development in the Group’s business, disclosures relating
to the Group’s environmental policies and performance, and
relationships with major stakeholders can be found in the
“Chairman’s Statement” and “Management Discussion and
Analysis” sections of this annual report. These discussions
form part of this directors’ report.

Throughout 2024, there was no incidence of non-compliance

with the relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the Group’s business.
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CLOSURE OF THE REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For determining the entitlement to attend and vote at the
annual general meeting (“AGM”), the details of closure of
register of members will be announced in due course, please
refer to the forthcoming notice of AGM for further information.

SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the published results and assets and liabilities
of the Group for the last five financial years, as extracted
from the audited consolidated financial statements, is set out
on page 20 of the annual report.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group and
the Company during the year are set out on page 88 and
page 176 respectively.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment
of the Group during the year are set out in note 16 to the
consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS

Details of the Company’s share capital and share options
scheme are set out in notes 25 and 26 to the consolidated
financial statements respectively

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s Bye-laws or the law of Bermuda which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis
to existing shareholders.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Pursuant to the Company Act 1981 of Bermuda, share
premium of the Company is distributable to the shareholders.
At 31 December 2024, the company had no reserve available
for distribution to equity of the company (2023: Nil).

MAJOR SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS

The percentage of purchases and sales for the year ended 31
December 2024 attributable to the Group’s major suppliers
and customers are as follows:

Purchases

— the largest supplier 13% (2023: 12%)
— five largest suppliers combined 36% (20283: 42%)
Sales

— the largest customer 64% (2023: 71%)
— five largest customers combined 95% (2023: 94%)

None of the Directors, their associates or any shareholder
(which to the knowledge of the directors owns more than 5%
of the company’s share capital) had an interest in the major
suppliers or customers stated above.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITION IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

So far as is known to any directors or chief executives of
the Company, as at 31 December 2024, shareholders (other
than directors or chief executive of the Company) who had
interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares
and debentures of the Company which would fall to be
disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions
2 and 38 of Part XV of the SFO, or directly or indirectly,
interested in 5% or more of the nominal value of any class
of share capital carrying rights to vote on all circumstances
at general meeting of any other members of the Group or
substantial shareholders as recorded in the register required
to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO
were as follows:
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(a) Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each of the Company (—) ZARARSREE0O0IBT2EZER

Number of shares held

BERGOEE
Capacity/ Long Short Percentage of
Name of shareholder Nature of interest position position shareholding
BRREH B3 RE=ER Ha KB FEREXESWL
Goldcorp Industrial Limited Beneficial owner 136,307,500 — 10.35%
BEmlEA A (note 1)
(Ktat1)
Great Song Enterprises Interest of controlled 136,307,500 — 10.35%
Limited corporation (notes 1 and 2)
REHEE R (Kiat1k2)
Mr. Hung Yung Lai Interest of controlled 136,307,500 — 10.35%
RERRIE ST corporation (notes 2 and 4)
XEHEE RS (HfeE2ok4)
Beneficial owner 38,532,500 — 2.92%
EmAA
Ms. Li Kei Ling Interest of controlled 136,307,500 — 10.35%
TEHRBRZL corporation (notes 2 and 3)
Rt EE kR (KteE2k%3)
Mdm lu Pun Interest of spouse 174,840,000 — 13.27%
w2+ Al fEER (note 5)
(Ktets)
Mr. Lin Xue Xin Beneficial owner 118,560,000 — 9.00%
L EnlEEA
Ms. Zhou Cuilian Interest of spouse 123,552,682 — 9.38%
ARELZ+ [IREp s 4 (note 6)
(Ktat6)
Mr. Li Dong Beneficial owner 65,860,000 — 5.00%
FRESE EmlEAEA
Ms. Lei Ying Interest of spouse 71,183,950 — 5.40%
Byt Al B (note 7)
(K17E7)
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(b)  Share options (=) EBR#E

Name of shareholder Capacity/Nature of interest Number of Share options held

REREE B R ER BEzBEREHE

Mr. Lin Xue Xin Beneficial owner 4,992,682

MR E EmEAA

Mr. Li Dong Beneficial owner 5,323,950

TREAE EmEAA

Notes: K

1. Goldcorp Industrial Limited is a limited liability company incorporated 1. Goldcorp Industrial Limited&a— MR EBRE LA ST
in the British Virgin Islands equally owned by Mr. Hung Yung Lai and ik 2 AR EMERT - BARELE 54 RGreat Song
Great Song Enterprises Limited which in turn is wholly owned by Ms. Enterprises Limited A #8 (R f& 4 £ @ 5 A& - MGreat
Li Kei Ling. Song Enterprises Limited |l ZEHE T+ 2 & A -

2. The Shares were held by Goldcorp Industrial Limited. 2. ZHLA% 1 FAGoldcorp Industrial Limited3F A °

3. Ms. Li Kei Ling controls more than one third of the voting power of 3. FHB T HIGreat Song Enterprises Limited#)#%
Great Song Enterprises Limited which in turn holds more than one ZEBBR=H2— Ffﬁ?é%ﬁﬁGoldcorp Industrial
third of the voting power of Goldcorp Industrial Limited. Ms Li Kei LimtedtV R ERBEBB =22 — EREHFLHE
Ling is deemed, by virtue of the SFO, to be interested in the same &5 - i,ﬁ\% TR 1’15 % A Goldcorp Industrial
136,307,500 shares held by Goldcorp Industrial Limited. LimitedFT#%5 5 #136,307,500% f% 1) A9 FE R A 25 ©

4, Mr. Hung Yung Lai controls more than one third of the voting power 4. AR RS K A HF ﬁGoIdcorp Industrial Limitedy #& Z
of Goldcorp Industrial Limited. Mr. Hung Yung Lai is deemed, by virtue EBRB=p2z—- FEHFREEHRD - rREEE
of the SFO, to be interested in the same 136,307,500 shares held by i?&?ﬁfﬁ%ﬁGoldcorp Industrial LimitedFf # & &9
Goldcorp Industrial Limited. 136,307,500/% i 15 B A [Fl e 2= ©

5. These shares are beneficially owned by Goldcorp Industrial Limited 5. % % % 15 fGoldcorp Industrial Limited® 5 A& -
as mentioned in Note 4 of above. Mr. Hung Yung Lai is deemed to 12 E SO sE4FT IR - REBRAS ST A 4 AR 1E #E B Goldcorp
be interested in the same 136,307,500 shares held by Goldcorp Industrial Limited 574 #9136,307,500 8% i% 15 #9487
Industrial Limited. Mdm Iu Pun is the wife of Mr. Hung Yung Lai and is o W R T REREEENE T BIEFHFRB
deemed to be interested in these shares in which Mr. Hung Yung Lai EEA - BEEERRREEERERIEAEEZ
is deemed or taken to be interested for the purpose of the SFO. She ERMAERS R HA LS o B EXMiE4pTa - RIEFE
is also deemed to be interested in the 38,532,500 shares beneficially FREEGG - B EEERAERE L EREIERIR
owned by Mr. Hung Yung Lai as mentioned in Note 4 above for the A 38,532,500/K AR D RIME R R HE B RS ©
purpose of SFO.

6. Ms. Zhou Cuilian is the spouse of Mr. Lin Xue Xin. Accordingly, Ms. 6. AREZTAMREFEENRE - Bt - BREFSHR
Zhou Cuilian is deemed or taken to be interested in the 4,992,682 HEGRD - AREXTHRRIE ERNEE L LR
share options and the 118,560,000 shares in which Mr. Lin Xue Xin is #54,992,6821% & A% 1 K 118,560,000/% i% 17 ) 4 &=
interested in under the SFO. AR -

7. Ms. Lei Ying is the spouse of Mr. Li Dong. Accordingly, Ms. Lei Yingis 7. ﬁi?‘%?y\ﬁiﬁ’]@ﬂﬁ Et - REBE 5 M

deemed or taken to be interested in the 5,323,950 share options and
the 65,860,000 shares in which Mr. Li Dong is interested in under the
SFO.
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, the
directors or chief executives of the Company were not aware
of any other person (other than directors or chief executives
of the Company) who had an interest or short position in the
shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company
which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under
the provision of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO,
or who was interested in 5% or more of the nominal value
of any class of share capital carrying rights to vote in all
circumstances at general meeting of any other member of
the Group or any other substantial shareholders as recorded
in the register required to be kept by the Company under
Section 336 of the SFO.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITION IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2024, the interests or short positions
of the directors and chief executives of the Company in the
shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company
or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of
Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571
of Laws of Hong Kong (the “SFQ”)) which were notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions
7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short
positions which he/she is taken or deemed to have under
such provisions of the SFO); or which were required to be
entered into the register required to be kept by the Company,
pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or which were required,
pursuant to Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules, to
be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange, were as
follows:
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Directors’ interests in securities of the Company:
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EERNA QAR SHER

Percentage

of aggregate

Interest in interests to

Interests in underlying total issued

Long/ Capacity/ ordinary shares of Aggregate  share capital

Name of Directors Short Position Nature of interests shares  share options interests of the Company

RERE BELE

REBRF izl BERTRAAE

=g 7/ %8 g1t/ EEER g  ROTHER BER NEEZREIM

Mr. Hung Ying Long Position Beneficial owner 14,547,500 3,815,498 18,362,998 1.39%
RagE e ERBAA

Mr. Lin Xue Xin Long Position Beneficial owner 118,560,000 4,992,682 123,652,682 9.38%
R fFe ERBAA

Mr. Li Dong Long Position Beneficial owner 65,860,000 5,323,950 71,183,950 5.40%
FREHE fFe ERBEA

Mr. Zang Jingjing Long Position Beneficial owner 65,860,000 - 65,860,000 5.00%
BRELE e ERBEAA

Mr. Pao Ping Wing Long Position Beneficial owner - 307,606 307,606 0.02%

BRREE

2

BafEA

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, none of
the Directors and chief executives of the Company had any
interests or short positions in any shares, underlying shares
and debenture of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which
would have to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the
SFO (including interests or short positions which they were
taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO),
or which were recorded in the register required to be kept by
the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or which
were required, pursuant to Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM
Listing Rules, to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company’s share option scheme (the “Scheme”) was
adopted on 27 August 2001 for the primary purpose of
providing incentives to directors and eligible employees, and
has been expired on 27 August 2011. Under the Scheme,
the board of Directors of the Company may grant options to
eligible employees, including directors of the Company and
its subsidiaries, to subscribe for shares in the Company. The
Scheme would be valid and effective for a period of ten years
commencing on the adoption date and have come to its
expiration. All other respects of the provisions of the Scheme
shall remain in full force and holders of all options granted
under the Scheme prior to such expiry shall be entitled to
exercise the outstanding options pursuant to the terms of the
Scheme until expiry of the said options. As a result, a new
share option scheme which was approved on 28 February
2011 (the“New Scheme”), take effect immediately after
the expiry of the Scheme. The principal terms of the New
Scheme are same with the Scheme.

Pursuant to the ordinary resolution passed by the
shareholders at the special general meeting of the Company
held on 28 February 2011 (the “SGM”), the Scheme
mandate limit was refreshed so that the Company was
authorised to grant share options under the existing Scheme
for subscription of up to a total of 81,184,000 shares,
representing approximately 10% of the issued share capital
of the Company as at the date of the SGM.

Pursuant to the ordinary resolution passed by the
shareholders at the annual general meeting of the Company
held on 11 May 2016 (the “AGM”), the scheme mandate
limit under the share option scheme of the Company was
refreshed again so that the Company was authorised to
grant additional share options for subscription for a total
of 86,443,000 shares under the refreshed mandate limit,
representing approximately 10% of the issued share capital
of the Company as at the date of the AGM.

Pursuant to the ordinary resolution passed by the
shareholders at the annual general meeting of the Company
held on 11 May 2018 (the “AGM”), the scheme mandate
limit under the share option scheme of the Company was
refreshed again so that the Company was authorised to
grant additional share options for subscription for a total
of 61,032,000 shares under the refreshed mandate limit,
representing approximately 6.95% of the issued share capital
of the Company as at the date of the AGM.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

The total number of shares issued and to be issued upon
the exercise of options granted and to be granted to each
Participant (including both exercised and outstanding options)
in any 12 months period up to the date of grant must not
exceed 1% of the shares in issue at the date of grant.

The subscription shall be a price determined by the board
of directors at its absolute discretion and shall not be less
than the higher of the closing price of the share on the date
of grant of the option and the average closing price of the
shares for the five business days immediately preceding the
date of grant of the option.

Options granted shall be deemed to be accepted upon
receipt of the acceptance of offer letter from the grantee
within 28 days from the offer date, together with a remittance
in favour of the Company of HK$1 by way of consideration
for the grant.

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of
the Scheme at any time during a period notified by the board
to each grantee but may not be exercised after the expiry of
10 years from the date of grant.

On 9 October 2007 the Company granted 47,550,000
options to subscribe for shares in the Company under the
Scheme at an exercise price of HK$0.368 per share to its
employees of the Group. Shares of the Company were at
closing price of HK$0.36 immediately before the day on
which options were granted. Options granted on 9 October
2007 were expired during year 2017.

On 19 January 2010 the Company granted 20,900,000
options to subscribe for shares in the Company under
the Scheme at an exercise price of HK$0.20 per share to
its directors and employees of the Group. Shares of the
Company were at closing price of HK$0.20 immediately
before the day on which options were granted. Options
granted on 19 January 2010 were expired during year 2020.

On 16 August 2010 the Company granted 8,990,000 options
to subscribe for shares in the Company under the Scheme at
an exercise price of HK$0.84 per share to its employees of
the Group. Shares of the Company were at closing price of
HK$0.84 immediately before the day on which options were
granted. Options granted on 16 August 2010 were expired
during year 2020.
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On 10 January 2011, the Company granted 65,000,000
share options to subscribe for shares in the company under
the Share Option Scheme at an exercise price of HK$0.730
per share to Mr. Hung Yung Lai, Chairman of the Group.
Shares of the Company were at closing price of HK$0.730
immediately before the day on which options were granted.
The grant of share options to Mr. Hung Yung Lai and the
specific mandate to allot, issue and deal with the shares of
the Company upon conversion of the foregoing share options
were approved by the SGM held on 28 February 2011.
Options granted on 10 January 2011 were expired during
year 2021.

On 13 January 2011, the Company granted 19,260,000 share
options to subscribe for shares in the Company under the
Share Option Scheme at an exercise price of HK$0.714 per
share to its employees of the Group. Shares of the Company
were at closing price of HK$0.690 immediately before the day
on which options were granted. The grant of share options
to its employees of the Company and the specific mandate
to allot, issue and deal with the shares of the Company upon
conversion of the foregoing share options were approved by
the SGM held on 28 February 2011. Options granted on 13
January 2011 were expired during year 2021.

On 24 June 2013, the Company granted 59,780,000 share
options to subscribe for shares in the Company under the
Share Option Scheme at an exercise price of HK$0.1122 per
share to a Director and its employees of the Group. Shares of
the Company were at closing price of HK$0.101 immediately
before the day on which options were granted. Options
granted on 24 June 2013 were expired during current year.

On 15 May 2015, the Company granted 21,400,000 share
options to subscribe for shares in the Company under the
Share Option Scheme at an exercise price of HK$0.43 per
share to a Director and its employees of the Group. Shares of
the Company were at closing price of HK$0.43 immediately
before the day on which options were granted.

On 7 April 2017, the Company granted 86,440,000 share
options to subscribe for shares in the Company under the
Share Option Scheme at an exercise price of HK$0.182
per share to its directors, employees and consultants of
the Group. Shares of the Company were at closing price of
HK$0.182 immediately before the day on which options were
granted.
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The summary details of options granted are as follows:
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Number of

BREZEAEFBOT

EEWRES

Number of

share options Number of Number of Number of share options
Name of directors, outstanding share options share options share options  outstanding
continuous contract as at granted exercised lapsed as at
employees and Adjusted 1 January during during during 31 December
consultants Exercise period exercise price 2024 the year the year the year 2024
R-B-RE R-B-p%F
~A-8 t2A=t-8
BEpg. FEL K FRERA EREfME  FREAHA KT
BEANESRERS s ﬁﬁ% BREHE BREHA BREHA BREHE BREHA
HK
B
Hung Ying 156 May 2015 to 0.3635 2,247,890 - - - 2,247,890
2 14 May 2025
“Z-nFRAtRAE
“Z-IERATEA
Lin Xue Xin 15 May 2015 to 0.3635 3,549,300 - - - 3,549,300
e 14 May 2025
“Z-nFRAtRAZE
—EZRFRATEA
Li Dong 15 May 2015 to 0.3635 1,774,650 - - - 1,774,650
XS 14 May 2025
“Z-nFERA+tRAZ
ZECRERATEA
Continuous contract 15 May 2015 to 0.3635 6,861,980 - - (2,366,200) 4,495,780
employees (other than 14 May 2025
directors) “Z-hnERAt+HAZE
REANES (BER) - h¥RIATEA
Hung Ying 7 April 2017 to 0.1538 1,567,608 - - - 1,567,608
i 6 April 2027
ZZT-tFEMALREE
—E_tFEARA
Lin Xue Xin 7 April 2017 to 0.1538 1,443,382 - - - 1,443,382
e 6 April 2027
“TtFMNALAZE
ZZZ+EMARA
Pao Ping Wing 7 April 2017 to 0.1538 307,606 - - - 307,606
AGES 6 April 2027
“Z-EMALRZE
ZZZrEMARA
Lo King Man 7 April 2017 to 0.1538 307,606 - - (307,606) -
E5X 6 April 2027
“EtEMALAE
ZECEEMARA
FREE (RE) ROBRAF
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Number of

Number of

share options Number of Number of Number of share options
Name of directors, outstanding share options share options share options  outstanding
continuous contract as at granted exercised lapsed as at
employees and Adjusted 1 January during during during 31 December
consultants Exercise period exercise price 2024 the year the year the year 2024
R-B-RE R-B-RE
-A-H t=B=t+-A8
A FEE XTE  FRERE ERETE  FREAN TR
BESHERRER g ﬁﬁ% BREZE  BREZE  BREZE  BREZE  BREYS
HK
B
Li Dong 7 April 2017 to 0.1538 3,549,300 - - - 3,549,300
XS 6 April 2027
“TtFNALAZ
ZZZ+EMARA
Continuous contract 7 April 2017 to 0.1538 10,789,872 - - (1,680,002) 9,109,870
employees (other than 6 April 2027
directors) “T-rFEMALAEZE
SEANESR (BER) “E-HENARA
Consultants 7 April 2017 to 0.1538 32,422,855 - - - 32,422,855
) 6 Apri 2027
“EtENALAZE
ZZZrEMARA
64,822,049 - - 4,353,308 60,468,241

The exercise price for the options granted and number of
shares in respect of options granted were adjusted to reflect
the impact of the rights issue during the year ended 31

December 2019.
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES

Apart from as disclosed under the paragraph headed
“Directors’ and chief executives’ interest and short positions
in shares, underlying shares and debentures” below and
the share option scheme disclosures in note 26 to the
consolidated financial statements, at no time during the year
were rights to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition
of shares in the company granted to any director or their
respective spouse or children under 18 years of age, or were
any such rights exercised by them; or was the Company, or
the Company’s subsidiary or holding company or a subsidiary
of the Company’s holding company or a party to any
arrangement to enable the directors to acquire such rights in
any other body corporate.

MANAGEMENT SHAREHOLDERS

Save for the directors, management shareholders and
substantial shareholders as herein disclosed, the Directors are
not aware of any persons who as at 31 December 2024 were
entitled to exercise or control the exercise of 5% or more of
the voting power at general meetings of the Company and
who were able, as a practical matter, to direct or influence
the management of the Company.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES

During the year, neither the Company nor any of its
subsidiaries has purchased, sold or redeemed any of the
Company’s listed securities.

COMPETITION AND CONFLICT OF INTERESTS

None of the directors, management shareholders or
substantial shareholders of the Company or any of their
respective associates, as defined in the GEM Listing Rules,
has engaged in any business that competes or may compete,
either directly or indirectly, with the businesses of the Group
or has any other conflict of interests with the Group during
year ended 31 December 2024.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Details of the Company’s corporate governance practices are
set out in the “Corporate Governance Report” on page 42 to
page 78 of this annual report.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE
REPORT

In addition to the discussions on the Group’s environmental
policies and performance in the Business Review of this
annual report, the electronic version of the ESG report
are available on the website of the Stock Exchange
(www.hkexnews.hk) and the website of the Company
(www.singlee.com.cn).

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

As at the date of this report, based on information that is
publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge
of the Directors, the Directors confirm that the Company
maintained the amount of public float as required under the
GEM Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company during the year and up to the
date of this report were as follows:

Executive Directors

Lin Xue Xin (Chairman)
Hung Ying (Vice Chairman)
Zang Jingjing

Li Dong

Cai Jin

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Pao Ping Wing
Chan Tsang Mo
Chen Xinai (appointed on 28 March 2024)

Pursuant to Claus 87 of the Bye-Laws, Mr. Lin Xue Xin, Mr.
Zang Jinging and Mr. Pao Ping Wing shall retire from office
by rotation at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company. All of the above retiring Directors, being eligible,
will offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting of the Company.

The Company has received annual confirmations of
independence from Mr. Pao Ping Wing, Mr. Chan Tsang
Mo and Ms. Chen Xinai and as at the date of this report still
considers them to be independent.

SING LEE SOFTWARE (GROUP) LIMITED
Annual Report 2024 40

R HERERKRE

BRARAFREBRBERFBEALNEE ZIRBBER R
RIBZ I ETHIRE L@ RERHKER
FABE A2 BT 4804 (www.hkexnews.hk) &N QA &4
Ui (www.singlee.com.cn) E#&R] o

RAARFTRE
REARARAFAEENBNENRAES
o BEEWANARE B AR RMEIFGEM L™
HRAREZ RBFRE -

=

REARBERREDBH AL - NAFRMNESN
T

HITES

W23 (£/E)

R (BIE/%)
58 &R

FX

£

B HNTES
e
B
RHE (KR -F-ME=F=+/\AEEHE)

RIBARMMBEST IR - MBESE - BlAREM
MR EEARARBRERRBFAS LRE
RE- LA RTESFATEERLBERNA
RAEEEBRRBFARE LERET -

ARREEERMERE - BRIZREERRFE
LTRHHEREBYIM I FEER  YRARKE
KA E B RINEBL -



REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the directors who are proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract
with the Company which is not terminable within one year
without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the directors of the Company and the
senior management of the Group are set out on pages 21 to
25 of the annual report.

DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S AND FIVE
HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES EMOLUMENTS

Details of the emoluments of the directors and chief executive
of the Company and the five highest paid employees of the
Group are set out in notes 12 and 13 to the consolidated
financial statements, respectively.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS AND
CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN
CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in note 33 to the consolidated financial
statements, no contracts of significance in relation to the
Group’s business to which the Company was a party and in
which a director of the Company or a controlling shareholder
or any of its subsidiaries, had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at
any time during the year.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Details of the connected transactions are set out in note 33 to
the consolidated financial statements. During the year ended
31 December 2024, there were no connected transactions
or continuing connected transactions of the Company under
Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules which are required
to comply with any of the reporting, announcement or
independent shareholders’ approval requirements under the
GEM Listing Rules.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Articles provides that every Director is entitled to be
indemnified out of the assets of the Company against all
losses or liabilities (to the fullest extent permitted by the
Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong
Kong)) which he may sustain or incur in or about the
execution of the duties of his office or otherwise in relation
thereto.

The Group has taken out and maintained directors’ liability
insurance throughout the year, which provides appropriate
cover for legal actions brought against the Directors and
directors of the subsidiaries of the Group. The level of the
coverage is reviewed annually.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for the share option scheme of the Company as
disclosed in the section headed “Share Option Scheme”, no
equity-linked agreements were entered into by the Group, or
existed during the year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration
of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the
Company were entered into or existed during the year.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2024 were audited by Deloitte Touche
Tohmatsu who retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for
reappointment.

On behalf of the Board

Lin Xue Xin
Chairman

Hangzhou, the PRC, 27 March 2025
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company recognises the value and importance of
achieving high corporate governance standards to enhance
corporate performance, transparency and accountability,
earning the confidence of shareholders and the public.
The Board strives to adhere to the principles of corporate
governance and adopt sound corporate governance
practices to meet the legal and commercial standards by
focusing on areas such as internal control, fair disclosure and
accountability to all shareholders.

The Company has complied with all applicable code
provisions of the Corporate Governance Code (“CG Code”)
set out in Appendix C1 of the GEM Listing Rules in the year
ended 31 December 2024 except for the deviation from the
code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code and the minimum on
number requirements independent non-executive directors
as set out in Rule 5.05(1), 5.05A and 5.28 of the Gem Listing
Rules for the period from 1 January 2024 to 28 March 2024,
which is explained in the relevant paragraph of this Corporate
Governance Report.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the code of conduct regarding
directors’ securities transactions during the twelve months
ended 31 December 2024 as set out in GEM Listing Rules
5.48 to 5.67. The Company has made specific enquiry of
all the Directors and the Company was not aware of any
noncompliance with the required standard of dealings
regarding the securities transactions by Directors.

Specific employees who are likely to be possession of
unpublished price-sensitive information of the Group are also
subject to compliance with the same Code of Conduct. No
incident of non-compliance was noted by the Company for
the year ended 31 December 2024.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The board of directors of the Company comprises:

Executive Directors . Lin Xue Xin (Chairman)

: Hung Ying (Vice Chairman)

. Zang Jingjing
. Li Dong
: Cai Jin
Independent . Pao Ping Wing
Non-executive : Chan Tsang Mo
Directors : Chen Xinai (appointed on 28

March 2024)

The Board formulates overall strategy of the Group,
monitors its financial performance and maintains effective
oversight over the management. The board members are
fully committed to their roles and have acted in good faith to
maximise the shareholders’ value in the long run, and have
aligned the Group’s goals and directions with the prevailing
economic and market conditions. Daily operations and
administration are delegated to the management.

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of the
financial statements for each financial period which give
a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group at
each period end and of the results and cash flows for that
period. In preparing these financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2024, the Directors have selected
suitable accounting policies and applied them consistently;
made judgments and estimates that are prudent, fair and
reasonable and prepared the financial statements on a going
concern basis.
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The Company Secretary is responsible to the Board for
providing with Board papers and related materials, for
ensuring that all Board procedures and all applicable laws,
rules and regulations are followed, and for reporting to
the Chairman on governance matters. All directors have
unrestricted access to the advice and services of the
Company Secretary. The Company secretary keeps minutes
of all meetings which are available for inspection at any
reasonable time on reasonable notice by any Directors.
The Company Secretary also plays an essential role in the
relationship between the Company and its shareholders,
including assisting the Board in discharging its obligations to
shareholders pursuant to the Listing Rules.

The Company has arranged for Directors’ Liability Insurance
to indemnify its Directors against potential liabilities incurred
by them in discharging their duties. The increase coverage for
the Directors is reviewed on an annual basis. Throughout the
year, no claim had been made against the Directors of the
Company.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
(“INEDS”)

Independent non-executive directors were appointed for
a period of two years commencing from their employment
dates.

In accordance with rule 5.05A, 5.05 (1) and (2) of the GEM
Listing Rules, the Company is required to appointed three
independent non-executive directors representing more
than one-third of the Board and at least one of whom
has appropriate professional qualifications, or accounting
or related financial management expertise. However,
the Company do not fulfill the requirements to appoint 3
Independent Non-executive directors which is explained in the
relevant paragraph of this Corporate Governance Report. The
Company has received from each independent non-executive
director an annual confirmation of his independence, and
the Company considers such directors to be independent in
accordance with each and the various guidelines set out in
rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules.

With the various experience of both the executive directors
and the non-executive directors and the nature of the
Group’s business, the Board considered that the directors
have a balance of skills and experience for the business of
the Group.
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APPOINTMENTS, RE-ELECTION AND REMOVAL OF
DIRECTORS

Each of the Executive Directors and Independent Non-
Executive Directors of the Company has entered into a
service contract with the Company for a term of 2-3 years.
Such term is subject to his re-appointment by the Company
at an AGM upon retirement.

In accordance with the Company’s Bye-laws, any Director
appointed by the Board, (i) to fill a casual vacancy in the
Board, shall hold office only until the next following general
meeting of the Company and shall be subject to re-election
at such meeting and (ii) as an addition to the Board shall hold
office until the next AGM of the Company and shall then be
eligible for re-election. In additions, in accordance with the
Company’s Bye-laws, one third of the Directors are subject
to retirement by rotation and re-election by shareholders at
each annual general meeting of the Company.

TRAINING AND SUPPORT FOR DIRECTORS

Directors must keep abreast of their collective responsibilities.
Each newly appointed Director would receive an induction
package covering the Group’s businesses and the statutory
and regulatory obligations of a director of a listed company.
The Group also provides briefings and other training to
develop and refresh the Directors’ knowledge and skills.
The Group continuously updates Directors on the latest
developments regarding the Listing Rules and other
applicable regulatory requirements, to ensure compliance
and enhance their awareness of good corporate governance
practices. Circulars or guidance notes are issued to Directors
and senior management where appropriate, to ensure
awareness of best corporate governance practices.
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During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Directors WR-_ZE_PFE+-A=+—BFE  EH2HE}

participated in the following trainings: T -
Type of Trainings
IR
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Lin Xue Xin MEFT T4 AB
H-Z
Mr. Hung Ying RefBTHE AB
H-Z
Mr. Zang Jingjing JE BB AR ST A AB
H-Z
Mr. Li Dong TR A,B
H-Z
Ms. Cai Jin gETL AB
H-Z
Independent Non-Executive Directors BYFHTES
Mr. Pao Ping Wing RS E AB
H-Z
Mr. Chan Tsang Mo PR 184 20 AB
H-Z
Chen Xinai PR E
(appointed on 28 March 2024) (R—F-mE=H—+\HEZT) A,B
H-Z
A Study corporate governance issue relating to directors’ duties B MREREEREZCEEREFE
B: Reading newspaper, journals and updates relating to the economy, & : HEEBHLE —REABREFRESIRE - TIY
general business or directors’ duties etc. REFHER
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BOARD INDEPENDENCE

The Company recognises that Board independence is pivotal
in good corporate governance and Board effectiveness. The
Board has established mechanisms to ensure independent
views and input from any director of the Company are
conveyed to the Board for enhancing an objective and
effective decision making.

The governance framework and the following mechanisms are
reviewed annually by the Board to ensure their effectiveness:

1.

Two out of the seven directors are independent non-
executive directors, which less than the requirement
of the Listing Rules that at least one-third of the
Board and minimum 3 Directors are independent non-
executive Directors.

Following the resignation of Mr. Lo with effect from
31 December 2023, (i) the Board would thereafter
comprise only two independent non-executive
Directors; (i) the Board would thereafter comprise
less than one-third of the members are independent
non-executive directors; and (i) the Audit and Risk
Management Committee would thereafter comprise
only two members, no independent non-executive
Director has been newly appointed to fill up the
aforesaid vacancies from 1 January 2024 to 28 March
2024. Under such circumstances, the then number of
the independent non-executive Directors in the Board
and the number of the members in the audit and risk
management committee would fall below the minimum
number requirements as respectively set out in Rules
5.05 (1), 5.05A and 5.28 of the GEM Listing Rules.

Pursuant to Rule 5.06 of the GEM Listing Rules,
the Company shall appoint a sufficient number of
independent non-executive Directors to meet the
minimum number requirement as set out in Rule 5.05
(1) and 5.05A of the GEM Listing Rules within three
months after failing to meet such requirement, while
pursuant to Rule 5.33 of the GEM Listing Rules, the
Company shall appoint appropriate members to the
audit and risk management committee to meet the
minimum number requirement as set out in Rule 5.28
of the GEM Listing Rules within three months after
failing to meet such requirement.
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As at 28 March 2024, the Company have appointed
Ms. Chen Xinai as a suitable candidate to fill up the
vacancies so as to fulfill the requirements under the
GEM Listing Rules.

Apart from complying with the requirements prescribed
by the GEM Listing Rules as to the composition of
certain Board committees, independent non-executive
directors will be appointed to all Board committees
as far as possible to ensure independent views are
available.

The Nomination Committee will assess the
independence of a candidate who is nominated to
be a new independent non-executive director before
appointment and the continued independence of
the current long-serving independent non-executive
directors on an annual basis.

Each independent non-executive director is also
required to inform the Company as soon as
practicable if there is any change in his/her own
personal particulars that may materially affect his/her
independence.

All independent non-executive directors are required to
submit a written confirmation to the Company annually
to confirm the independence of each of them and their
immediate family members, and their compliance with
the requirements as set out in the rule 5.09 of the
GEM Listing Rules.

All directors are entitled to seek further information
and documentation from the management on the
matters to be discussed at board meetings. They
can also seek assistance from the Company’s
company secretary (the “Company Secretary”) and,
where necessary, independent advice from external
professional advisers at the Company’s expense.
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5. All directors are encouraged to express their views in
an open and candid manner during the Board/Board
Committees meetings.

6. A director (including independent non-executive
director) who has material interest in any contract,
transaction or arrangement shall abstain from voting
and not be counted in the quorum on any Board
resolution approving the same.

7. No equity-based remuneration with performance-
related elements will be granted to independent non-
executive directors.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Under the code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles
of chairman and chief executive should be separate and
should not be performed by the same individual. The
division of responsibilities between the chairman and chief
executive should be clearly established and set out in
writing. Subsequent to the resignation of Mr. Lin Xue Xin on
1 November 2022, no replacement of the post of the chief
executive officer has been fixed up to the date of this report.
The Board will keep reviewing the current structure from
time to time. If candidate with suitable knowledge, skills and
experience is identified, the Company will make appointment
to fill the post of chief executive officer as appropriate.

BOARD COMMITTEES & CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board has established three Board committees, namely,
the remuneration committee, the nomination committee
and the audit and risk management committees, for
overseeing particular aspects of the Company’s affairs.
All Board committees have been established with defined
written terms of reference, which are posted on the Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong (the “Stock Exchange”) website
at www.hkexnews.hk and the Company’s website at
www.singlee.com.cn. All the Board committees should report
to the Board on their decisions or recommendations made.

The practices, procedures and arrangements in conducting
meetings of Board committees follow in line with, so far as
practicable, those of the Board meetings.
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The Board is responsible for performing the corporate
governance duties set out in the Code which included
developing and reviewing the Company’s policies and
practices on corporate governance, training and continuous
professional development of Directors, and reviewing the
Company’s compliance with the code provision in the Code
and disclosures in this report.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The remuneration committee was established in November
2005. The chairman of the committee is Mr. Chan Tsang Mo,
and other members include Mr. Lin Xue Xin, Mr. Pao Ping
Wing and Ms. Chen Xinai. Ms. Chen Xinai was appointed
as a member of the remuneration committee on 28 March
2024. Details of the terms of reference of the remuneration
committee are set out on the Company’s website and the
website of the Stock Exchange.

The remuneration committee has been charged with the
responsibility of making recommendations to the Board
on appropriated policy and structures for all aspects of
all Directors and senior management remuneration. The
remuneration committee considers factors such as salaries
paid by comparable companies, time commitment and
responsibilities of the Directors, employment conditions
elsewhere in the Group and desirability of performance-based
remuneration.

During the Year, the remuneration committee has considered
and reviewed the remuneration packages and emoluments of
Directors and senior management and consider that are fair
and reasonable.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The nomination committee was established in March 2012.
The Company has established a nomination committee
chaired by the chairman of the board and other members
are independent non-executive directors. The chairman of
the committee is Mr. Lin Xue Xin and other members include
Mr. Pao Ping Wing, Mr. Chan Tsang Mo and Ms. Chen Xinai.
Ms. Chen Xinai was appointed as the member of nomination
committee of the Company on 28 March 2024. Details of
the terms of reference of the nomination committee are set
out on the Company’s website and the website of the Stock
Exchange.
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The duties of the nomination committee are mainly to review
the structure, size and composition of the Board and make
recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board
to complement the Company’s corporate strategy; identify
suitable candidates for appointment as directors; make
recommendations to the Board on appointment or re-
appointment of an succession planning for directors; assess
the independence of independent non-executive directors;
formulate and review the Board Diversity Policy and the
progress on achieving the objectives set for implementing the
policy.

During the Year, the nomination committee considered the
past performance, qualification, general market conditions
and the Company’s articles of association in selecting and
recommending candidates of directorship. The nomination
committee discussed and reviewed the retirement and re-
election of Directors. The nomination committee reviewed the
Board Diversity Policy.

AUDIT AND RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

The audit and risk management committee was established in
August 2001. The chairman of the audit and risk management
committee is Mr. Chan Tsang Mo and other members include
Mr. Pao Ping Wing and Ms. Chan Xinai. Ms. Chan Xinai was
appointed as the member of audit and risk management
committee of the Company on 28 March 2024. Details of
the terms of reference of the audit and risk management
committee are set out on the Company’s website and the
website of the Stock Exchange.

The primary duties of the audit and risk management
committee are mainly to review the financial information,
oversight of financial reporting system, risk management and
internal control systems, audit plan and arrangements to
enable employees of the Company to raise, in confidence,
concerns about possible improprieties in financial reporting,
internal control or other matters of the Company.
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Saved as disclosed in this report, the Company has complied
with Rules 5.28 of the GEM Listing Rules in that at least one
of the members of the audit and risk management committee
(must be chaired by an Independent non-executive director)
is an independent non-executive director who possesses
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting related
financial management expertise.

Review of financial results

During the Year, the audit and risk management committee
reviewed the 2024 Consolidated Financial Statements.
Based on this review and discussions with management,
the audit and risk management committee was satisfied that
the Consolidated Financial Statements were prepared in
accordance with applicable accounting standards and fairly
present the Group’s financial position and results for the year
ended 31 December 2024. The audit and risk management
committee therefore recommended the Consolidated
Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2024
be approved by the Board.

Review of risk management and internal control systems

During the Year, the audit and risk management committee
reviewed the effectiveness of the Group’s policies and
procedures regarding internal control systems (including
financial, operational, IT, risk management, information
security, legal, compliance and those controls designed to
detect material fraud) by reviewing the work of the Internal
audit department and regular reports from management
including those on risk management, regulatory compliance
and legal matters.

The audit and risk management committee reviewed
and concurred with the management’s confirmation that
for the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group’s risk
management and internal control systems were effective with
reference to the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations
of the Treadway Commission (COSOQO) Internal Control —
Integrated Framework (2013) principles. The management’s
confirmation was endorsed by the audit and risk management
committee and submitted to the Board.

53

TEERRE

BT ABECHKEN  ARFEETCGEMLETR
AlEs.28M5 HIEZLREREEZE® (XFA
REUFFNTER) ELABER - BARBEEZ
BEERAGT RV B ERER ZEIIFNT
B%-

FRMBRE

REFER BEELRABREEZESOEN_T
ZIFRNZRAMIERE - BEEBEERUKEES
BENT®  BExMEREELZESRERAN
BHREEEEANSTERE  TAT25E
EHZEZE T _NF+_A=+—HILFENT®
RS - Al - ERREABREEZESES
BEe A E T _NE+-_A=+—HIHF
ERERE IR -

BRERREERABEZERR

RAFER  BERMRAREEZESEBRIA
MERBNITIF  UREHEEEREREE
EEARIEREESTHRAENRS  BF
SEBRAMEERG (BREME - £5& B
fii - ERERE BARE AR AHREEER
RAEXRGEITRMRMEIRIE ) PIERA R
RMIEFHIRL ©

EkERERELZESEMUREZEREMEN
BR:REBE_ZT_MNF+_A=T—HIF
& - 28 Committee of SponsoringOrganizations
of the Treadway Commission (COSO)#yInternal
Control — Integrated Framework (2013) ({ AP
ERE—REER(ZTE—=F))) ORI &8
WERERERANSEERGBIEE - BERATIE
BHEREEEZLAEAREEZEERTRERTE
=g

FRBRMS (RE) ROBRAA
“EREER



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

TEERBRE

Review of accounting, financial reporting and internal
audit functions

During the Year, the audit and risk management committee
reviewed and was satisfied with the adequacy of the
resources, staff qualifications and experience, training
programmes and budget of the Group’s accounting, financial
reporting and internal audit functions.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Board has adopted a Board Diversity Policy which sets
out the approach to achieve a sustainable and balanced
development of the Company and to enhance the quality of
performance of the Company.

In designing the Board’s composition, a number of
perspectives which include professional experiences,
business perspectives, skills, knowledge, gender, age,
cultural and educational background, ethnicity and length
of service of the proposed candidates will be taken into
consideration. All Board appointments will be based on
meritocracy, and candidates will be considered against
objective criteria, having due regard for the benefits of
diversity on the Board.

The Nomination Committee will review the implementation
and effectiveness of the Board Diversity Policy and report to
the Board annually. The Nomination Committee will discuss
any revisions that may be required, and recommend any such
revisions to the Board for consideration and approval.
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As at the date of this annual report, the Board’s composition RAFERERL  EFenZubTE M

under diversified perspectives is summarised as follows: R T -
A Role of directors A EEAG
Executive Directors 5 WITES 5
Independent Non-Executive Directors 3 BURITES 3
[ Executive Directors
wiTE=
Independent Non-Executive Directors
B IEITEE
B Nationality B Bl 5
Hong Kong, China 3 FEES 3
China 5 & 5

@ Hong Kong, China
FEES
China
H

FRIBY (EE) REERAT
55 —E-NEER
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Cc Professional background (o] HEES
Business 1 Im
Engineering 3 T2
Human settlements planning and development 1 ANBEERERRFREIER
Accounting and auditing 1 i RERT
Computer science and technology 1 FTE MR BB R T
[ Business

I

Engineering

T2

[ Human settlements planning and development
ANBERERRREER

[0 Accounting and auditing
gt RES

Computer science and technology

SRR SR AT
D Age D Fir
21-39 1 21-39

41-59 6 41-59
60 or above 1 608k A

| 21-39

41-59

[ 60 or above
603k A =
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GENDER DIVERSITY

The Company believes the balance of gender in the Board
would bring more inspiration to the Board and enhance the
business development of the Group, thus gender diversity
is the essential factor for the Company to select suitable
candidate as a Director. The Board will take opportunity
to increase the proportion of female members over time
when selecting and making recommendation on suitable
candidates for Board appointments. The Board would ensure
that appropriate balance of gender diversity is achieved with
reference to stakeholders’ expectation and international and
local recommended best practices.

As at the date of this report, the Board comprises eight
directors, including 6 male and 2 female.

To achieve diversity at workforce level, the Group has put in
place appropriate recruitment and selection practices such
that a diverse range of candidates are considered. During the
year under review, the Board was not aware of any mitigating
factors or circumstances which make achieving gender
diversity across the workforce (including senior management)
more challenging or less relevant.

As at 31 December 2024, as set out in the section headed
“B1. Employment” in the “2024 Environmental, Social and
Government Report”, among the 418 employees (including
senior management) of the Group, the percentages of male
employees and female employees are 62.7% and 37.3%,
respectively. The Board considers that the Group’s workforce
(including senior management) are diverse in terms of gender.
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BOARD AND BOARD COMMITTEES MEETINGS

The individual attendance records of each director at &EEREHE—

§$6&§$§E§E

“OE+-A=1+—BIEFE

the meetings of the Board, Audit and Risk Management {HFZF< - %V&J—Uﬁﬁﬁfiiﬂ @ HMEE
Committee, Remuneration Committee, Nomination Committee & - IEZZE @ RRFAFERNe @ H 2 2EHN
and Annual General Meeting during the year ended 31 T%% :
December 2024 is set out in the following table:
Audit
and Risk Annual
Management Remuneration  Nomination General
Board Committee Committee Committee Meeting
ERRER
Directors Bz Exg EREEE FMzEEE REZEE REEFAE
Number of meetings held BRETRE 4 2 3 3 1
Number of meetings attended/ &ZEFERE /€5
Number of meetings held BITRY
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Hung Ying BBEE 4/4 - - - 1/1
Mr. Lin Xue Xin (chairman of W& %4 (EFLS
the Board, the chairman of IR EFSES
nomination committee of the ~ ZE&TE/E -
Board, a member of auditand ~ REREEZE @
risk management committee k8 REES
of the Board and a member ZEeHA
of remuneration committee of
the Board 4/4 - 3/3 3/3 11
Zang Jingjing 5 4/4 - - - 11
Li Dong RS 4/4 - - - 1/1
Cai Jin B3z 4/4 - - - 1/1
Independent non-executive BUFHTES
directors
Mr. Pao Ping Wing ARELE 4/4 2/2 3/3 3/3 11
Mr. Chan Tsang Mo BRIEE 4/4 2/2 - - 7
Chen Xinai (appointed on 28 FR#HE (R
March 2024) —E-MFE=A
ZTNNAEZEE) 3/3 11 1 1/1 -
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

The remuneration for the audit services provided by the
independent auditor to the Group during the year ended 31
December 2024 was approximately as follows:

TEERRE
B IS

BB RMMNEE—F - mF+= A=+ A
12 IR A 2 AR 0 BRI 2 BB
#HI0T

2024 2023

—E_E —E-=HF

RMB’000 RMB’000

Type of services BR3B! AR¥ TR ARBTIT
Audit services ZE R 900 1,033

DIRECTORS’ AND INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S
RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of the
financial statements which give a true and fair view of the
financial position of the company and its subsidiaries, in
accordance with accounting principle generally accepted in
Hong Kong. The Directors’ responsibilities in the preparation
of the financial statements and the auditor’'s responsibilities
are set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report in this annual
report.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Board has the overall responsibility for evaluating and
determining the nature and extent of the risks (including
ESG-related risks) it is willing to take in achieving the Group’s
strategic objectives, maintaining sound and effective risk
management and internal control systems (including those
for ESG-related risks) and reviewing their effectiveness to
safeguard Shareholders’ investment and the Group’s assets.
To this end, management continues to allocate resources for
internal control and risk management systems compatible
with the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission (COSO) Internal Control — Integrated
Framework 2013 principles to provide reasonable, though
not absolute, assurance against material misstatement or
loss and to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to
achieve business objectives.
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Risk Management E R EE

At the Group, risk is defined as a potential action, event ZANEEEFG[E [ F 3 A ] AR BER B B EZE
or circumstance that could impact the Company’s ability, 4 & F|skETF

favorably or unfavorably, to meet its strategic goals. 3 o

Risk is inherent in the Group’s business and the markets ZANEEMEKMTBEFERER - RFAHDEEZER
in which it operates. The aim is to identify risks and then E#BIMERELEE @ Ml AZE - BFIK
manage them so that they can be understood, reduced, #F# - BRERBELER - At HMHEEZR
mitigated, transferred or avoided. This demands a proactive HEGHEKRER T TEBMEEERNAE
approach to risk management and an effective group-wide  EE[GEIELE -

risk management framework.

Risk governance structure EREEEE

The Group’s risk governance structure is based on a “Three 2 5 B #) & & & 58 42
Lines of Defence” model, with oversight and directions from = HEEEMEZLEKREELZE 2B EER

the Board and Audit and Risk Management Committee. REIERR -

The Board EE=

Audit and Risk Management Committee B F R EEZES

The Management 12 &

1st Line of Defense 2nd Line of I?efense
E—ER FE B

Operational Management Risk Management Internal Audit
and Internal Controls Functions
SETERAIEE [ERs E TR AE AEBEET

(Risk Ownership) (Risk Control) (Risk Assurance)
€z ) (€209 (FER R bR)
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AN "IN
TEERBRE
Roles Functions At Biat
The Board o Has overall responsibility for the risk EEa o HEREERARBEZZSE
management and internal control systems. BERf-

o Oversees the actions of the Management . %g”éfﬁﬁﬁ&&gﬁwﬁ%‘
and monitors the overall effectiveness of BEANPEZFRENEEER
the risk management system and internal 1 o
control function.

o Oversees and reviews processes and o EELELSERLLZERRE
controls for strategic and operational risk FREHERE NRBBER
and monitors the effectiveness of the LEBREEZEQRERRE
established controls through the Audit and EHIE R AR -

Risk Management Committee.
Audit and Risk  Supports the Board in monitoring the B LERERE o BBEZCEREREERS
Management performance of the risk management ZE® MERREZEERIABES
Committee system and key risks and internal control R o

systems.

e Reviews the effectiveness of the
Company’s internal audit function.

* Reviews risks raised during annual risk
registration exercise, and other risks and
concerns.

e Approves Company’s risk tolerance.

e FEvaluate and determine the nature and
extent of the risks the Board is ready to
endorse for the Group to take in pursuing
the delivery of the Group’s strategic
objectives.

e Ensure that an appropriate and effective
risk management and internal control
systems is established and maintained by
the Group.

e QOversee the Management in the design,
implementation and monitoring of the risk
management and internal control systems.

e QOversee the Management in their risk
mitigation efforts.

o EEHEFEARBTHRETR
A9 & TR B DA I E A ) LB
REIRE -

o HEARFMRBXEBKF o

o HESCEEMELERAE
BREEEMAENER &
TiERETEBRBNEE
GIEEIER

o BRAGEERLNAR—(E
RENBUNEAREERAR
DIL%I/%"

. EEEEEHEREREANLD
EZZENSET ERLER
HEMIE-

o EEREEERRSZIEN

o

H
=
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AN\ A 5550
TRERRE
Roles Functions At Bae
Internal Audit * Independent investigations regarding mEbE% o RETHMFTARRERARE

certain allegations of fraud and violations
of the Group’s Code of Conduct and other
company policies.

e (Carries out the analysis and independent
appraisal of the adequacy and effectiveness

ABEE R M AARFE
BTHE -

o HAKEMEAREERARE
BRERRLRANBREL D

balance of risk and return.

e Designs, implements and reviews the
Group’s risk management and internal
control systems.

e Communicate and assess the Group’s risk
profile and material risks at the Group level.

e Track progress of mitigation plans of
material risks and report on detailed
examinations of specific risks as required.

e Qversee business units as well as group
risk and the control activities relevant to
respective functions.

e Ensure that a review of the effectiveness of
the risk management and internal control
systems has been conducted at least
annually and provide such confirmation
to the Board through the Audit and Risk
Management Committee.

of the Group’s risk management and M RSB -
internal control systems.
The Management * Provide leadership and guidance for the EEE o ShEMEER . HEIG TR

HEGRoIE -

o Rit ERRBZAKEAR
REZRABEZRS -

o BAKEMABRKAMEXR
RAETRBRE

o BRUETEARBRATETEN
EE TERFEERBERR
MEFAREER

o EEXBEML SEAR U
RERBREHPIRECEEE
@JD

o BRESBFERHN-RERE
BRABEZZROKY - I
ERENNERERZEEM
EZEEHARRER -

The Management, which co-ordinates enterprise risk
management activities and reviews significant aspects of risk
management for the Group, reports to the Audit and Risk
Management Committee at each regularly scheduled meeting,
including amongst other things, significant risks of the Group
and the appropriate mitigation and/or transfer of identified
risks. The operating units of the Group, as risk owners,
identify, evaluate, mitigate and monitor their own risks, and
report such risk management activities to the Management
on a regularly basis. The Management assesses and presents
regular reports to Audit and Risk Management Committee at
each regularly scheduled meeting.
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The Management and employees have evaluated control
environment and conducted risk assessments of businesses
and processes, both at the entity level and the various
processes/transactions levels. We have documented those
processes which are critical to the Group’s performance.
Within this exercise, key risks have been identified, along
with the controls required to mitigate those risks, after which,
such key risks and controls are continually reviewed and
updated on an annual basis. High-risk key controls are tested
annually by our management and internal audit. Based on the
results of those tests, process owners are able to represent
to Senior Management that their internal controls are working
as intended or that necessary corrections have been made
where control weaknesses have been found. Internal auditors
report to Audit and Risk Management Committee that
controls have been working properly or have been modified
as required.

In addition to the review of risk management and internal
controls undertaken within the Group, the external auditor
also assessed the adequacy and effectiveness of certain
key risk management and internal controls as part of their
statutory audits. Where appropriate, the external auditor’s
recommendations are adopted and enhancements to the risk
management and internal controls will be made.

The Group’s risk management objectives:

° At a strategic level, the Group focuses on the
identification and management of material risks at
the Group, business and functional levels, in order to
better equip itself to pursue the Group’s strategic and
business objectives.

° At an operational level, the Group aims to identify,
assess, evaluate and mitigate operational hazards and
risks in order to create a safe, healthy, efficient and
environmentally-friendly workplace for its employees
whilst ensuring products and services provided safety
and health, minimising environmental impact, and
securing asset integrity.
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The Group’s risk appetite and risk profiling criteria

The Group’s risk appetite represents the amount of risk
the Group is willing to undertake in pursuit of its strategic
and business objectives. In line with expectations of its
stakeholders, the Group will only take reasonable risks that
(a) fit its strategy and capability, (b) can be understood and
managed, and (c) do not expose the Group to:

° material financial loss;

° incidents affecting safety and health of employees;
° material breach of regulations;

° damage of the Group’s reputation and brand name;
° business/supply interruption; and

° severe environmental incidents.

Based on the above, the Group has established its risk
monitoring in the form of a risk assessment matrix to help
rank risks and prioritise risk management efforts at the Group
level. Business units are required to adopt the same risk
matrix structure in order to establish their own risk profiling,
determine consequence and likelihood of identified risks with
reference to their own materiality and circumstances as well
as establishing risk mitigation strategies.
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TEERRE
Inherent risk assessment matrix BB R IEIERE
Likelihood Rating
BAETREMER
1. Highly 2. Not 4. Strong
Impact Rating unlikely expected 3. Sometimes possibility 5. Very likely
BRER =5 AT RE Tl B WA T g #UBE
5. Critical Moderate High High Very high Very high
FRIZ R SE G Sy e ER Em R
4. Major Moderate Moderate High High Very high
EVN o AR = SEM e mR
3. Moderate Moderate Moderate High High
FE & o @ o @ B B
2. 'V_””OV Low Low Moderate Moderate
B 5 RS (KR R o LR
1. Insignifioant Low Low Low Low Low
E EREB KRB (KRR EREB KRB
Risk management process EBREEERF

The following diagram illustrates the key processes used TNEZAREERERZRA  FAZEREEREEE
by the Group to identify, evaluate and manage the Group’s ABEBRHEZBIE :
significant risks:

The management establishes common risk language and risk assessment criteria for the
Group.

Business units identify the risks which may potentially impact the achievement of their
business objectives, and analyze and evaluate the significance of such risk.

Risk assessment
0

Business units assess the adequacy of existing controls, determine and implement
treatment plans where risk mitigants are actionable.

Business units monitor risk mitigating activities.

The management tracks the progress of risk mitigating activities; reports the consolidated
view of risks regularly to audit and risk management committee; and shares risk knowledge
across business units to enhance the risk management standard of the Group. Group
internal audit reports regularly to the Board and/or audit and risk management committee
to provide independent assurance on the effectiveness of risk management function.

Risk evaluation
BB FTAX

4 Monitoring and review E5Z2 K it
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o Is integrated into business and decision-making

processes including strategy formulation, business
planning, capital allocation, investment decisions,
internal control and day-to-day operations management.

° Involves establishing the context, identifying risks,
assessing their consequences and likelihood, evaluating
risk level, control gaps and priorities, and developing
control and mitigation plans. This is a continuous
process with periodic monitoring and review in place.
It is also an interactive process with stakeholder
communication and consultation.

° The Group adopts an integrated bottom-up and top-
down risk review process to enable (a) comprehensive
identification and prioritisation of all material risks
throughout the Group, (b) escalation of material risks
at the right managerial level, (c) effective risk dialogue
among the management team, and (d) proper oversight
of risk mitigation efforts.

Bottom-up process:

° Business units and group functions are required to
submit their material risks identified through their risk
management process to the management.

° The management, through aggregation, filtering and
prioritising processes as well as consultation process,
compile a Group Risk Management Report. The senior
management reviews and scrutinises the material risks
and ensures the appropriate controls and mitigation
measures are in place or in progress.

° Following review by the senior management, Group Risk
Management Report is submitted to the audit and risk
management committee with a summary of the material
risks circulated to the Board.
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Top-down process:

Emerging risks and/or overarching strategic risks,
which might have a material impact on the Group over
a longer timeframe, are monitored and discussed on a
regular basis by the management.

The management facilitates ongoing emerging risk
review and management discussion by compiling
relevant information from both internal and external
sources. Overarching strategic risks are reviewed and
discussed during the annual business planning process.
Emerging risks that are identified and considered
material are further assessed and monitored by relevant
business units or group functions.

Internal control is an integral part of enterprise risk
management. The Group’s enterprise risk management
framework encompasses internal control, forming
a more robust conceptualization and tool for
management. Risk management is closely linked to the
Group’s Integrated Framework of Internal Control, key
controls are subject to testing in order to assess their
effectiveness.

In the annual business planning process, business units
are required to identify all material risks that may impact
their achievement of business objectives. Identified risks
are evaluated based on the same set of risk profiling
criteria as the risk review process. Plans to mitigate the
identified risks are developed for implementation and
budget purposes.

67

TERERBRE

T R
R R BT AL R M
B A R S A 5 B

a0 o
ZoN

BEENBRRASNERER - HBEER
ERHERA M wma AR - BAMRAR
BRAEFEEBRIBETETR LR
%&E&%U&ﬁﬁiﬁﬁ’]%ﬁiﬂ B R ARBE TS

Bl GEBREHMPIE - T ERER -

W%Wﬁaﬁiﬂﬁ§@¢$ﬂﬁﬂm%
me AEERREERBERE T NIPEE -
wHmEET —EERBENNBSMNERT
B o AEBBHRKE RIS NP EEEeE
BiEEH - T EMETE mﬂﬁ@ﬂﬁu&
AR o

EEFNERBREBED  EBELVAER

RIS EEREXG BRI ESBRTEN
BEARAR - ARRE AR RS IEF AR

R EERETTRS - HERIFTATEBRE
REREEtE - AEFRIEEERNHEET

FRBRMS (RE) ROBRAA
“EREER



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

TEERBRE

Internal Controls

The Board acknowledges its responsibility to oversee the
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control systems. This
is achieved through a defined management structure with
specified limits of authority and defined control responsibility

designed to:

° Achieve business objectives and safeguard assets
against unauthorised use or disposition;

° Ensure maintenance of proper accounting records for
the provision of reliable financial information for internal
use or for publication; and

° Ensure compliance with the relevant legislation and

regulations.

Internal control framework

The Company has in place an integrated framework of
internal controls which continues to be consistent with
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway

Commission (COSQO) Internal Control —

Integrated Framework

(2013) which comprises 17 principles on effective internal
controls as illustrated below:

PR B 12

EEeMAEEAREEAEENIEZE RGN
B MR EEMAEERER Lﬂﬂﬁﬂﬁl

EEEMASEFETHNEERBERN

T

o EREBABERDILEEWRERESAL
BE

o MREZBHWREFEERE - AAFAGIE

ShA %?ﬂ,\TsEE’JﬂM‘%’é*ﬂr P R

o WRETHEBENIER o
BB B 1R RE SR
% # 77 BACommittee of Sponsoring

Organizations of the Treadway Commission
(COSO)HWInternal Control - Integrated
Framework (2013) ({ASPESIE— 4R A1ELRE (=
—=%))) RERNGFEA N EERE - BHE
RERA 7R ZHA R AREIE R A -

philosophy, risk
appetite, integrity,
and ethical values.

The management establishes, with board
oversight, structures, reporting lines, and
appropriate authorities and responsibilities
in the pursuit of objectives

Demonstrates a commitment to attract,
develop, and retain competent individuals
in alignment with objectives

Holds individuals accountable for their
internal control responsibilities in the pursuit
of objectives
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5 Components 17 Principles 5KEZR 17ERA
Risk assessment: o Specifies objectives with sufficient clarity to [ A o WEBMAEN  UBIHHER
enable the identification and assessment of HEERA A E R
Risks are identified fisks relating to objectives PR RAEE
and the likely HERNTE -
impact on the o |dentifies risks to the achievement of its o BARSWEBRERAMNAN
organization is objectives across the entity and analyses BEZOER  TAREAES
assessed. fisks as a basis for determining how the MBI A L e AR
risks should be managed
o Considers the potential for fraud in o ENMENAEMNERMNAER
assessing risks to the achievement of B ZREBENERTA
objectives
* |dentifies and assesses changes that could o HRIRFEEANBEZEREA
significantly impact the system of internal EENENTENNE
control
Control activities: e Selects and develops control activities that BEEE o EERBIFTESREE HEK
contribute to the mitigation of risks to the BRZEBRREEAEZK
Policies and achievement of objectives to acceptable EiEHERER ¥
procedures are levels BRERET
Implemented BEE TR
to ensure o Selects and develops general control KERES - o ERIREERERGIE KM
organizational activities over technology to support the EERE TEREENGEA
objectives and risk- achievement of objectives #)
mitigation activities
are effectively * Deploys control activities through policies o FBHIFTERAROHE AL
executed. that establish what is expected and FURR BREEGFUDE
procedures that put policies into action BT REARBENEE
Information and e Obtains or generates and uses relevant, EERER o WG UHRAERE
Communication: quality information to support the EREH  ZHNHEESY
functioning of internal control £
Relevant information PARA AR R E
is communicated o Internally communicates information, EREER o REERDEEIHNHED
in an acceptable including objectives and responsibilities for LMBEK B BEMERNEN  BEAHE
format and timely internal control, necessary to support the 2o EMBEMANER

fashion to enable
the organization to

meet its objectives.

functioning of internal control

Communicates with external parties
regarding matters affecting the functioning
of internal control
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5 Components 17 Principles S5REZ 1778 R 8l

Monitoring: e Selects, develops, and performs ongoing IR o ZE HHIFTHSEL/ T

and/or separate evaluations to ascertain

The internal whether the components of internal control
control process are present and functioning
is continually
monitored. e Evaluates and communicates internal

Modifications are
made to improve
internal control
activities as a result
of the monitoring
Process.

control deficiencies in a timely manner
to those parties responsible for taking
corrective action, including senior
management and the board of directors, as
appropriate

BUMFE  BEABEEN
R ER RS RERAFELEFLER

iz o R

Zibizag

fEHEL - | o ERFEAPEENRE L
HEABEE EEBEAR R LREED
GEIR HEAL BRESEEEAR

MEFE (WEA) FHER

Within this comprehensive internal control framework,
management is responsible for setting the appropriate tone
from the top, performing risk assessments, and owning the
design, implementation and maintenance of internal controls.
Other teams such as Finance, Legal, and Human Resources
provide assistance and expertise to management to assist
it in undertaking its responsibilities. The Board and its audit
and risk management committee oversee the actions of
management and monitor the effectiveness of the established
controls, assisted by assurance provided by the internal
auditors.

Control standards, checks and balances

Built into the Group’s system are checks and balances.
In addition, as an integral part of our internal control
systems, well defined policies and procedures are properly
documented and communicated. The corporate policies
form the basis of all the Group’s major guidelines and
procedures and set forth the control standards required for
the functioning of the Group’s business entities. The policies
address legal, regulatory, and operational topics, including,
for example, intellectual property, data privacy, employee
health and safety, delegation of authority, information
security, and business continuity.

Our internal control systems are based on clear stewardship
responsibilities, authorities and accountability and the
systems cover every activity and transaction of our Group.
We emphasise to our employees that everyone, no matter
where he or she stands in the corporate hierarchy, is an
important part of our internal control systems and we expect
them to contribute to that system.
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Additionally, the Group has a strong corporate culture based
on good business ethics and accountability. The Code of
Conduct, which applies to all employees, forms the basis
of the Group’s commitment to conducting all business with
uncompromising integrity and ethical behavior. The Code
also helps employees determine when to ask for advice, and
how to obtain it. All employees are required to comply with
the Code. The Group regards any violation of the Code as a
serious matter and is committed to investigating all reported
concerns. Furthermore, in keeping with best practices, the
Group has developed and implemented an Anti-Corruption
Policy which reinforces the Code and provides additional
specific guidance regarding compliance with rules and laws
related to corruption. In addition to setting out guidelines,
principles and values, we recognise that an environment
where employees feel free to bring problems to management
is also necessary to make our internal control systems
effective. Our Whistleblowing Policy makes it clear that all
reports to management will be handled confidentially to the
fullest extent possible under the circumstances. For further
details of the Group’s (i) policy and measures that promote
and support anti-corruption laws and regulations; and (i) anti-
corruption and whistleblowing policy and/or measures, please
refer to the section headed “B7. Anti-corruption” of the “2024
Environmental, Social and Government Report”.

This comprehensive internal controls framework established
by the Group covers all activities and transactions.
Management performs periodic enterprise wide risk
assessments and continuously monitors and reports progress
of action plans to address these key risks. Management
also assesses business risks when formulating corporate
strategies, and tracks and reports on the implementation of
strategic initiatives, business plans, budgets and financial
results regularly to the Board.

To assist the audit and risk management committee in its
oversight and monitoring activities, the Group maintains
an independent internal audit function. Internal audit
department, with its function independent of the Group’s
business operations, plays an important role in monitoring the
Group’s internal governance. Internal audit provides objective
assurance to the audit and risk management committee that
the system of internal controls is effective and operating as
intended.
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Key control procedures

(1)

(i)

(i)

Establishing a structure with defined authority and
proper segregation of duties

A clear organisational structure with defined
lines of responsibility to facilitate systematic
delegation of authority.

Written policies, procedures and guidelines with
defined limits of delegated authority to facilitate
effective segregation of duties and controls.

Monitoring the strategic plan and performance

Business units carry out their respective
business operating plans as laid down in the
strategic plan in accordance with the adopted
policies and procedures.

An annual budget with financial targets provides
the foundation for the allocation of resources
in accordance with prioritised business
opportunities.

Variance analyses help identify deficiencies and
enables timely remedial actions to be taken.

Designing an effective accounting and information
system

A comprehensive accounting system for
providing financial and operational performance
indicators to facilitate problem identification,
and to ensure complete, relevant and accurate
financial information for timely reporting and
disclosure purpose.

An information system for identifying, capturing
and communicating pertinent information
to enable employees to carry out their
responsibilities.

Regular reviews for ensuring proper and
legitimate dissemination of financial information.
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(iv)

(v)

(vi)
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Handling and dissemination of inside information

- The Group regularly review inside
information’s policy and procedures and make
recommendations on a amendments there to, if
necessary, in order to ensure their effectiveness
in making accurate, balanced and timely
disclosure of information in accordance with
disclosure obligations in the changing regulatory
environment.

Encouraging reporting on serious concern about
malpractice

- The Group operates a Whistleblowing Policy
which enables employees to raise concerns
about any malpractice, impropriety or fraud
relating to internal controls and other matters
confidentially, without fear of reprisal or
victimization.

- Under the Group Whistleblowing Policy,
audit and risk management committee are
responsible for reviewing the effectiveness of
the actions taken in response to disclosures
made under the policy by employees.

- Other stakeholders, such as customers and
suppliers, can also raise concerns about any
improprieties or potential improprieties of the
Group.

Ensuring controls and reviews of IT application
systems as well as principal operations

- Various controls and independent reviews
are in place to uphold the integrity, reliability,
availability, security and stability of the Group’s
IT application systems.
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Handling and Dissemination of Inside Information

Regarding the disclosure of inside information and internal
control measures, the Company understands its duties under
the Listing Rules and SFO, and adheres to the important
principle of timely publication of the inside information.
The Company abides by the “Guide on disclosure of
inside information” published by the Securities and Futures
Commission, and has developed a complete system of
internal procedures and internal control measures for
processing and publication of information in order to ensure
the timely, accurate and appropriate disclosure of relevant
information to the shareholders and regulatory authorities.

The Group takes all reasonable measures from time to time
to ensure that proper safeguards exist to prevent a breach
of a disclosure requirement. In this respect, the Management
ensures that appropriate systems and procedures are put
in place and reviewed periodically to enable the Group to
comply with the disclosure requirements. The management
also regularly oversees the proper implementation and
functioning of the mechanisms and ensures that any material
deficiencies are detected and resolved in a timely manner.

Measures include but are not limited to the following:

(a) Establish controls for monitoring business and
corporate developments and events so that any
potential inside information is promptly identified and
escalated.

(b) Restrict access to inside information to a limited
number of employees on a need-to-know basis.
Ensure employees who are in possession of inside
information are fully conversant with their obligations
to preserve confidentiality.

(c) Ensure appropriate confidentiality agreements are
in place when the Group enters into significant
negotiations.

(d) Develop procedures for responding to market rumours,
leaks and inadvertent disclosures.
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(e) Provide regular training to relevant employees to
help them understand the Company’ policies and
procedures as well as their relevant disclosure duties
and obligations.

U] Disseminate inside information via the electronic
publication system operated by the Stock Exchange
before the information is released via other channels,
such as the press, wire services or posting on the
Company’s website.

Effectiveness of Risk Management and Internal Control
Systems

In respect of the year ended 31 December 2024, the
adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s risk management
and internal control systems have been reviewed annually.

During 2024, the effectiveness of the systems of risk
management and internal controls of the Group over
financial, operational and compliance controls with emphasis
on business continuity management and procurement has
been reviewed. Additionally, the heads of major business
and corporate functions were required to undertake control
self-assessments of their key controls. These results were
assessed by the senior management and reported to the
audit and risk management committee, which then reviewed
and reported the same to the Board.

The audit and risk management committee and the Board
were not aware of any areas of concern that would have a
material impact on the Group’s financial position or results of
operations and considered the risk management and internal
control systems to be generally effective and adequate
including the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and
experience, training programs and budget of the accounting,
internal audit and financial reporting functions.
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TEERBRE

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company has adopted Shareholders Communication
Policy, which enables the Company to carry out effective
two-way communication with its investors and shareholders,
with objective of ensuing that the Shareholders and investors
are provided with ready, equal and timely access to balanced
and understandable information about the Company.

The Company has established a number of channels to
communicate with the Shareholders as follows:

(i) corporate communications such as annual reports,
quarterly reports, interim reports, ESG report and
circulars are issued in printed form or in electronic
means and are available on Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong (the “Stock Exchange”) website at
www.hkexnews.hk and the Company’s website at
www.singlee.com.cn;

(if) periodic announcements are made through the Stock
Exchange and published on the respective websites of
the Stock Exchange and the Company;

(i) corporate information is made available on the
Company’s website;

(iv) annual and special general meetings provide a forum
for the shareholders to make comments and exchange
views with the Directors and senior management;

(v) the Hong Kong share registrar of the Company serves
the Shareholders in respect of share registration,
dividend payment and related matters; and

(Vi) whistleblowing mechanism enable shareholders to
raise concerns, in confidence and anonymity, about
possible improprieties in any matter related to the
Group.

The Company keeps on promoting investor relations and
enhancing communication with the existing shareholders and
potential investors. It welcomes suggestions from investors,
stakeholders and the public enquiries to the Board or the
Company may be sent by post to the Company’s principal
place of business in Hong Kong.
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The Board has reviewed the implementation and effectiveness
of the Shareholders’ Communication Policy including steps
taken at the general meetings, the handling of queries
received (if any) and the multiple channels of communication
and engagement in place, and considered that the
Shareholders’ Communication Policy has been properly
implemented during the year under review and is effective.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, there is no
significant change in the Company’s memorandum and
articles of association.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHT

As one of the measures to safeguard shareholder’s
interest and rights, separate resolutions are proposed at
shareholders’ meetings on each substantial issue, including
the election of individual directors, for shareholders’
consideration voting. All resolutions put forward at
shareholders’ meeting will be voted by poll pursuant to the
GEM Listing Rules and the poll voting results will be posted
on the Stock Exchange website and the Company’s website
after the relevant shareholders’ meeting.

Extraordinary general meeting may be convened by the
Board on requisition of shareholders holding not less than
one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company or by such
shareholders who made the requisition (the “Requisitionists”)
(as the case may be) pursuant to Article 58 of the Bye-
laws. Such requisition must state the object of business to
be transacted at the meeting and must be signed by the
Requisitionists and deposited at the registered office of the
Company or the Company’s principal place of business in
Hong Kong. Shareholders should follow the requirements
and procedures as set out in such Article for convening an
extraordinary general meeting. Shareholders may put forward
proposals at general meeting of the Company by sending the
same to the Company at the principal office of the Company
in Hong Kong.

For putting forward any enquiries to the Board, shareholders
may send written enquiries to the Company. Shareholders
may send their enquiries or requests in respect of their rights
to the Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted the dividend policy which has set
out the standard rules and guidelines to be followed by the
Board in considering whether to recommend dividend. The
policy sets out the consideration factors for recommendation
and declaration of dividend payment, such as the Group’s
business and financial performance, working capital
requirements, capital expenditure and future development
plans, retained earnings and distributable reserves of the
Group and other factors that the Board deems relevant. The
payment of the dividend is also subject to shareholders’
approval and compliance with applicable laws and regulations
including the laws of Bermuda and the Bye-Laws of the
Company.

The dividend policy does not constitute a binding
commitment by the Company on its future dividend and shall
not obligate the Company to declare dividend at any time or
from time to time, but only represents a general rules and
reference purpose regarding the dividend policy. The Board
will review the policy and reserve the right to amend the said
policy from time to time.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

Deloitte

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF SING LEE SOFTWARE
(GROUP) LIMITED
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Sing Lee Software (Group) Limited (the “Company”) and
its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set
out on pages 85 to 176, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2024,
and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes
in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the
year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including material accounting policy information
and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 31 December as at 31 December 2024, and of
its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
IFRS Accounting Standards are issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with International
Standards on Auditing (“ISAs”). Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the International Ethics
Standards Board for Accountants’ International Code of
Ethics for Professional Accountants (including International
Independence Standards) (“IESBA Code”), and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with
the IESBA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

B AR

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matter

BEETER

FRRETTEE (&)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BN ETNAEERARETSER

Estimated provision of expected credit losses
(“ECL”) for trade receivables

FERE G R 2 G BAEERARE

We identified estimated provision of expected credit
losses for trade receivables as a key audit matter due
to the exercise of significant management judgement
and estimation for the determination of allowance for
expected credit losses of trade receivables.

BB EKE SRR 2 M RBREEEABERN R HE
RETTEIE - WHHRNEEEETRKE SRR EH
EEBABERITEERAER AR -

As disclosed in Notes 4 and 31 to the consolidated
financial statements, as at 31 December 2024, the
carrying value of the Group’s trade receivables was
RMB14,925,000, net of allowance for credit losses of
RMB460,000.

BIEE G SRR M4 R1FTIEEE - EE2024F 127
318 AEEEUKERFRHEEEESARK14,925,000
70 Bk AR 460,000 H(E A IBRER ©

Trade receivables with external credit rating and
credit-impaired balances are assessed for ECL
individually. In addition, the management of the
Group estimates the amount of lifetime ECL of
trade receivables based on provision matrix through
grouping of various debtors that have similar loss
patterns. Estimated loss rates are based on historical
observed default rates over the expected life of
the debtors and are adjusted for forward-looking
information.
HRABIINERATRREZREERRENE S EI
B AEEEBTIEEAHRERBERER - b BF
BabfAEHAEAREANEBALETHIE  EXR
BEEEHESHRWRRA FERARERBERETH
A BRREARBEGAEPFEHRANERMEN
FELEBELNRETE - WKRAIEIEEEIELAR -
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Our procedures in relation to estimated provision of
expected credit losses for trade receivables included:
BMERERKESEREAAREERLABEENEFE
ECE

e Obtaining an understanding of the key controls over
the processes that the management performed for
assessing the allowance for ECL of trade receivables
including the use of provision matrix;
THREEERTEEKE SEFREMETREF 2 E
BEE BREEAESTGE

e Obtaining an understanding and evaluating the
appropriateness of the basis of management’s
judgement about the determination of groupings
of various debtors that share similar credit risk
characteristics;
THREIHEEEMRETABEUBRAEA 2 ZEEK
RO A EE 2 EE M

e Evaluating the reasonableness of management’s
determination of the expected credit loss rates
based on historical default rates and taking into
consideration of the forward-looking information;
AHEEEERBEAEETHRXLREBAREELET
RHEERR AT

e Assessing the estimates used to determine historical
default rates by considering historical cash collection
performance of different groupings of trade
receivables;

AHMEEEBREEREMAZMES  AEAEEEREE
FEWE 5 8RR R BER S BREKRR

¢ Discussing with the management for forward-looking
information used and assessing the information
based on publicly available information; and
HERENRAAZATELEER RREBERAFERT G
BERER K&

e Testing the accuracy of management’s calculation of
the expected credit losses for trade receivables.
RAAEREAERNE S RRFEREERRNERE -
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, but does not include the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does
not cover the other information and we do not express any
form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information
is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the
work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that
give a true and fair view in accordance with IFRS Accounting
Standards as issued by the IASB and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as management determines is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend
to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for
overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

B AR

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our
opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with Section
90 of the Bermuda Companies Act, and for no other purpose.
We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to
any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken
on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant
to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by the directors.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’
use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether
a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’'s report to
the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions
may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and
content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the
consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business units within
the group as a basis for forming an opinion on the
group financial statements. We are responsible for the
direction, supervision and review of the audit work
performed for purposes of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance
regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including
any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify
during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a
statement that we have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate
with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and
where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or
safeguards applied.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

B AR

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

From the matter communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine this matter that was of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period and is therefore the key
audit matter. We describe this matter in our auditor’s report
unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about
the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in
our report because the adverse consequences of doing so
would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Yuen Wing Hang.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

27 March 2025
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e

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
meESERkEMEEEER

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z —ZE —NF+ - A =+—HIFFZ

2024 2023
—E g —E-=F
NOTES RMB’000 RMB’000
HiaE ARET R ARETTT
Revenue A 5 58,814 70,377
Cost of sales $HE FIARFS AR AN (51,146) (55,803)
Gross profit ER 7,668 14,574
Other income A 7 463 1,537
Impairment losses under expected FBHIEEBEER T ZHE
credit loss model, net of B8 - MR ERE SR
reversal on trade receivables e EERD
and contract assets (324) (2,280)
Other losses HAth Y25 & 5 18 8 (915) (991)
Distribution and selling expenses 9 i M §5 & & (5,125) (4,412)
Administrative expenses EIEEA (12,336) (15,568)
Finance costs & E A 9 (1,048) (1,124)
Loss before tax BiAIE 8 (11,617) (8,264)
Income tax expense FiSTim X 10 = =
Loss and total comprehensive AEEEFIERZHEB XA
expense for the year 11 (11,617) (8,264)
Loss per share BREER 15
Basic and diluted (RMB cents) —HARN (ARED) (0.88) (0.63)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
e PRI R

At 31 December 2024 R=—ZE —F+_-F=+—H

2024 2023
—E-mE —T-=F
NOTES RMB’000 RMB’000
HtaE ARET T ARET T
Non-current Assets ERBEE
Property and equipment LIEYSE L] 16 7,934 8,503
Right-of-use assets ERAEEE 17 193 308
8,127 8,811
Current Assets REBEE
Inventories — finished goods T8 — K 933 806
Trade and other receivables FEE 5 R HEABRK 19 21,311 24,204
Contract assets BHEE 20 488 544
Financial assets at fair value BRARBERTABZEZ
through profit or loss (“FVTPL”) TREE 18 189 183
Bank balances and cash RITHEB LIRS 21 28,528 35,107
Restricted bank deposits SRR TER 21 626 705
52,075 61,549
Current Liabilities REBEE
Trade and other payables FERTE 5 R H A BR K 22 9,387 10,109
Amounts due to related parties FEAT AN 75 BUIE 23 1,878 2,039
Borrowings BE 24 1,000 500
Lease liabilities HERE 27 73 103
12,338 12,751
Net Current Assets REBEEFE 39,737 48,798
Total Assets less Current HWEERRBERE
Liabilities 47,864 57,609
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
e PRI R

At 31 December 2024 R —Z —pNF+_—F=+—H

2024 2023
—E-MEF —E=fF
NOTES RMB’000 RMB’000
HiaE ARET R ARETTT
Capital and Reserves ERK#E
Share capital A& X 25 12,538 12,538
Reserves i 7,035 18,652
Total Equity S 19,573 31,190
Non-current Liability kRBAE
Borrowings BE 24 28,291 26,419
47,864 57,609

The consolidated financial statements on pages 85 to 176 #85E176EFTE A MBMERIIKLESTE RN
were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of —“ZE_R&=A-+-tHHILAERTET|E  WH
Directors on 27 March 2025 and are signed on its behalf by: THATREEE

LIN XUE XIN ZANG JING JING
DIRECTOR DIRECTOR
PRER 3 & &
EF EF

SR (EH) BROERAT
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
REERBER

For the year ended 31 December 2024 # 2 —ZE — ¥+ - A=+—HIFFZ

Share-based
Share Statutory  Shareholder's  Translation payments  Accumulated
Share capital premium reserves  contribution reserve reserve losses Total
wpsEE ;
it Ry ¥ i ] RRHH Eifi  NARER Zithk fit
RMB'000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT  ARETT ARMTR ARETR ARETR ARMTR ARETR ARETR
(Note &) (Note b) (Note ¢)
(Hita) (Hitn) (Hitc)
At 1 January 2023 R-E-=E-F-A 12,638 179,132 3,613 6,641 5217 6,311 (173,998) 39,454
Loss and total comprehensive FERFERREAR AR
expense for the year \ - - - - - - (8,264) (8.264)

Lapse of share options BREXK - - - - - 282) 22 -

At 31 December 2023 RZE-=F+2f=1-H 12,538 179,132 3,613 6,641 517 6,029 (181,980) 31,190

Loss and total comprehensive KEREERAERR R

expense for the year - - - - - - (11,617) (11,617)

Transfer 7 - - 304 - - - (304) -

Lapse of share options BlhEsn - - = = = (568) 568 -

At 31 December 2024 i1 g 12,538 179,132 3917 6,641 517 5,461 (193,333) 19,573

Notes: K -

(@) Under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (“Companies Act”), share  (a) BEBRE-NN\—F280E ([RAE]) © BRIDEE
premium is distributable to shareholders, subject to the condition that AR TR - RO TER - MR EL DR
the Company cannot declare or pay a dividend, or make a distribution % APBITRENHBESHEAERE (R EEZ#
out of share premium and other reserves if (i it is, or would after the RE#IREABEREBETRAR ZE - AIRA
payment be, unable to pay its liabilities as they become due, or (i) the AT B EIRSRM IR Sk AR D 5B R EtEHED
realisable value of its assets would thereby be less than the aggregate DIk ©
of its liabilities and its issued share capital account.

(b) As stipulated by the relevant laws and regulations for foreign  (b) BBEREARLNE ([FE)) IFERECEZBRE

investment enterprises in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”),
the Company’s PRC subsidiaries are required to maintain two statutory
reserves, being an enterprise expansion fund and a statutory surplus
reserve fund which are non-distributable. Appropriations to statutory
surplus reserve are made out of net profit after taxation reported in
the statutory financial statements of the PRC subsidiaries while the
amounts and allocation basis are required to be 10% of the annual
profit after tax, based on the subsidiary’s PRC statutory accounts, as
a statutory reserve and decided by their respective boards of directors
annually for other reserves. The statutory surplus reserve fund can be
used to make up their prior year losses, if any, and can be applied in
conversion into capital by means of capitalisation issue. The enterprise
expansion fund can be used for expanding the capital base of the
PRC subsidiaries by means of capitalisation issue.

On 30 September 2017, Mr. Hung Yung Lai, being the chairman,
executive director and controlling shareholder of the Company at that
time, waived the balance due to him of approximately RMB786,000.
The amount has been capitalised as shareholder’s contribution.
On 6 July 2022, Goldcorp Industrial Limited, an immediate holding
company, transferred certain Company’s shares to employees of
the Group and such transfer was accounted for as a share-based
payment transaction under IFRS 2 Share-based Payment. For details
of the transaction, please refer to note 27 of the consolidated financial
statements.

SING LEE SOFTWARE (GROUP) LIMITED
Annual Report 2024 88

REERARE - ARA) 2P EMERFARLMIEA
PRDIKZEERE B ERRES JEATEBHRHE
e DEEZSRHEB BRI BEHERREEN
BHRRCBBRARPEN  FEOLERREES
BILPIRBRTRRANE10%  MEMFEEZEBRDY
EEEMHEXENEETETFRE  AERBRHE
ARERE L —FEZER (10F)  TAEBEARL
BITHBRRER - CEBRESDHEZENMCEITE
FHBEMB AR EARER o

R-ZZE—tFNA=1H mEEis EBET
ARABERE PITESHRITRBE  BREABZE
BAANRY 786,000 > ZH RSB EABKRRE
RTFURERLL - ZTZ—_FtANH ' EEERAR
Goldcorp Industrial Limited#§# T AR & &1 8258
BASEMET - RIBERV B RS 2RI E 257 ARG
BEROMT - LEERER ARG RERNMNK
R5 - R FIBEEL2BREMBREM 27 -



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
mERTRER

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z —ZE —NF+ - A =+—HIFFZ

2024 2023
—EmF —T-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREEFTT
OPERATING ACTIVITIES RETE
Loss before tax BrELRIES B (11,617) (8,264)
Adjustments for: T
Finance costs BEZEM 1,048 1,124
Interest income R 2 YA (113) (243)
Exchange loss i EsiE 914 690
Depreciation of property and YIENREITE
equipment 609 830
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEENE 703 905
Loss on disposal of property and HEMERREEER
equipment - 261
Impairment loss under expected credit ~ FEEMEE1BKER T~
loss model, net of reversal on trade BAEETE - HIBR B
receivables and contract assets BOBERRENEE
(g 324 2,280
Loss on fair value changes of financial ~ RAR B ABRZ LR
assets at FVTPL BEALEZEHNEIR - 1
Operating cash flows before EEESBBAI2KERERN
movements in working capital 2 (8,132) (2,416)
Decrease (increase) in restricted bank RITIREBS LM OFd)
deposits 79 (705)
Increase in inventories BFE (3#m) (127) (679)
Decrease in trade and other FEUE 5 & H A AR X
receivables B 2,569 3,678
Decrease in contract assets BREEEMN 56 39
Decrease in trade and other payables FERTE 5 R HE A ARER
DA (1,130) (2,516)
NET CASH USED IN OPERATING RETHIAZ
ACTIVITIES HEFEE (6,685) (2,499
A (EE) RBBRAF
89 —BomEER



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

mEBRETRER

For the year ended 31 December 2024 # 2 —ZE — ¥+ - A=+—HIFFZ

2024 2023
—E-NE —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET R ARETTT
INVESTING ACTIVITIES BREZH
Proceeds from disposal of property HEME KR EBRIA
and equipment - 14
Purchase of property and equipment BEMEREME (45) (83)
Interest received BUF B 113 243
Prepayments for right-for-use assets FRAEEE AR - (569)
NET CASH FROM (USED IN) REZE (FTA) Bz2RER
INVESTING ACTIVITIES 2] 68 (395)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES mEEE
Proceeds from bank borrowings RITIEEMBRIA 1,000 500
Repayment of bank borrowings RA s 5 AN (500) (18,000
(Repayment to) advances from related ~ EiERITHEE
parties (161) 1,140
Repayment of lease liabilities EBEHEaE (243) (350)
Interest paid [=NEUESS (58) (185)
NET CASH FROM (USED IN) RMEEERE (FTA) 2
FINANCING ACTIVITIES HEFEEE 38 (16,895)
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH BR&RBELZEM=
EQUIVALENTS w2 R (6,579) (19,789)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTSAT1 R—AB—HBZEHZRK
JANUARY NEZEEBY 35,107 54,896
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT 31 R+ =-—HB=+—HzZzHE&EHR
DECEMBER, SEEY
represented by bank balances and BRITHBR RIRS
cash 28,528 35,107
SING LEE SOFTWARE (GROUP) LIMITED
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BHmRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z —ZE —NF+ - A =+—HIFFZ

GENERAL

Sing Lee Software (Group) Limited (the “Company”) is
incorporated in Bermuda as an exempted company
with limited liability and its shares are listed on Growth
Enterprise Market(“GEM”) of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited. The addresses of the registered
office and principal place of business of the Company
are disclosed in the section headed “Corporate
Information” in the annual report. Its immediate
holding company was Goldcorp Industrial, a company
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands. For the year
ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Company do
not have ultimate controlling party.

The principal activities of the Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) are development
and sales of software products, sales of hardware
products and provision of technical support services.
The principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in
Note 29.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in

Renminbi (“RMB”), which is the same as the functional
currency of the Company and its subsidiaries.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e P HRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 # 2 —ZE — ¥+ - A=+—HIFFZ

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO IFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARD

Amendments to IFRS Accounting Standards that
are mandatorily effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following
new and amendments to IFRS Accounting Standards
issued by the International Accounting Standards
Board (“IASB”) for the first time, which are mandatorily
effective for the Group’s annual period beginning on 1
January 2024 for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements:

Amendments to Lease Liability in a Sale and

2.
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IFRS 16 Leaseback AIE165%1E:T MHEBE
Amendments to Classification of Liabilities as Ra et AR mENEIEREIBERN D
IAS 1 Current or Non-current ERE AN g3l
Amendments to Non-current Liabilities with Ra et AR BB R A &SR FE TR ED
IAS 1 Covenants FAFISET A afE
Amendments to Supplier Finance Arrangements Re R HEERERHE
IAS 7 and BTRIEFT AR
IFRS 7 I % B 755 i o

Except as described below, the application of the
amendments to IFRS Accounting Standards in the
current year has had no material impact on the
Group’s financial positions and performance for the
current and prior years and/or on the disclosures set
out in these consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BHmRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z2 —F _F+_-A=1+—HILFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO IFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARD (Continued)

New and amendments to IFRS Accounting
Standards in issue but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to IFRS Accounting Standards that have
been issued but are not yet effective:

Amendments to IFRS 9 Amendments to the Classification and

and IFRS 7 Measurement of Financial Instruments
Amendments to IFRS 9 Contracts Referencing Nature-Dependent
and IFRS 7 Electricity
Amendments to IFRS Sale or Contribution of Assets between
10 and IAS 28 an Investor and its Associate or Joint
Venture
Amendments to Annual Improvements to IFRS Accounting
IFRS Accounting Standards - Volume 11
Standards

Amendments to IAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability

IFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial
Statements

i Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be
determined.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2025.

8 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2026.

e Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2027.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e P HRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 # 2 —ZE — ¥+ - A=+—HIFFZ

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO IFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARD (Continued)

New and amendments to IFRS Accounting
Standards in issue but not yet effective (Continued)

IFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial
Statements

IFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial
Statements, which sets out requirements on
presentation and disclosures in financial statements,
will replace IAS 1 Presentation of Financial
Statements. This new IFRS Accounting Standard,
while carrying forward many of the requirements in IAS
1, introduces new requirements to present specified
categories and defined subtotals in the statement of
profit or loss; provide disclosures on management-
defined performance measures in the notes to the
financial statements and improve aggregation and
disaggregation of information to be disclosed in
the financial statements. In addition, some [AS 1
paragraphs have been moved to IAS 8 and IFRS 7.
Minor amendments to IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows
and IAS 33 Earnings per Share are also made.

IFRS 18, and amendments to other standards, will
be effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2027, with early application permitted. The
application of the new standard is expected to affect
the presentation of the statement of profit or loss
and disclosures in the future financial statements.
The Group is in the process of assessing the detailed
impact of IFRS 18 on the Group’s consolidated
financial statements.

Except for IFRS 18, the directors of the Company
anticipate that the application of other new and
amendments to IFRS Accounting Standard will have
no material impact on the consolidated financial
statements in the foreseeable future.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.

e BHmRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z —ZE —NF+ - A =+—HIFFZ

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

3.1

Basis of preparation of consolidated
financial statements

The consolidated financial statements have
been prepared in accordance with IFRS
Accounting Standards issued by the IASB. For
the purpose of preparation of the consolidated
financial statements, information is considered
material if such information is reasonably
expected to influence decisions made by
primary users. In addition, the consolidated
financial statements include applicable
disclosures required by the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on GEM of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Listing
Rules”) and by the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance (“CQO”").

The directors of the Company have, at the
time of approving the consolidated financial
statements, a reasonable expectation that the
Group has adequate resources to continue
in operational existence for the foreseeable
future. Thus they continue to adopt the going
concern basis of accounting in preparing the
consolidated financial statements.

The consolidated financial statements have
been prepared on the historical cost basis
except for certain financial instruments that are
measured at fair values at the end of reporting
period, as explained in the accounting policies
set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair

value of the consideration given in exchange for
goods and services.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e P HRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 # 2 —ZE — ¥+ - A=+—HIFFZ

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information
Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements
incorporate the financial statements of the
Company and entities controlled by the Group.
Control is achieved when the Company:

o has power over the investee;

° is exposed, or has rights, to variable
returns from its involvement with the
investee; and

o has the ability to use its power to affect
its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls
an investee if facts and circumstances indicate
that there are changes to one or more of the
three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the
Company obtains control over the subsidiary
and ceases when the Company loses control
of the subsidiary. Specifically, income
and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or
disposed of during the year are included in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income from the date the
Company gains control until the date when the
Company ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other
comprehensive income are attributed to the
owners of the Company. Total comprehensive
income of subsidiaries is attributed to the
owners of the Company.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity,
income, expenses and cash flows relating to
transactions between members of the Group
are eliminated in full on consolidation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.

e BHmRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z —ZE —NF+ - A =+—HIFFZ

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers

Information about the Group’s accounting
policies relating to contracts with customers is
provided in Note 5.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of
each individual group entity, transactions in
currencies other than the functional currency of
that entity (i.e. USD and HKD) are recognised
at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the
dates of the transactions. At the end of the
reporting period, monetary items denominated
in foreign currencies are retranslated at the
rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary
items carried at fair value that are denominated
in foreign currencies are retranslated at the
rates prevailing on the date when the fair value
was determined. When a fair value gain or loss
on a non-monetary item is recognised in profit
or loss, any exchange component of that gain
or loss is also recognised in profit or loss. Non-
monetary items that are measured in terms
of historical cost in a foreign currency are not
retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement
of monetary items, and on the retranslation of
monetary items, are recognised in profit or loss
in the period in which they arise.

Borrowing costs

All borrowing costs not qualified for
capitalisation are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they are incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e P HRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 # 2 —ZE — ¥+ - A=+—HIFFZ

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until
there is reasonable that the Group will comply
with the conditions attaching to them and that
the grants will be received.

Government grants related to income that are
receivable as compensation for expenses or
losses already incurred or for the purpose of
giving immediate financial support to the Group
with no future related costs are recognised
in profit or loss in the period in which they
become receivable. Such grants are presented
under “other income”.

Retirement benefit costs and termination
benefits

Payments to the Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes and state-managed retirement benefit
schemes are recognised as an expense when
employees have rendered service entitling them
to the contributions.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised
at the undiscounted amount of the benefits
expected to be paid as and when employees
rendered the services. All short-term employee
benefits are recognised as an expense unless
another IFRS Accounting Standard requires or
permits the inclusion of the benefit in the cost
of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to
employees (such as wages and salaries) after
deducting any amount already paid.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.

e BHmRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z —ZE —NF+ - A =+—HIFFZ

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Share-based payments

Equity-settled share-based payment
transactions

Shares/Share options granted to employees

Equity-settled share-based payments to
employees and others providing similar services
are measured at the fair value of the equity
instruments at the grant date.

The fair value of the equity-settled share-
based payments determined at the grant date
without taking into consideration all non-market
vesting conditions is expensed on a straight-
line basis over the vesting period, based on the
Group’s estimate of equity instruments that will
eventually vest, with a corresponding increase in
equity under shareholder’s contribution. At the
end of each reporting period, the Group revises
its estimate of the number of equity instruments
expected to vest based on assessment of all
relevant non-market vesting conditions. The
impact of the revision of the original estimates,
if any, is recognised in profit or loss such that
the cumulative expense reflects the revised
estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to
the share-based payments reserve.

For the shares/share options that vest
immediately at the date of grant, the fair value
of the shares/share options granted is expensed
immediately to profit or loss.

When share options are exercised, the amount
previously recognised in share-based payments
reserve will be transferred to share premium.
When the share options are forfeited after the
vesting date or are still not exercised at the
expiry date, the amount previously recognised
in share-based payments reserve will be
transferred to accumulated losses.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e P HRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 # 2 —ZE — ¥+ - A=+—HIFFZ

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the
current and deferred income tax expense.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable
profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from
loss before tax because of income or expense
that are taxable or deductible in other years
and items that are never taxable or deductible.
The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated
using tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary
differences between the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding
tax bases used in the computation of taxable
profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences.
Deferred tax assets are generally recognised
for all deductible temporary differences to the
extent that it is probable that taxable profits
will be available against which those deductible
temporary differences can be utilised. Such
deferred tax assets and liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises
from the initial recognition (other than in a
business combination) of assets and liabilities
in a transaction that affects neither the taxable
profit nor the accounting profit and at the time
of the transaction does not give rise to equal
taxable and deductible temporary differences.
In addition, deferred tax liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises
from the initial recognition of goodwill.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in
profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.

e BHmRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z —ZE —NF+ - A =+—HIFFZ

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Property and equipment

Property and equipment are tangible assets
that are held for use in the supply of goods
or services, or for administrative purposes.
Property and equipment are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at
cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation
and accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off
the cost of items of property and equipment
less their residual values over their estimated
useful lives, using the straight-line method.
The estimated useful lives, residual values and
depreciation method are reviewed at the end
of each reporting period, with the effect of
any changes in estimate accounted for on a
prospective basis.

An item of property and equipment is
derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected to arise from
the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss
arising on the disposal or retirement of an item
of property and equipment is determined as the
difference between the sales proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset and is recognised
in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e P HRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 # 2 —ZE — ¥+ - A=+—HIFFZ

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Impairment on property and equipment,
right-of-use assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group
reviews the carrying amounts of its property
and equipment, right-of-use assets with finite
useful lives to determine whether there is any
indication that these assets have suffered an
impairment loss. If any such indication exists,
the recoverable amount of the relevant asset is
estimated in order to determine the extent of
the impairment loss (if any).

The recoverable amount of property and
equipment, right-of-use assets with finite
useful lives are estimated individually, when
it is not possible to estimate the recoverable
amount individually, the Group estimates the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit
to which the asset belongs.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value
less costs of disposal and value in use. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future
cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value
of money and the risks specific to the asset (or
a cash-generating unit) for which the estimates
of future cash flows have not been adjusted.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.

e BHmRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z —ZE —NF+ - A =+—HIFFZ

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Impairment on property and equipment,
right-of-use assets (Continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a
cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less
than its carrying amount, the carrying amount
of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is
reduced to its recoverable amount. In allocating
the impairment loss, the impairment loss is
allocated first to reduce the carrying amount
of any goodwill (if applicable) and then to the
other assets on a pro-rata basis based on the
carrying amount of each asset in the unit. The
carrying amount of an asset is not reduced
below the highest of its fair value less costs
of disposal (if measurable), its value in use (if
determinable) and zero. The amount of the
impairment loss that would otherwise have
been allocated to the asset is allocated pro rata
to the other assets of the unit. An impairment
loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently
reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or
cash-generating unit) is increased to the revised
estimate of its recoverable amount, but so
that the increased carrying amount does not
exceed the carrying amount that would have
been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset (or a cash-generating
unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment
loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

103

REMBBRERNEREERERES

BERER ()
3.2 EEEHHBEXREH #E)
YERGEHEELSEZRE (&)

WEE (RREELEM) AT K
OeREFEREREE EE
(FREELEM) WREESR
EEAIREERE - R BERERE
B REETE & e B ARHEE
AEEMREE (ER)  RRH
EREBEMEEMNKREERZ LD
EHEMEE - BERREETE
WEARR R A BB E KA (A
E) EREE (WAEE) BT
—ERzBRE  DEEEENR
BEESRZLIDEEEME
ZE - REBEARNEEER -

i E AR B @R ERER - BE (KR
TELEM OREESENER
AR E S EOLERT G - RS
RIEMNREETSBLEBRESF
EAERZEE (ZREELEM)
BRREBRTREEENERT
B - BEERRL SN EmE

7
o

FRBRMY (RE) ROBERAF
“EREEFR



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e P HRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 # 2 —ZE — ¥+ - A=+—HIFFZ

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Cash and cash equivalents

Bank balances and cash presented on the
consolidated statement of financial position
and the consolidated statements of cash flow
include:

(@) cash, which comprises of cash on hand
and demand deposits, excluding bank
balances that are subject to regulatory
restrictions that result in such balances
no longer meeting the definition of cash;
and

(b) cash equivalents, which comprises
of short-term (generally with original
maturity of three months or less), highly
liquid investments that are readily
convertible to a known amount of cash
and which are subject to an insignificant
risk of changes in value. Cash
equivalents are held for the purpose of
meeting short-term cash commitments
rather than for investment or other
purposes.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and
net realisable value. Cost of inventories are
calculated using the weighted average method.
Net realisable value represents the estimated
selling price for inventories less all estimated
costs of completion and costs necessary
to make the sale. Costs necessary to make
the sale include incremental costs directly
attributable to the sale and non-incremental
costs which the Group must incur to make the
sale.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.

e BHmRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z —ZE —NF+ - A =+—HIFFZ

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are
recognised when a group entity becomes
a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are
initially measured at fair value except for
trade receivables arising from contracts
with customers which are initially measured
in accordance with IFRS 15 Revenue from
contracts with customers. Transaction costs
that are directly attributable to the acquisition
or issue of financial assets and financial
liabilities (other than financial assets at FVTPL)
are added to or deducted from the fair value
of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as
appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction
costs directly attributable to the acquisition
of financial assets at FVTPL are recognised
immediately in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e P HRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 # 2 —ZE — ¥+ - A=+—HIFFZ

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

The effective interest method is a method of
calculating the amortised cost of a financial
asset or financial liability and of allocating
interest income and interest expense over the
relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future
cash receipts and payments (including all fees
and points paid or received that form an integral
part of the effective interest rate, transaction
costs and other premiums or discounts)
through the expected life of the financial asset
or financial liability, or, where appropriate, a
shorter period, to the net carrying amount on
initial recognition.

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following
conditions are subsequently measured at
amortised cost:

° the financial asset is held within a
business model whose objective is to
collect contractual cash flows; and

° the contractual terms give rise on
specified dates to cash flows that are
solely payments of principal and interest
on the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently
measured at FVTPL.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.

e BHmRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z —ZE —NF+ - A =+—HIFFZ

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets (Continued)

(i)

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the
effective interest method for financial
assets measured subsequently at
amortised cost. Interest income is
calculated by applying the effective
interest rate to the gross carrying
amount of a financial asset, except for
financial assets that have subsequently
become credit-impaired (see below). For
financial assets that have subsequently
become credit-impaired, interest income
is recognised by applying the effective
interest rate to the amortised cost of the
financial asset from the next reporting
period. If the credit risk on the credit-
impaired financial instrument improves
so that the financial asset is no longer
credit-impaired, interest income is
recognised by applying the effective
interest rate to the gross carrying amount
of the financial asset from the beginning
of the reporting period following the
determination that the asset is no longer
credit-impaired.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e P HRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 # 2 —ZE — ¥+ - A=+—HIFFZ

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. GREMKBRRNEREEREESS

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL BRESR (#)

ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information 3.2 EEETHFEEN#)
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets (Continued)

(if) Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured
at fair value at the end of each reporting
period, with any fair value gains or losses
recognised in profit or loss. The net
gain or loss recognised in profit or loss
includes any dividend or interest earned
on the financial asset and is included in
the “other gains and losses” line item.
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Impairment of financial assets and other item TRVE E R EREAERE9
subject to impairment assessment under IFRS 9 SRBHETTREF G 2 EMIEE 2R
Financial Instrument. B

The Group performs impairment assessment
under expected credit loss (“ECL”) model on
financial assets (including trade and other
receivables, bank balances, restricted bank
deposits and contract assets), which are
subject to impairment assessment under IFRS
9. The amount of ECL is updated at each
reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk
since initial recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.

e BHmRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z —ZE —NF+ - A =+—HIFFZ

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other item
subject to impairment assessment under IFRS 9
Financial Instrument. (Continued)

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will
result from all possible default events over
the expected life of the relevant instrument. In
contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL”) represents
the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected
to result from default events that are possible
within 12 months after the reporting date.
Assessments are done based on the Group’s
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for
factors that are specific to the debtors, general
economic conditions and an assessment of
both the current conditions at the reporting date
as well as the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for
trade receivables and contract assets.

For all other instruments, the Group measures
the loss allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless
when there has been a significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition, in which
case the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The
assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be
recognised is based on significant increases in
the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since
initial recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e P HRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 # 2 —ZE — ¥+ - A=+—HIFFZ

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. GREMKBRRNEREEREESS

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL BRESR (#)
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information 3.2 EEETHFEEN#)

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other item
subject to impairment assessment under IFRS 9
Financial Instrument. (Continued)

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk
has increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Group compares the risk
of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the reporting date
with the risk of a default occurring on
the financial instrument as at the date
of initial recognition. In making this
assessment, the Group considers both
quantitative and qualitative information
that is reasonable and supportable,
including historical experience and
forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort.

The Group regularly monitors the
effectiveness of the criteria used to
identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and
revises them as appropriate to ensure
that the criteria are capable of identifying
significant increase in credit risk before
the amount becomes past due.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.

e BHmRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z —ZE —NF+ - A =+—HIFFZ

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other item
subject to impairment assessment under IFRS 9
Financial Instrument. (Continued)

(i

(i)

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management,
the Group considers an event of default
occurs when information developed
internally or obtained from external
sources indicates that the debtor is
unlikely to pay its creditors, including the
Group, in full (without taking into account
any collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group
considers that default has occurred
when a financial asset is more than 90
days past due unless the Group has
reasonable and supportable information
to demonstrate that a more lagging
default criterion is more appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when
one or more events of default that have
a detrimental impact on the estimated
future cash flows of that financial
asset have occurred. Evidence that a
financial asset is credit-impaired includes
observable data about the breach of
contract, such as a default or past due
event.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e P HRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 # 2 —ZE — ¥+ - A=+—HIFFZ

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. GREMKBRRNEREEREESS

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL BRESR (#)
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information 3.2 EEETHFEEN#)

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other item
subject to impairment assessment under IFRS 9
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Financial Instrument. (Continued) B8 (#)
(iv)  Write-off policy (iv)  MSHECR
The Group writes off a financial asset EBHENBTNETF HERE

when there is information indicating that
the counterparty is in severe financial
difficulty and there is no realistic
prospect of recovery, for example,
when the counterparty has been placed
under liquidation or has entered into
bankruptcy proceedings, or in the case
of trade receivables, when the amounts
are over three years past due, whichever
occurs sooner. Financial assets written
off may still be subject to enforcement
activities under the Group’s recovery
procedures, taking into account legal
advice where appropriate. A write-off
constitutes a derecognition event. Any
subsequent recoveries are recognised in
profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.

e BHmRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z —ZE —NF+ - A =+—HIFFZ

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other item
subject to impairment assessment under IFRS 9
Financial Instrument. (Continued)

v)

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function
of the probability of default, loss
given default (i.e. the magnitude of
the loss if there is a default) and the
exposure at default. The assessment
of the probability of default and loss
given default is based on historical
data and forward-looking information.
Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased
and probability-weighted amount that is
determined with the respective risks of
default occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference
between all contractual cash flows that
are due to the Group in accordance with
the contract and the cash flows that the
Group expects to receive, discounted at
the effective interest rate determined at
initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL for certain trade receivables
and contract assets are considered on a
collective basis taking into consideration
past due information and relevant credit
information such as forward-looking
macroeconomic information.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e P HRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 # 2 —ZE — ¥+ - A=+—HIFFZ

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other item
subject to impairment assessment under IFRS 9
Financial Instrument. (Continued)

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL
(Continued)

For collective assessment, the Group
takes into consideration the following
characteristics when formulating the

grouping:
o Past-due status;
o Nature, size and industry of

debtors; and

° External credit ratings where
available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by
management to ensure the constituents
of each group continue to share similar
credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the
gross carrying amount of the financial asset
unless the financial asset is credit impaired, in
which case interest income is calculated based
on amortised cost of the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or
loss in profit or loss for all financial instruments
by adjusting their carrying amount, with the
exception of trade and other receivables
and where the corresponding adjustment is
recognised through a loss allowance account.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.

e BHmRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z —ZE —NF+ - A =+—HIFFZ

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only
when the contractual rights to the cash flows
from the asset expire, or when it transfers the
financial asset and substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership of the asset to another
entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured
at amortised cost, the difference between
the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of
the consideration received and receivable is
recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities and equity
Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified
as either financial liabilities or as equity
in accordance with the substance of the
contractual arrangements and the definitions of
a financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that
evidences a residual interest in the assets of
an entity after deducting all of its liabilities.
Equity instruments issued by the Company are
recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct
issue cost.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e P HRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 # 2 —ZE — ¥+ - A=+—HIFFZ

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)
Equity instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including borrowings, trade
and other payables and amounts due to related
parties are subsequently measured at amortised
cost, using the effective interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities
when, and only when, the Group’s obligations
are discharged, cancelled or have expired.
The difference between the carrying amount
of the financial liability derecognised and the
consideration paid and payable is recognised in
profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BHmRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z —ZE —NF+ - A =+—HIFFZ

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies,
which are described in Note 3, the directors of the
Company are required to make judgements, estimates
and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other
sources. The estimates and associated assumptions
are based on historical experience and other factors
that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may
differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are
reviewed on an on-going basis. Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognised in the period in
which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only
that period, or in the period of the revision and future
periods if the revision affects both current and future
periods.

The following are the key sources of estimation
uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that
have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment
to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within
the next financial year.

Provision of ECL for trade receivables

Trade receivables with external credit rating and credit-
impaired balances are assessed for ECL individually. In
addition, the management of the Group estimates the
amount of lifetime ECL of trade receivables based on
provision matrix through grouping of various debtors
that have similar loss patterns. Estimated loss rates
are based on historical observed default rates over
the expected life of the debtors and are adjusted for
forward-looking information.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in
estimates. The information about the ECL and the
Group’s trade receivables are disclosed in Notes 31
and 19 respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #2 —ZF —P1F+ A =+—HILFE

5. REVENUE 5. SHEWA

(i) Disaggregation of revenue from contracts (i) PHEBEFEHNHEBRA
with customers

Sales of products HEER 1,261 1,040 - 2,301
Provision of services: RERS
— Outsourcing financial services for - BRORPRM
bank customers B & BRTS - = 48,090 48,090
- Development, installation and - A% RRk#
maintenance of payment ESANEN
software system % - - 8,423 8,423
Total @zt 1,261 1,040 56,513 58,814
Geographical markets HEm S
The PRC Hh 1,261 1,040 56,513 58,814
Timing of revenue recognition HEWA
A point in time 26 829 1,040 56,513 58,382
Over time B R 432 - - 432
Total @zt 1,261 1,040 56,513 58,814
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BHmRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z2 —F _F+_-A=1+—HILFE

REVENUE (Continued) 5. HEWA (&)
(i) Disaggregation of revenue from contracts (i) PIREFEHNHERA (&)
with customers (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE-_ZT-=#+-A=t+-HIFE

Provision

Sales of Sales of  of technical

software hardware support
products products services Total

HE HE R
YHER EFER  XEREB At

RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTT ARBTRE ARETLT ARETRL

Sales of products HEER 2,866 422 - 3,288
Provision of services: AR -
- Outsourcing financial services for - BRORPRM
bank customers INB & B AR TS - - 54,769 54,769
- Development, installation and - A% TRk#
maintenance of payment ESUEGE
software system % - - 12,320 12,320
Total st 2,866 422 67,089 70,377
Geographical markets WEMS
The PRC H 2,866 422 67,089 70,377
Timing of revenue recognition HEWA
A point in time Fes e B 2,462 422 67,089 69,973
Over time FER 404 - - 404
Total st 2,866 422 67,089 70,377

SR (EH) BROERAT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e P HRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 # 2 —ZE — ¥+ - A=+—HIFFZ

5.

REVENUE (Continued)

(ii)

Performance obligations for contracts with
customers

Provision of technical support services
(revenue recognised at one point in time)

The Group provides technical support service,
e.g. financial outsourcing services, software
system upgrades and interface development
services mainly to banks. Such services
are recognised as a performance obligation
satisfied at one point in time because the
contract specifies the unit price and quantitative
unit of each type of performance obligation,
and the consideration is based on the number
of units completed when the Group completes
for each performance obligation, i.e., the point
at which the customer obtains control of a
quantitative unit of service and has a present
obligation to pay. Revenue is recognised for
these technical support services based on the
point at which the service is confirmed.

Sales of hardware products (revenue
recognised at one point in time)

The Group sells hardware products, e.g.
POS machines mainly to banks and high-tech
companies directly.

For sales of hardware products, revenue is
recognised when control of the goods has
transferred, being when the goods have been
delivered to customers’ specific location. The
normal credit term is 90 to 180 days upon
delivery.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BHmRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z —ZE —NF+ - A =+—HIFFZ

5. REVENUE (Continued)

(ii)

Performance obligations for contracts with
customers (Continued)

Sales of software products with
maintenance services (multiple
performance obligations)

The Group sells software products, e.g. POS-
MIS mainly to banks and high-tech companies
directly, and revenue is recognised at a point
in time when control of software products has
transferred, being when the software products
have been delivered to customers’ specific
location and installed for use. In addition, the
Group provided subsequent maintenance
service after the installation, which is considered
to be a distinct service as it is both regularly
supplied by the Group to other customers
on a stand-alone basis and is available for
customers from other providers in the market.
Transaction price is allocated between sales
of software products and the maintenance
services on a relative stand-alone selling price
basis. Revenue relating to the maintenance
services is recognised over time and would
be recognised as a separate performance
obligation for provision of services and included
as development, installation and maintenance of
payment software system. The transaction price
allocated to these services is recognised on a
straight line basis over the period of service.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P HRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #2 —ZF —P1F+ A =+—HILFE

5. REVENUE (Continued) 5.

(iii) Transaction price for sales of software
products with maintenance services
allocated to the remaining performance
obligations for contracts with customers

The transaction price for sales of software
products with maintenance services allocated
to the remaining performance obligations
(unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied) as at 31
December 2024 and 2023 and the expected
timing of recognising revenue are as follows:

HEWA (&)

(i) HEXHEREREZERBHEBEN
TREEREFENZHBTENER
MR Z B

RZZE-_MFER=ZZT=_=F+=HA
=+—H HEERGEREREZ
FREHEENRSERSPEEESRE
HEE CREKIBECAREK) © 8
HARER U ZS RS R AN

2024 2023
—E-OEF —E=F
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T T ARET T

Within one year —F LR 242 395

More than one year but not more —F LA ETEBERE
than two years 148 204
More than two years S 159 222
549 821

All the other revenue are for periods of one
year or less. As permitted under IFRS 15, the
transaction price allocated to these unsatisfied
contracts is not disclosed.

6. OPERATING SEGMENTS 6.

Information reported to the Company’s executive
directors, being the chief operating decision maker
(“CODM”), for the purposes of resource allocation and
assessment of segment performance focuses on types
of goods or services delivered or provided.

Specifically, the Group’s reportable and operating
segments under IFRS 8 Operating Segments are as

follows:

1. Sales of software products

2. Sales of hardware products

& Provision of technical support services

No operating segments have been aggregated in
arising at the reportable segments of the Group.
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-4
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e P BHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z2 —F _F+_-A=1+—HILFE

OPERATING SEGMENTS (Continued) 6. EESE (#)

Segment revenue and results DEBHEWARES

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue REEREERAESHD IS D HEHEWA
and results by operating and reportable segment: REZZDWHAT :

For the year ended 31 December 2024 EHEZE-Z-_ME+-A=1+-ALLEE

External sales and total revenue HIMNEERBHEEWA

- segment revenue - DHHERA 1,261 1,040 56,513 58,814
SEGMENT RESULTS PEEE (275) (69) (6,800) (7,144)
Other income 00N 463
Other gains and losses Htha k&R (915)
Unallocated corporate expenses FAELERT (2,973)
Finance costs HEBR (1,048)
Group’s loss before tax AEBNBRTAER (11,617)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 EZ-FE-=f+-A=+-ALL5E

External sales and total revenue HIMEERBHEWA

— segment revenue - DBHERA 2,866 422 67,089 70,377
SEGMENT RESULTS PEEE (625) (28) (4,166) (4,819)
Other income HiA 1,687
Other gains and losses EhbERER (991)
Unallocated corporate expenses AL ERR (2,867)
Finance costs HEEH (1,124)
Group’s loss before tax TEBNBRTAER (8,264)

FRBAE (E8) ROERAT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e P HRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 # 2 —ZE — ¥+ - A=+—HIFFZ

OPERATING SEGMENTS (continuead)
Segment revenue and results (Continued)

The accounting policies of the operating segments
are the same as the Group’s accounting policies as
described in Note 3.2. Segment results represents
the loss incurred by each segment without allocation
of finance costs, unallocated corporate expenses,
other income and other gains and losses. This is the
measure reported to the CODM for the purposes of
resource allocation and performance assessment.

The CODM makes decisions according to operating
results of each segment. No analysis of segment asset
and segment liability is presented as the CODM does
not regularly review such information for the purposes
of resources allocation and performance assessment.
Therefore, only segment revenue and segment results
are presented.
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-4
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e P BHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z2 —F _F+_-A=1+—HILFE

6. OPERATING SEGMENTS (Continueq) 6. EEDW #)
Hitt o WA

Other segment information

For the year ended 31 December 2024 EHEZE-Z-_ME+-A=1+-ALLEE
Amounts included in the measure of ~ BERHELBEEFE
segment results:

Depreciation of property and equipment  ¥1% R&ENE 10 13 586 609
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FRAEEENE 12 15 676 703
Impairment losses on trade receivables ~ EREZEFRADEEREFE

and contract assets 6 7 311 324

For the year ended 31 December 2023 EZ-ZE-=F+-fA=t+-ALEE
Amounts included in the measure of ~ BERTESFEE L FE
segment results:

Depreciation of property and equipment 1 RRERE 33 5 792 830
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREAENE 37 5 863 905
Impairment losses on trade receivables ~ EREZEFRANWEERESR

and contract assets 131 19 2,130 2,280

FRBAE (E8) ROERAT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P HRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #2 —ZF —P1F+ A =+—HILFE

6. OPERATING SEGMENTS (Continued) 6.
Geographical information

The Group’s revenue from external customers is all
generated from customers located in the PRC.

All non-current assets of the Group are located in the
PRC by location of assets.

Information about major customers

Revenue from customers from sales of software
products, hardware products, provision of technical
support services of the corresponding years
contributing over 10% of the total sales of the Group
are as follows:

EEDE (&)

i & & K
REFRBINEEE Z HEW AR B
BB o

AEBFEERDEEREERELE S
IR R B o

IREFEE
AEEXRAEMNEP 2 HERMHER &

B M MR B SR R 2 WA BB
BAEHE10%T -

2024 2023
—E-F —E-=fF
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T T ARETT

Customer A XFER 33,833 50,158

Customer B BEZ 11,042 12,696
7. OTHER INCOME 7.  HftlgA

2024 2023

—EMMF —E-=fF

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥ET T ARETIT

Government grants (Note) B AT ek (Krat) 254 1,289

Bank interest income M B A 113 243

Others HAm 96 5

463 1,537

Note:  During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group
recognised unconditional grants of RMB254,000 (2023:
RMB1,289,000) from local government to encourage the
business operations in the PRC.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BHmRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z2 —F _F+_-A=1+—HILFE

OTHER LOSSES 8. HftWzmREE
2024 2023
—E_E B =F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AR®ET T
Net exchange loss RIE H g E (914) (729)
Loss on disposal of property and HEMEKEEESE
equipment - (261)
Fair value changes of financial assets ~ EAREFTABZZ £/
at FVTPL BEAAREZS = (1)
Others HAh (1) =
(915) (991)
FINANCE COSTS 9. MEEAR
2024 2023
—ENE —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%T ARMEFTT
Interest on bank borrowings RITIEE ZF & 49 174
Interest on loans from a related party BB S S E 2 78 990 939
Interest on lease liabilities HEAEBEZFE 9 11
1,048 1,124

SRR (EH) REBRAT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e P HRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 # 2 —ZE — ¥+ - A=+—HIFFZ

10.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE

10.

Fri8Bipx
2024 2023
—EPUE —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ET T AREFIT

PSR X

Income tax expense

Hangzhou Singlee Technology Company Limited
(“Singlee Technology”), a subsidiary of the Company,
was established in Hangzhou, the PRC, with
statutory enterprise income tax (“EIT”) rate of 25%.
Singlee Technology is regarded as a High and New
Technology Enterprise defined by Zhejiang Finance
Bureau, Administrator of Local Taxation of Zhejiang
Municipality and Zhejiang Municipal office of the State
Administration of Taxation (collectively referred as
the “local tax authorities”) and is therefore entitled to
15% preferential EIT rate for the PRC EIT for three
years starting from 2013. During the year ended
31 December 2022, its High and New Technology
Enterprise status was extended by the local tax
authorities for three more years to 2025. Accordingly,
the EIT rate for Singlee Technology is 15% for the
years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

According to the PRC Enterprise Income Tax Law,
the applicable EIT rate of Hangzhou Singlee Software
Company Limited (“Singlee Software”) and Xin Yintong
Technology Co., Ltd. (“Xin YinTong”) is 25% for the
years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been
made as the Group had no estimated assessable
profits arising from Hong Kong during the years ended
31 December 2024 and 2023.
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10.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BHmRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z —ZE —NF+ - A =+—HIFFZ

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued)

According to a policy promulgated by the State Tax
Bureau of the PRC, enterprises engage in research
and development activities are entitled to claim 200%
(2023: 200%) of the research and development
expenses so incurred in a year as tax deductible
expenses in determining its tax assessable profits for
that year (“Super Deduction”). Singlee Technology has
claimed such Super Deduction in ascertaining its tax
assessable profits for the years ended 31 December
2024 and 2023.

The income tax expense for the year is reconciled to
the loss before tax per the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income as
follows:

10.

B8R @)

R 1% B B 3R 75 48 R BT 28 4 #) — TR
R NERBEINECXEARAEETHF
FEE%)“EBT&?’HJH%%E%EF“IZEE’JEH%*F%§Z
#200% (ZZFE = =4 : 200%) T8 {E & A
R (TBEREH L) - AR EEE
HmE S E/ERBENECREBERL
il

AEERAELEGEEa NEMEEK
MR AIEE BRI T

2024 2023
—E-E —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%T ARBTIT
Loss before tax FRELRTEE (11,617) (8,264)
Tax at enterprise income tax rate at % ﬁ—i%ﬁﬁ ST E15%
15% (2023: 15%) (Note) T =F 1 15%) B
B8 (Mfa) (1,743) (1,240)
Tax effect of income not taxable for tax N AJ:R B UL A 2 Bl 75 5 22
purpose - (273)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible ~ A HFR B 2 T IS 2
for tax purpose 515 534
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised ARMERFIBEEIE 2 G £ 2,117 1,435
Effect of Super Deduction BRI E (1,184) (726)
Tax effect of different tax rates of B AR TRIBE Mg E
subsidiaries 295 270

Income tax expense for the year

RERMBHRAX -

Note:  Applicable income tax rate of 15% (2023: 15%) represents
the relevant income tax rate of Singlee Technology, the
subsidiary of the Company which generates majority of the

Group’s loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P HRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 # 2 —ZE — ¥+ - A=+—HIFFZ

10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued) 10.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has
unused tax losses of approximately RMB33,724,000
(2023: RMB21,002,000) available for offset against
future profits. No deferred tax asset has been
recognised in respect of such losses due to the
unpredictability of future profit streams.

The unused tax losses will expire in the following

FRBHAx @)

RBEMR - AEEERPARBERLDY
R AR®S3,724,000T (ZE=Z=4F: A
FR#21,002,0007T) AT K $6 K 0 A © B
REETRORI R B MR - Rtz FE A
ERELERABE °

AREFZASABBEH R A W

years: N
2024 2023
—E-E —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T ARET T
2024 —EOE - 1,388
2025 —E-RE 5,553 5,553
2027 —ECAF 7,486 7,486
2028 —E-N\E 6,575 6,575
2029 —E-AE 14,110 =
Total unused tax losses AEAMBEERE 33,724 21,002
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11.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BHmRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z —ZE —NF+ - A =+—HIFFZ

LOSS FOR THE YEAR 11.

Loss for the year has been arrived at after charging
the following items:

rEEER
AFEEBBRCDMBR TSR -

2024 2023
—E_E —E=4F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T ARETT
Salaries, wages and other staff benefits ¥ - TERHAM 8 TEF 46,610 52,042
Retirement benefit schemes
contributions RIREFIFT B K 9,344 9,333
Total staff costs (Note) B ABEE (Kat) 55,954 61,375
Depreciation of property and equipment #7% K & &3 & 609 830
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FRAEEETE 703 905
Group auditor’s remuneration EEZEEN B2 900 1,033
Cost of inventories recognised as an BRAEMASZ ZFEKAE
expense 2,204 296
Note:  Directors’ emoluments are included in the above staff costs. Kiet : EEMEEFALME TR -
A (EE) RBBRAF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #2 —ZF —P1F+ A =+—HILFE

12. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 12. EBRBETHRAEHMH
EMOLUMENTS
Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments for the RIRE A A _ TR B R A R GIFr i EE -
year, disclosed pursuant to applicable Listing Rules REBRFEZESRERTTHA B H N
and CO, is as follow: NN

Executive directors #1788

Mr. Lin Xue Xin HEHLE 116 446 76 - 638
Mr. Hung Ying gL 116 304 6 - 4%
M. Zang Jingjing (Note a) BaGrE (Hia) 89 629 64 - 782
M. Li Dong (Note ) S5k (Wita) 89 638 64 - 791
Ms. Cai Jin (Note a) 2EUL (Hia) 89 - - - 89
Subtotal et 499 2,017 210 - 2,726

Independent non-executive directors ~ BUEHTEE

M. Pao Ping Wing (Note b) BRRLE (i) 116 - - - 116
Mr. Chan Tsang Mo (Note ¢) REREE (Wite) 89 - - - 89
Ms. Chen Xinai (Note g) RHELL (B 42 - - - 4
Subtotal Gt u47 - - - 247
Total ) 2,973
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BHmRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z2 —F _F+_-A=1+—HILFE

12. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 12. ESRBETHRAEHFMH @
EMOLUMENTS (Continued)
2023
“ECCF
Retirement
Salaries, benefit Share-based
allowances schemes payment
Fees and bonuses contributions expenses Total
RS E
e BINER  DIRGAZRE
ik BRI FE [ CINEEEF GHI
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT

Executive directors YrES

Mr. Lin Xue Xin WL 114 457 68 - 639
Mr. Hung Ying KRk - 45 6 - 421
Mr. Cui Jian (Note f) ERRE (i) - 27 1 - 28
Mr. Zang Jingjing (Note &) HRSEE (Wita) 65 511 48 - 624
Mr. Li Dong (Note a) ZREE (fiia) 65 647 56 - 768
Ms. Cai Jin (Note g) BEQT (fia) 65 - - - 65
Subtotal It 309 2,057 179 - 2545

Independent non-executive directors B TEE

Mr. Pao Ping Wing (Note b) BRRLE () 114 = = = 114
Mr. Thomas Tam (Note c) REFLE (i) 29 = = = 29
Mr. Lo King Man (Note ) S kA (Hita) 114 = = = 114
Mr. Chan Tsang Mo (Note &) RERLE (Hite) 85 - - - 65
Subtotal I\5) 322 = = = 322
Total @ 2,867
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e P HRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 # 2 —ZE — ¥+ - A=+—HIFFZ

12.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

Notes:

(@) Mr. Zang Jingjing, Mr. Li Dong and Ms. Cai Jin had been
appointed as executive directors of the Company since 1
April 20283.

(b) Mr. Pao Ping Wing was chairman of the audit and risk

management committee but resigned from this role to take
up the member of audit and risk management committee on
1 April 2023.

(c) Mr. Thomas Tam was the independent non-executive director
and the member of the audit and risk management committee
but resigned from this role on 1 April 2023.

(d) Mr. Lo King Man was a member of the audit and risk
management committee but resigned from this role on 31
December 2023.

(e) Mr. Chan Tsang Mo was appointed and acted as the
chairman of the audit and risk management committee since
1 April 2023.

() Mr. Cui Jian was an executive director of the Company but

resigned from this role on 1 April 2023.

(9 Ms. Chen Xinai was appointed as independent non-executive
director of the Company on 28 March 2024 and thereafter
acts as a member of audit and risk management committee,
remuneration committee and nomination committee.

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above
were for their services in connection with the
management of the affairs of the Company and the
Group. The independent non-executive directors’
emoluments shown above were for their services as
directors of the Company.

No remuneration was paid by the Group to the
directors as an inducement to join or upon joining the
Group or as compensation for loss of office for both
years.

There was no arrangement under which a director
or the chief executive waived or agreed to waive any
remuneration during both years.
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13.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BHmRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z —ZE —NF+ - A =+—HIFFZ

FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES 13.

The five highest paid employees of the Group
during the year included three directors (2023: three
directors), details of whose remuneration are set out
in Note 12 above. Details of the remuneration for
the year of the remaining two (2023: two) highest
paid employees who are neither a director nor chief
executive of the Company are as follows:

TEREFHESR
FAXEELLRSFMEERE=RE
B(ZZ=F: =28EF)  KEHFWH
BEN EXHE12 - FRBTRA (ZF
TEF L ZR) WEARREFTHTRE
BN SHMALOFBHRIIMT

2024 2023

—E-E —E-=F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T ARET T

Salaries and other benefits Fre REAEA 893 771
Retirement benefit schemes RIRFBF T B R

contributions 47 23

Compensation for loss of office KEBE 2 @E - 906

940 1,700

The number of highest paid employees who are not
the directors of the Company whose remuneration fell
within the following bands is as follows:

WIHARBREZNRDH
LA TAERIESINT

MEESE - H

Year ended 31 December

BE+-A=t—HLEE

2024 2023

—EomE —EZ=F

No. of No. of

employees employees

EE A" BB AE

Nil to HK$1,000,000 £ 21,000,000/ 7T 2 1
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 7C 21,500,000/ 7T - 1
Total EEE 2 2

During the years ended 31 December 2024, no
remuneration was paid by the Group to any of the five
highest paid individuals as compensation for loss of
office (2023: HK$906,000). During the years ended 31
December 2024 and 2023, no remuneration was paid
by the Group to the five highest paid individuals as an
inducement to join or upon joining the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e P HRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 # 2 —ZE — ¥+ - A=+—HIFFZ

14.

15.

DIVIDEND

No dividend was paid or proposed for ordinary
shareholders of the Company during 2024 and 2023,
nor has any dividend been proposed since the end of
the reporting period.

LOSS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share
attributable to owners of the Company is based on the
following data:

14.

15.

35
RIZE_MFR-ZZ_=F " H§EAEXR
AEBRRRE MR EE MRS - B8
E BRAE I B 2 S MHEAATAR S -

BRER
ARAHEEAREEREA B EERT)
BTIIBEE

Loss figures are calculated as follows: EBEEETENT
2024 2023
—E-OmEF —E-=fF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ET T AR¥ET T
Loss for the year attributable to owners AR EHEHB ABIETEFBRE
of the Company for the purposes of N RS EEEREGFNER
basic and diluted loss per share (11,617) (8,264)
2024 2023
—E-OF —F-=
'000 ‘000
T Bz &
Number of shares ROEE
Number of ordinary shares for the FRETEBRER #%
purpose of basic and diluted loss per &8 T@REE
share 1,317,240 1,317,240

The computation of diluted loss per share for the years
ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 does not assume
the exercise of the Company’s share options because
the exercise price of those options was higher than the
average market price for shares.
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16.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BHmRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z2 —F _F+_-A=1+—HILFE

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT 16. YERRZRE
Computer
Owned Leasehold and related Motor
properties Improvements equipment vehicles Total
BENE HENEEE EKREBERE 1] &3
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT  AREFT  ARETR  ARETR  ARETxR
CoST K&
At 1 January 2023 W-Z-=%-F-H 12,741 3,882 8,111 1,401 26,135
Additions 1 = = 83 - 83
Disposals e - - 2,310) (231) (2,541)
At 31 December 2023 WZE-=%+-A=+-H 12,741 3,882 5,884 1,170 23,677
Additions 0 - - 45 S 45
Disposals e - - (13) 4) (17)
At 31 December 2024 R-Z-MFE+-A=1-H 12,741 3,882 5916 1,166 23,705
DEPRECIATION e
At 1 January 2023 R-E-=%£-F—H 3,950 3,744 7,752 1,164 16,610
Provided for the year TERE 571 43 184 32 830
Eliminated on disposals LEREH - - (2,059) (207) (2,266)
At 31 December 2023 R_E_=F+-A=1—H 4,521 3,787 5,877 989 15,174
Provided for the year TERE 578 - - 31 609
Eliminated on disposals HEREH - = (10) 2) (12)
At 31 December 2024 RZE-RE+-A=1—H 5,099 3,787 5,867 1,018 15,771
CARRYING VALUES BEE
At 31 December 2024 RZEZWFE+=A=1—H 7,642 9% 49 148 7,934
At 31 December 2023 A\ZE-=F+-A=1-H 8,220 9 7 181 8,503
RS (£E) ROERAE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e P HRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 # 2 —ZE — ¥+ - A=+—HIFFZ

16.

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT (Continueq)

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost of items
of property and equipment over their estimated useful
lives and after taking into account their estimated
residual value, using straight-line method, on the
following bases:

Owned properties 20 years

Leasehold improvements 5 years

Computer and related 20% — 30% per annum
equipment
Motor vehicles 10% - 20% per annum

The owned properties are situated on leasehold land
in the PRC and held under medium-term lease.

The Group has pledged owned properties with carrying
amounts of approximated RMB7,260,000 (2023:
RMB7,808,000) to secure general banking facilities
granted to the Group (see Note 24).
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17.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BHmRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z —ZE —NF+ - A =+—HIFFZ

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

EHEEE

Leased properties

HEWHE
RMB’000
ARETTT
As at 31 December 2024 R-ZB-_NE+=RB=+—H
Carrying amount BREE 193
As at 31 December 2023 R-B-=%+=-HA=+—~H
Carrying amount REE 308
For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZE-Z_-_NE+-A=+—HILEEE
Depreciation charge TeEs 703
For the year ended 31 December 2023 HZE-Z-_=f+-A=+—HILLEE
Depreciation charge nEeEs 905
2024 2023
—EomEF —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREFTT
Expense relating to short-term leases  EEHIFHEAEMNOT K 466 382
Total cash outflow for leases MER SR LA 718 1,312
Additions to right-of-use assets SIS RAEEE 588 975

For both years, the Group leases various offices for
its operations. Lease contracts are entered into for
fixed term of one to two years without extension and
termination options. In determining the lease term
and assessing the length of the non-cancellable
period, the Group applies the definition of a contract
and determines the period for which the contract is
enforceable.

The Group regularly entered into short-term leases for
offices premises. As at 31 December 2024 and 2023,
the portfolio of short-term leases is similar to the
portfolio of short-term leases to which the short-term
lease expense disclosed in this note.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e P HRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 # 2 —ZE — ¥+ - A=+—HIFFZ

17.

18.

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (Continued) 17. ERAEEE @)
Restrictions or covenants on leases FH £ PR =k AR
In addition, lease liabilities of RMB73,000 are B E2024F128310 - AEEEREE
recognised with related right-of-use assets of BEARKTI000T RAEMEERESEE
RMB193,000 as at 31 December 2024 (2023: lease AR #193,0007T (2023%F : fAEAE A
liabilities of RMB103,000 and related right-of-use E#103,000t R B AREEARE
assets of RMB308,000). The lease agreements do 308,0007T) - S HHEEER AN
not impose any covenants other than the security ERERIN  HEEEHBERSEEMR
interests in the leased assets that are held by the Wi - HEBEETNSIERETERYE
lessor. Leased assets may not be used as security for A e
borrowing purposes.
FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVTPL 18. ERARETABRZEREE
Financial assets at FVTPL: BARBEFABRZEREE
2024 2023
—E-E —E=%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMT T ARETIT
Investments in unlisted fund, FLEMESEE  BARE
at fair value 189 183

The investments in unlisted fund is denominated
in United State dollar (“US$”) and the investment
objective of the fund is to achieve capital appreciation
through investing in securities, ownership interest and
private equity investments offered publicly or privately
and in relation to energy and environmental protection
business.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BHmRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z2 —F _F+_-A=1+—HILFE

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 19. BWESZRKEMERIR
2024 2023
—E-ME —E-—=4F
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T ARET T

Trade receivables FEUE BRI
— contracts with customers Y=k 15,385 19,099
Less: allowance for ECL W EEEREE (460) (557)
14,925 18,542
Other receivables, prepayments and Hh U R - FERRIE R
deposits e
Deposits paid to customers BENRFEE 3,367 2,881
Advances to staff M 8 T 2,252 2,207
Other tax recoverable AT B E Ath 7 18 - 24
Prepayments AR 423 459
Others HAh 344 91
6,386 5,662
Total trade and other receivables FEWE 5 R E b AR SR ABFT 21,311 24,204
The normal credit term is 90 to 180 days. —RIEEHAIE180K °
As at 1 January 2023, trade receivables from RZE-_=F—F—H BKEZFERIZAE
contracts with customers amounted to approximately AR #21,934,0007T °
RMB21,934,000.
The following is an aged analysis of trade receivables ITTREKE SER (HIREEBRXEE
net of allowance for ECL presented based on the &) LR A MBI D 2R DT ¢
invoice dates:
2024 2023
—E-MEF =
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARET T

0 - 120 days 0F 120K 12,294 16,361
121 - 180 days 121 E180K 103 147
181 — 365 days 181E365K 1,280 777
Over 365 days 365K A 1,248 1,257

14,925 18,542

SR (EH) BROERAT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e P HRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 # 2 —ZE — ¥+ - A=+—HIFFZ

19.

20.

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued) 19. EWEZREMIERR @)
As at 31 December 2024, included in the Group’s RZEBE-_HWHFE+-_A=+—H ' A5H
trade receivables balance are debtors with MNEWZESRREHRBIERAREARA
aggregate carrying amount of RMB2,226,000 (2023: R#2,226,000t (ZTEZ=F: AR¥
RMB1,845,000) which are past due 90 days or more 1,845,0007T) MIEUERFN - MRS HHEE
as the reporting date and are not considered as in EHAQOR A £ - AR AZHEBABY
default as most of the debtors are banks with strong BARR R B EETRSORITRZENR
financial position and high credit ratings and the TE{DARVE R BRG] - TR BEL -
amounts are still considered fully recoverable.
Details of impairment assessment of trade and other U E 5 & H AR FOR B R4 515 SR B
receivables are set out in Note 31. 5F31 °
CONTRACT ASSETS 20. EREE
2024 2023
—E-UE —E=%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T ARET T
Retention receivable EWIRE & 488 544

As at 1 January 2023, contract assets amounted to
approximately RMB598,000.

The Group typically agrees to a retention period
ranging from one to two years for 5% to 10% of the
contract value. This amount is included in contract
assets until the end of the retention period as the
Group’s entitlement to this final payment is conditional
during retention period. The Group typically transfer
contract assets into trade receivables at the end of
retention period. The Group classifies these contract
assets as current because the Group expects to
realise them in its normal operating cycle.

Details of impairment assessment of contract assets
are set out in Note 31.
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21.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BHmRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z —ZE —NF+ - A =+—HIFFZ

BANK BALANCES AND CASH AND
RESTRICTED BANK DEPOSITS

The Group’s bank balances and cash comprise bank
balances which carry interest at prevailing market
saving rates ranging from 0.1% to 0.3% (2023: 0.01%
to 1.70%) per annum as at 31 December 2024.

Certain of the Group’s bank balances and cash of
approximately RMB26,000 and RMB2,564,000 (2023:
RMB25,000 and RMB216,000) were denominated in
US$ and HKS$, respectively.

Restricted bank deposits of RMB626,000 (2023:
RMB705,000) that are required to be maintained
as warranty. The contractual restriction on the use
of restricted bank deposits ends when contract is
completed.

For the year ended 31 December 2024 and 2023,
the Group performed impairment assessment on
pbank balances and concluded that the probability of
defaults of the counterparty banks are insignificant and
accordingly, no allowance for credit losses is provided.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e P HRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 # 2 —ZE — ¥+ - A=+—HIFFZ

22. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 22, EREZREMERR
2024 2023
—E-EF —E-=4F
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T T ARBET T

Trade payables FEfTE S8R 1,406 884
Payroll payables JE A<F B T 5 B 4,279 4,919
Other PRC tax payables FET E A B A E IR 727 1,144
Employee reimbursement payable FEHE B 3R 3A 757 1,097
Accruals FEETE R 610 159
Contract liabilities ARAE 430 629
Professional fee payable ENEBEERSEE 441 960
Others HAtb 737 317
Total HET 9,387 10,109
The following is an aged analysis based on invoice AT s BRI E 5 RN A S ZE B H
date of trade payables at the end of the reporting 2D ZBRER DT ¢
period:
2024 2023
—E-E —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T ARETT

With 90 days ORIARA 87 30
91 — 180 days 91& 180K 814 21
181 — 365 days 181£365K 160 27
Over 365 days 365K 345 806

1,406 884
The range of credit period on purchases of goods is EEERNEEHNF1208180K T -

around 120 to 180 days.

Trade and other payables of approximately FENE S KEMBRZLYARSS1007T
RMB85,100 (2023: RMB172,000) were denominated (ZZE=Z=%: AR®172,0007T) J31& %
in HK$. TEEHE o

23. AMOUNTS DUE TO RELATED PARTIES 23. BEBMFEMARE
The amounts are denominated in HK$, unsecured, ZERENBTEE - BEERWT - 5
non-interest bearing and repayable on demand. The EEHTEEREEZ - HEAHFBRELLELE
related parties are Mr. Hung, Goldcorp Industrial and Goldcorp Industrial X N A RIHITES -

executive directors of the Company.
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24.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BHmRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z2 —F _F+_-A=1+—HILFE

BORROWINGS 24, B8
2024 2023
—E_E B =F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREFT
Unsecured loans from a related party X3RRI HEE (HfaFi)

(Note i) 28,291 26,419
Unsecured bank borrowings EIRIRITEE (W aEi) - 500
Secured bank borrowings (Note ii) BIRARITE R (A aFi) 1,000 =

29,291 26,919
2024 2023
—E-UE —E-=
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREFT
Carrying amount of the above LEENREERETEE -

borrowings are repayable:

Within one year —F AR 1,000 500

Within a period of more than two MFLA BT BBRSE

years but not exceeding five years 1,197 1,148

Within a period of more than five AFE

years 27,094 25,271
29,291 26,919
Less: Amounts due within one year B HARBEBER—FA
shown under current liabilities EIHA 2 508 (1,000) (500)
Amounts shown under non-current HIAFEREN B B 2 5RIE
liabilities 28,291 26,419
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NOTEé TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #2 —ZF —P1F+ A =+—HILFE

24. BORROWINGS

Notes:

(i) The Group’s loans from a related party are all owing to Mr.

Hung. The contractual maturity dates are as follows:

24.

B8 @)

Hfat -

AN 52 B 42 B R A BRI 05 19 R AR 5
£ BRRAHTHAMT :

2023
—E=F

RMB’000
ARBFIT

Between two to five years
More than five years

MERF
hFR

1,197 1,148
27,094 25,271

28,291 26,419

The ranges of effective interest rates on the Group’s loans

from Mr. Hung are as follows:

FERIE R AR AR ERRE RN ERA XE
BT :

2023
—EC-=F

Effective interest rate:
Fixed-rate borrowings

BERAR

EREE

3.69% - 4.14% 3.69% - 4.14%

The loans from Mr. Hung of approximately RMB27,094,000

(2023: RMB25,271,000) are denominated in HK$.

(i) The contractual maturity dates of the Group’s bank

borrowings are as follows:

(i

R A RRRELE 2k £ B R K AR #27,095,000
T (ZE==%F : AR¥25,271,0007T) A
TLETE - EtEEHARBEEETE 28
EWEETE -

FEBRITEESHABERMAT :

2023
—E-=F
RMB’000
ARETTT

Fixed-rate bank borrowings:
Within one year

1,000 500

The effective interest rates (which are also equal to
contracted interest rates) on the Group’s borrowings are as

follows:

AEBERITEENERNE (LAEREH
FZE) a0

2023
=5

Effective interest rate:
Fixed-rate borrowings

L CLIES
T B

3.95% 3.80%

As at 31 December 2024, the utilisation of the secured
banking facilities with total amount of RMB15,000,000 (2023:

RMB15,000,000) is RMB1,000,000 (2023: nil).
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-4
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e P BHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z2 —F _F+_-A=1+—HILFE

25. SHARE CAPITAL 25. RAE

Number of shares Amount Amount

RH8E HE HE

2023 2023
- St —E-=F
HKD’000 RMB'000
Tin ARBTT
Ordinary shares of FREE.OIET
HK$0.01 each ZERR
Authorised: ETE
At 1 January and R—A—-Ak
31 December +-A=1+—-H 10,000,000 10,000,000 100,000 100,000 95,187 95,187
Issued and fully paid: BREIRER :
At 1 January and iz =03
31 December +-R=+-H 1,317,240 1,317,240 13,173 13,173 12,538 12,538

SR (EE) ROERAT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e P HRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 # 2 —ZE — ¥+ - A=+—HIFFZ

26.

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS TRANSACTIONS

(i)

Equity-settled share option scheme of the
Company

The Company’s share option scheme (the
“Scheme”) was adopted on 27 August 2001 for
the primary purpose of providing incentives to
directors and eligible employees, and has been
expired on 27 August 2011. Under the Scheme,
the Board of Directors of the Company may
grant options to eligible employees, including
directors of the Company and its subsidiaries,
to subscribe for shares in the Company.
The Scheme would be valid and effective for
a period of ten years commencing on the
adoption date and have come to its expiration.
All other respects of the provisions of the
Scheme shall remain in full force and holders
of all options granted under the Scheme prior
to such expiry shall be entitled to exercise the
outstanding options pursuant to the terms of
the Scheme until expiry of the said options.
As a result, a new share option scheme which
was approved on 28 February 2011 (the “New
Scheme”) and had expired on 28 February
2021. The principal terms of the New Scheme
are same with the Scheme.

Pursuant to the ordinary resolution passed by
the shareholders at the special general meeting
of the Company held on 28 February 2011 (the
“SGM”), the New Scheme mandate limit was
refreshed so that the Company was authorised
to grant share options under the New Scheme
for subscription of up to a total of 81,184,000
shares, representing approximately 10% of the
issued share capital of the Company as at the
date of the SGM.
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URDBERNERK S

(i)

RRFZUARESEBRES
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BHmRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z —ZE —NF+ - A =+—HIFFZ

26. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS TRANSACTIONS

(Continued)

(i)

Equity-settled share option scheme of the
Company (Continued)

Pursuant to the ordinary resolution passed by
the shareholders at the annual general meeting
of the Company held on 11 May 2016 (the
“AGM”), the scheme mandate limit under the
share option scheme of the Company was
refreshed again so that the Company was
authorised to grant additional share options for
subscription for a total of 86,443,000 shares
under the refreshed mandate limit, representing
approximately 10% of the issued share capital
of the Company as at the date of the AGM.
The aggregate number of shares which may be
issued upon exercise of all options that may be
granted under the refreshed mandate limit and
upon the exercise of the outstanding options
previously granted is not permitted to exceed
30% of the shares in issue at any point of time.

At 31 December 2024, the number of ordinary
shares remained outstanding in respect of
which options had been granted on 15 May
2015 (2015 May Option”) and 7 April 2017
(“2017 April Option”) is 60,469,000 (2023:
64,8283,000), representing 4.6% of the total
ordinary shares of the Company (2023: 4.9%) in
issue at the end of the reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e P HRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 # 2 —ZE — ¥+ - A=+—HIFFZ

26.

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

(i)

Equity-settled share option scheme of the
Company (Continued)

Options shall be exercised in the following
manner:

Options granted to directors and

employees on 24 June 2013 (“2013 June

Option”)

o 50% of the options shall become
exercisable on the date of grant

o Additional 50% of the options shall
become exercisable after 23 June 2014

Options granted to directors and

employees on 15 May 2015 (“2015 May

Option”)

° 50% of the options shall become
exercisable on the date of grant

° Additional 50% of the options shall
become exercisable after 14 May 2016

Options granted to directors, employees

and consultants on 7 April 2017 (“2017 April

Option”)

° 50% of the options shall become
exercisable on the date of grant

o Additional 50% of the options shall
become exercisable after 6 April 2018
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BHmRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z —ZE —NF+ - A =+—HIFFZ

26. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

(i)

Equity-settled share option scheme of the
Company (Continued)

Under the Scheme and the New Scheme, the
exercise price is determined by the directors
of the Company, and will not be less than the
higher of (i) the closing price of the Company’s
shares on the date of grant, (i) the average
closing price of the shares for the five business
days immediately preceding the date of grant;
and (iii) the nominal value of the Company’s
share.

No consideration is payable on the grant of an
option.

During the year ended 31 December 2024,

share options of 4,354,000 (2023: 6,507,000)
were either forfeited and expired.

Details of specific categories of options are as
follows:

Option granted to directors and employees

26. LUROAEBONNLRRS @)

(i) $@72MW% EBRETE

b .

mﬁ&ﬁﬂ&ﬁﬁ% TEEHK
RAEFTEETE BTMEROED
AIRMHRRE BB WTE - (i)
MREEZEFRLBHTAEEEA 2
SEHWTHE  R(i) AR R &S 2 m
BRzBEE -

SR BB S BN 2

E o
HE-_Z-_WN&E+-_A=+—HL
FE 4,354,0001 et S
6,507,0001% ) B& I #E B KW &
Eq o

A AR BT

R-FE-—=FAFA-+HARTE

on 24 June 2013 ERESZIEKRE

Option type Date of grant  Vesting period Exercise period Exercise price  Fair value at grant date
BRESS RiLRH BES s iR REHABZAAE
2013 June Option

ZECERAERE

Grant to directors 24,06.2013 N/A 24.,06.2013 10 23.06.2023 HK$0.1122 HK$0.0506
RTEs 24.06.2013 AR 24.,06.2013223.06.2023 0.1208 T 0.05067 7
Grant to directors 24.06.2013 24.06.20131023.06.2014  24.06.2014 10 23.06.2023 HK$0.1122 HK$0.0522
RTEs 24.06.2013 24.06.2013223.06.2014 24.06.2014223.06.2023 0.11208T 0.052287C
Grant to employess 24.06.2013 N/A 24.06.2013 t0 23.06.2023 HK$0.1122 HK$0.0506
KTER 24,06.2013 AR 24.,06.2013223.06.2023 0.112257L 0.0506/57T
Grant to employees 24,06.2013 24.06.20131023.06.2014  24.06.2014 10 23.06.2023 HK$0.1122 HK$0.0522
KTER 24,06.2013 24.06.2013223.06.2014 24.06.2014223.06.2023 0.112257L 0.0522%
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e P HRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 # 2 —ZE — ¥+ - A=+—HIFFZ

26. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

(i)

Equity-settled share option scheme of the
Company (Continued)

Option granted to directors and employees

26. LUBROK/EBRBOARRS @)

(i) ERRzUAREEEBRET S

Mg

R-E—FFTATTABETFESE

on 15 May 2015 RESZERE

Option type Date of grant  Vesting period Exercise period Exercise price  Fair value at grant date
ERESS RiLRH BES s ikl RELRHZARE
2015 May Option

“T-RERAERE

Grant to a director 15052015 N/A 16.06.2015 to 14.05.2025 HK$0.43 HK$0.2648
RTEZ 15.05.2015 ol 15.05.2015%14.06.2025 0.4357 0.2648787C
Grant to a director 15.05.2015 15.05.2015t0 14.05.2016  15.05.2016 to 14.05.2025 HK$0.43 HK$0.2694
RTES 15.05.2015 15.05.2015214.05.2016 15.05.2016%14.06.2025 0.4387 0.2694787C
Grant to employess 15.05.2015 N/A 15,06.2015 to 14.06.2025 HK$0.43 HK$0.2243
RkTES 15.05.2015 ol 15.05.2015%14.06.2025 04387 0.22437% L
Grant to employess 15.05.2015 15.05.2015 t0 14.05.2016  15.05.2016 t0 14.05.2025 HK$0.43 HK$0.2372
KTES 15.05.2015 15.05.2015214.05.2016 15.05.2016%14.06.2025 04387 0.2372% T

Option granted to directors, employees and

R-F—tFNFtARTEE

consultants on 7 April 2017 EEREBEREZERE
Option type Date of grant  Vesting period Exercise period Exercise price  Fair value at grant date
BRESR BB FES gL (i RELREZARE
2017 April Option
ZE-CENARRE
Grant to a director 07.04.2017 N/A 07.04.2017 to 06.04.2027 HK$0.1820 HK$0.0865
RTEZ 07.04.2017 FER 07.04.2017206.04.2027 0.182057L 0.0865/57T
Grant to a director 07.04.2017 07.04.2017 t0 06.04.2018  07.04.2018 10 06.04.2027 HK$0.1820 HK$0.0949
R7E% 07.04.2017 07.04.2017206.04.2018  07.04.2018%06.04.2027 0.18208 T 0.00497%8 T
Grant to employees and

consultants 07.04.2017 N/A 07.04.2017 to 06.04.2027 HK$0.1820 HK$0.0846
RTESREM 07.04.2017 TR 07.04.2017206.04.2027 0.1820%T 0.08467% T
Grant to employees and

consultants 07.04.2017 07.04.2017 0 06.04.2018  07.04.2018 10 06.04.2027 HK$0.1820 HK$0.0920
RFESRER 07.04.2017 07.04.2017206.04.2018  07.04.2018%06.04.2027 0.1820/8 T 0.09207% T

SING LEE SOFTWARE (GROUP) LIMITED
152

Annual Report 2024



-4

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RR M

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z2 —F _F+_-A=1+—HILFE

26. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS TRANSACTIONS

(Continued)

U]

Equity-settled share option scheme of the

Company (Continued)

The following tables disclose the movement of

the share options during 2024.

26.

URMDHBERNARRS (@)

U]

AT Z AR EEERBRET S

(%)
TEREBER =T -MF 2 BRIER
ib o

Option type BRESH

Granted to directors RTEs

2015 May Option “E-RERAERE 2,48 = = = 2,48

2017 April Option ZE-CEMAERE 2,182 - (308) - 1,874

4,430 - (308) - 4,122

Exercisable at the end of 2024 TR-Z-MERE 4,122

Weighted average exercise price ~ IETH7(HE 0.2602 - 0.1538 - 0.2682

Granted to employees and RYEERFES

non-employees

2015 May Option-Employees “E-nEnARRE-EE 12,186 = (2,366) = 9,820

2017 April Option-Employees “S-tEmARERE - BB 15,784 = (1,680) = 14,104

2017 April Option-Non-employees ~ ~Z—+ 4 A%z - 3HES 32,423 c c = 32,423
60,393 - (4,046) - 56,347

Exercisable at the end of 2024 TR-FZMEENE 56,347

Weighted average exercise price ~ TNEFHITH(E 0.1961 - 0.2764 - 0.1903
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #2 —ZF —P1F+ A =+—HILFE

26.

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS TRANSACTIONS 26.

(Continued)
(i) Equity-settled share option scheme of the (i) KRR ZARELE B RETE
Company (Continued) (#%&)
The following tables disclose the movement of TEEBER-_ZE_=FERES
the share options during 2023. g o
Qutstanding Exercised Forfeited Expired  Outstanding
at during during during at
1.1.2023 the year the year the year 31.12.2023
Option type BRESR 3 RIFZ=F
—R—Ri t-A=1-H
AfE REAME O RERER RERIE WA
'000 ‘000 '000 ‘000 ‘000
T T T T T
Granted to directors RTEs
2013 June Option “E-CERRERE 47 = = (47) -
2015 May Option “Z-RETRARRE 2,248 - - - 2,048
2017 April Option “E-tEMARRE 2,490 - (308) - 2,182
4785 - (30) ) 4430
Exercisable at the end of 2023 AR -E-=HEE 4,430
Welghted average exercise price ~ METST(FE 0.2517 - 0.1538 0.0948 0.2602
Granted to employees and RTESRHES
non-employees
2013 June Option-Employees ZE-CENARRE-ES 5,560 - - (5,560 =
2015 May Option-Employees “E-nEnARERE- B8 12,186 - - - 12,186
2017 April Option-Employees SN ARERE - E8 16,376 - (592) = 15,784
2017 April Option-Non-employees  —E—+ %W A& Mg - F[EE 32,423 - - - 32,423
66,545 - 1592) 16,560) 60,393
Exercisable at the end of 2023 TR-E-=FRE 60,393
Weighted average exercise price ~~ METIS17(5E 0.1816 - 0.1538 0.0948 0.1961
During the years ended 31 December 2024 and BHEZT -_NFR-F-_=F+=

URMGHERNNARRS (@)

2023, no share-based payment recognised to
share options granted to directors, employees
or non-employees respectively.
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27.

28.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BHmRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z —ZE —NF+ - A =+—HIFFZ

LEASE LIABILITIES

The lease liabilities are all within one year for both
years.

The weighted average incremental borrowing rates
applied to lease liabilities is 6% (2023: 6%).

RETIREMENT BENEFITS PLANS

The Group participates in a Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes (the “MPF Scheme”) for all qualifying
employees in Hong Kong. The assets of the scheme
are held separately from those of the Group, in
funds under the control of trustees. The Group
contributed 5% of relevant payroll costs to the MPF
scheme, subject to a cap of monthly relevant income
of HK$30,000, which contribution is matched by
employees.

The employees of the Group in the PRC are members
of state-managed retirement benefit schemes operated
by the respective local governments in the PRC. The
Group is required to contribute 24% — 26% (2023:
24% — 26%) of payroll costs to the schemes to fund
the benefits. The only obligation of the Group with
respect to these schemes is to make the specified
contributions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e P HRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 # 2 —ZE — ¥+ - A=+—HIFFZ

29.

PRINCIPAL OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 29. AAFZEENEAT
COMPANY
Details of the Group’s subsidiaries at the end of the AEBKBARRFERR ZFIFTEHT W
reporting period are set out below. e
Country of Particulars of
incorporation/ issued and fully Proportion of Proportion of
establishment/ paid share capital/ voting power ownership interest
Name of companies operations registered capital  held by the Company for 2024 and 2023 Principal activities
AMAY/RY/  ERARMRERE/ NGt RIB-RER-F-ZF
ARER gEEX AMEAZHE REELP READM IEER
2024 2023 Direct Indirect
“E-mE | -ZocE E# 3
Sing Lee Electronics (B.V.l) ~ British Virgin Islands 715 shares of 100% 100% 100% - Investment holding
Co., Ltd. US$1 each
Sing Lee Flectronics (BV.)  EBRKEE T5RERER 100% 100% 100% - REZR
Co., Ltd. 1ZT LR
Singlee Software' PRC Registered capital 100% 100% - 100% Development and sales of
US$4,325,500 software products, sales
of hardware products and
provision of technical services
AL hEl 4,325,500 100% 100% - 100% HEMBEEER  #E
AMER Bt Em - I RERRS GRS
Singlee Technology? PRC Registered capital 100% 100% - 100% Development and sales of
US$6,714,000 software products, sales
of hardware products and
provision of technical services
AR hEl 6,714,000£ 100% 100% - 100% HEAMHEEEER  #E
AmER Bt Em - I RERRS GRS
Xin YinTong? PRC Registered capital 100% 100% - 100% Development and sales of
RMB50,000,000 software products, sales
of hardware products and
provision of technical services
i34 hEl AR50,000,0007 100% 100% - 100% HEAMHEEEER  #E
AmER Bt Em - I RERRS GRS
1 Singlee Software is wholly foreign owned enterprise. i FHEGREINERE -
2 Singlee Technology and Xin YinTong are sino-foreign equity 2 AR KRB AETRBER AT INGE
joint ventures established in the PRC. Y- VNCTID

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities
at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

SING LEE SOFTWARE (GROUP) LIMITED
Annual Report 2024

156

PR AT (R P B R BN AN E R AF E AR
R R BT EMERES o



30.

31.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BHmRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z —ZE —NF+ - A =+—HIFFZ

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT 30. EXEBERE
The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities AEEEBEEAEMBERASEE 2 BB
in the Group will be able to continue as a going AINFELE  UEBELEBERRELE
concern while maximising the return to shareholders RAEREBEATREAL®R -BHEFF
through the optimisation of the debt and equity B ANEEEEREEFIE -
balance. The Group’s overall strategy remains
unchanged from prior year.
The capital structure of the Group consists of AEEBZEAREEDIEREREE - BHE
borrowings, amounts due to related parties and bank B RIBRIBITHEBRIRE A RAHER
balances and cash, and equity attributable to owners ANEBERA (B BERA - BRHRE -
of the Company, comprising share capital, share ZEtEE R EMEE)
premium, accumulated losses and other reserves.
The directors of the Group review the capital structure AEEEEFFF BT EARNLERE - 1E
on a semi-annual basis. As part of this review, the BNz —Hn  EELEREAKAR
directors consider the cost of capital and the risks HEFBREARIEE Bk o NEEFIRE
associated with each class of capital. Based on BEEVERZ SBRITRE - BITHRNA
recommendations of the directors, the Group will NEBETHELSRERIRAEHFRTPHEE
balance its overall capital structure through the ARG o
payment of dividends, new share issues as well as the
issue of new debt or the redemption of existing debt.
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 31. &€@mIH
31a. Categories of financial instruments 31a. @@ T AEH
2024 2023
—E_E —E=4F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ET T AREFIT
Financial assets THEE
Financial assets at amortised cost  IREFHSENATIEE 2 &R E E 49,839 59,533
Financial assets at FVTPL BARBEFABRE /M
BE 189 183
50,028 59,716
Financial liabilities THEE
Amortised cost HESHRR AR 33,753 30,159
A (EE) RBBRAF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P HRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 # 2 —ZE — ¥+ - A=+—HIFFZ

31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

31b. Financial risk management objectives and

policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include
trade and other receivables, financial assets
at FVTPL, bank balances and cash, restricted
bank deposits, amounts due to related parties,
trade and other payables and borrowings.
Details of these financial instruments are
disclosed in respective notes. The risks
associated with these financial instruments
include market risk (interest rate risk and
currency risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The
policies on how to mitigate these risks are set
out below. The management manages and
monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate
measures are implemented on a timely and

effective manner.

Market risk

(i) Currency risk

The Group has bank balances and cash,
trade and other payables, amounts
due to related parties and borrowings
denominated in US$ and HK$, currencies
other than the functional currency of the
respective group entities, which expose
the Group to foreign currency risk. The
Group currently does not have a foreign
exchange hedging policy. However, the
management of the Group monitors
foreign exchange exposure and will
consider hedging significant foreign
exchange exposure should the need to

arise.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BHmRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z —ZE —NF+ - A =+—HIFFZ

31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (cContinued) 31. @I A ()
31b. Financial risk management objectives and 31b. RIEREEBRNRBE (&)
policies (Continued)
Market risk (Continued) TSR (&)
(i) Currency risk (Continued) (i) EMmER (4)
The carrying amount of the foreign RIFERRNINESTENE
currency denominated monetary assets MEEREKaENERERE
and monetary liabilities at the end of the AR
reporting period are as follows:
2024 2023
—E-mE —ZEZ=F
Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities
BE =L BE afE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETRT ARBTR ARETT AR®TT
Us$ £7T 26 - 25 -
HK$ BT 2,564 29,058 216 27,431
Sensitivity analysis BURRE DT

As the US$ balance of the Group is
not significant, the following table only
details the sensitivity to a 5% (2023:
5%) increase and decrease in the RMB
against HK$. The 5% (2023: 5%) is the
sensitivity rate used when reporting
foreign currency risk internally to key
management personnel and represents
management’s assessment of the
reasonably possible change in the
foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity
analysis includes only outstanding
foreign currency denominated monetary
items, and adjusts their translation at the
year end for a 5% (2023: 5%) change in
foreign currency rates. A positive number
indicates a decrease in the post-tax loss
where RMB strengthens against HKS.
For a 5% (2023: 5%) weakening of RMB
against HK$, there would be an equal
and opposite impact on the loss and the
balances below would be negative.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e P HRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 # 2 —ZE — ¥+ - A=+—HIFFZ

31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 31. £@TH ()
31b. Financial risk management objectives and 31b. £REAMREEENRBER (4)
policies (Continued)
Market risk (Continued) TSR (&)
(i) Currency risk (Continued) (i) EMmER ()
Sensitivity analysis (Continued) BRE DT (8)
HK$ Impact
BT E
2024 2023
—EMmF —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®ET T ARET T
Profit or loss B 1,154 1,156
This is mainly attributable to the net W hEZERRERSHRE
exposure to outstanding foreign currency REZBBTHINERITERR
bank balances and cash, trade and other ERe EBNEZREMER
payables, amounts due to related parties ;o EABEE T RIEREE
and borrowings in HK$ at end of the i T 3 2 B fe 3 5E o
reporting period.
(ii) Interest rate risk management (ii) 2 [ e =

The Group is exposed to fair value
interest rate risk in relation to fixed-rate
loans from a bank, loans from a related
party (see Note 24 for details) and lease
liabilities. The Group is also exposed to
cash flow interest rate risk in relation to
variable rate bank balances (see Note
21 for details). The management will
consider hedging significant interest rate
exposure should the need to arise.

The directors consider that the cash
flow interest rate risk is insignificant,
accordingly, no sensitivity analysis were
presented for both years.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BHmRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z —ZE —NF+ - A =+—HIFFZ

31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

31b.

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the
Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk
which will cause a financial loss to the Group
due to failure to discharge an obligation by
the counterparties is arising from the carrying
amount of respective financial assets as stated
in the consolidated statement of financial
position. The Group does not hold any collateral
or other credit enhancements to cover its credit
risks associated with its financial assets. There
is no significant change in the collateral policies
of the entity during both reporting periods.

Trade receivables and contract assets arising
from contracts with customers

In order to minimise the credit risk, the
management of the Group has delegated a
team responsible for determination of credit
limits and credit approvals. Before accepting
any new customer, the Group uses an internal
credit scoring system to assess the potential
customer’s credit quality and defines credit
limits by customer. Limits and scoring attributed
to customers are reviewed at the end of the
reporting period. The Group also adopts legal
and appropriate measures to collect overdue
debts and reduce credit losses through,
amongst others, phone calls, facsimile, letters,
visits, interviews, as well as legal actions as the
final resort.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e P HRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 # 2 —ZE — ¥+ - A=+—HIFFZ

31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

31b.

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

Trade receivables and contract assets arising
from contracts with customers (Continued)

Trade receivables and contract assets with
external credit rating and credit-impaired
balances are assessed for ECL individually.
In addition, the management of the Group
estimates the amount of lifetime ECL of trade
receivables and contract assets based on
provision matrix through grouping of various
debtors that have similar loss patterns.
Estimated loss rates are based on historical
observed default rates over the expected life
of the debtors and are adjusted for forward-
looking information. During the year ended
31 December 2024, impairment loss on trade
receivables and contract assets recognised
(net of reversal) is RMB324,000 (2023:
RMB2,280,000). Details of the quantitative
disclosures are set out below in this note.

The Group has concentration of credit risk of
89% (20283: 73%) of the total trade receivables
was due from the Group’s top five largest
customers in relation to the provision of
technical support services business segment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BHmRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z —ZE —NF+ - A =+—HIFFZ

31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

31b.

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

Other receivables, restricted bank deposits and
bank balances

The Group performs impairment assessment
under ECL model on other receivables,
restricted bank deposits and bank balances
based on 12m ECL.

The credit risk on other receivables is limited
because the counterparties have no historical
default record and the directors expect that
the general economic conditions will not
significantly changed for the 12 months after
the reporting date.

The credit risks on restricted bank deposits
and bank balances are limited because the
counterparties are banks with high credit ratings
assigned by international credit-rating agencies.

Based on the Group’s internal credit rating, no
material ECL is recognised for other receivables,
restricted bank deposits and bank balances.

The Group has concentration of credit risk on

liquid funds which are deposited with several
banks with high credit ratings.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e P HRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 # 2 —ZE — ¥+ - A=+—HIFFZ

31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 31.

31b.

Financial risk management objectives and

policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment

(Continued)

The Group’s internal credit risk grading
assessment comprises the following categories:

31b.

@I A @)
SREMEERWREE (&)

=B AR R A EFAE ()

AEENABEERRE
TSR -

Trade receivables

e

Internal credit rating  Description and contract assets Other financial assets
R EETR it EUEZERRANEE HittemER HEn
Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of default and Lifetime ECL 12m ECL
does not have any past-due amounts not credit-impaired
el A HFEREREENAR - BV EEMELRFHE PHRBEERL - 12EARHEERX
BEERE
Watch list Debtor frequently repays after due dates but Lifetime ECL 12m ECL
usually settle in full not credit-impaired
BRLE EBACERIMARER  BRERIMAE  2HEHEERL- 12EARSEEERX
& BIEERE
Doubtful There have been significant increases in credit Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL -
risk since initial recognition through information not credit-impaired not credit-impaired
developed internally or external resources
Q- REHEER I REREREERRE BNk PEHRSBEER. - PHRHBEERL -
BREKIBLEM BIEERE BEERE
Loss There is evidence indicating the asset is Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL -
credit-impaired credit-impaired credit-impaired
B REBBETAERRENE PHRBEER. - PHRHBEERL -
EEERE BEERE
Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtorisin  Amount is written off Amount is written off
severe financial difficulty and the Group has no
realistic prospect of recovery
A REBETERARRBENBRE hASE TR MR

$ARRBRAREFRE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 31.

31b.

e BHmRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z —ZE —NF+ - A =+—HIFFZ

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

The tables below detail the credit risk exposures
of the Group’s financial assets and other item

@I A (@)
31b. TRIEREEENWRBER (&)

=B E B Ra E G ()

TRV AEERETRBEER
ReHENeREEREMEARNE

which are subject to ECL assessment: ERMBEFS
2024 2028
I3CRE CZCCF
Gross Gross
External credit  Internal carrying carrying
Notes rating credit rating  12-month or lifetime ECL amount amount
iz MBEERR  AHEEFR  12EARRERESEEER REAE | HEAE
RMB'000  RMB'000
ABETTE  ARETT
Financial assets at amortised cost
REURASIE SREE
Bank balances 21 BA2 to At N/A 12-month ECL 28,528 35,015
G 21 BA2ZA NER 12EABSEERR
Restricted bank deposits 21 BA2 to A1 N/A 12-month ECL 626 705
ERESER 21 BA2ZAI NER 12EARSEERR
Other receivables 19 N/A (Note 1) 12-month ECL‘ 5,963 5179
Hit RS 20 iR (1) 12ERRSEERX
Trade receivables
EYEHE
- contracts with customers 19 N/A (Note 2) Lifetime ECL not credit-impaired 1,899 3,428
(collective assessment)
-EP&H 19 AR (Hit2) 2ERBEERX (o)
BA2 to A1 N/A Lifetime ECL not credit-impaired 13,474 15,424
(individual assessment
BA2ZAI TR PHEBESEL (REERE)
(BaifEE)
N/A Loss Lifetime ECL credit-impaired 12 247
ol B PERBEERX (BEERE)
Other items
EfiER
Contract assets 20 N/A (Note 2) Lifetime ECL not credit-impaired 38 66
(collective assessment)
AlEE 20 AR (o) PHRAEERR(AEERE)

BA2 to At N/A

BA2ZAT TR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e P HRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 # 2 —ZE — ¥+ - A=+—HIFFZ

31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 31. £WMIA W

31b.

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment

31b.

SREMRSEENREER (4)

=B AR R A EFAE ()

(Continued)

Notes: B

1. For the purposes of internal credit risk management, 1. RABEERARERENS  A5E
the Group uses past due information to assess FEROHERTIHEERBRREE
whether credit risk has increased significantly since BYIRERBERIBIEM - NARE
initial recognition. The directors of the Company ERA - LiliRIE B YRR K
believe that there are no significant increase in credit RELEARBRBEEMZBER -
risk of these amounts since initial recognition and B UL TE W 8 4 5 35 SR ph AE R R AR
accordingly no impairment loss is recognised for RIBEEK ©
both years.

2. Trade receivables and contract assets with external 2. AEBEHEINBEATRREEH

credit rating and credit-impaired balances are
assessed for ECL individually. In addition, the
management of the Group estimates the amount
of lifetime ECL of trade receivables and contract
assets based on provision matrix through grouping
of various debtors that have similar loss patterns.
Estimated loss rates are based on historical
observed default rates over the expected life of
the debtors and are adjusted for forward-looking
information.

As part of the Group’s credit risk management,
the Group uses debtors’ aging to assess the
impairment for its customers in relation to its
operation because these customers consist of a
large number of small customers with common
risk characteristics that are representative of
the customers’ abilities to pay all amounts due
in accordance with the contractual terms. The
following table provides information about the
exposure to credit risk for trade receivables
and contract assets which are assessed on a
collective basis by using provision matrix within
lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired). Debtors with
external credit rating or credit-impaired with
gross carrying amounts of RMB13,950,000 as
at 31 December 2024 (2023: RMB16,163,000)
were assessed individually.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BHmRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z —ZE —NF+ - A =+—HIFFZ

31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 3. @@IA @
31b. Financial risk management objectives and 31b. RIEREEBRNRBE (&)
policies (Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment =B B2 R EFFE (&)
(Continued)
2024 2023
—E-ME —EC-=F
Gross Gross Gross Gross
amount  amount of amount  amount of
Average of trade contract Average of trade contract
loss rate  receivables assets loss rate  receivables assets
E5EK  AREE BIEK AREE
FHEXE RS B THEXZ PR ELE
% RMB’000 RMB’000 % RMB’000 RMB’000
TR TR TERT TAT ThL ARETR
Within one year 1.25 845 4 4,35 2,851 22
QOver one year and
within two years 28.37 797 18 18.44 387 16
QOver two years and
within three years 45.34 257 16 38.76 190 28
1,899 38 3,428 66

The estimated loss rates are estimated based
on historical observed default rates over the
expected life of the debtors and are adjusted
for forward-looking information that is available
without undue cost or effort. The grouping is
regularly reviewed by management to ensure
relevant information about specific debtors is
updated.

During the year ended 31 December
2024, the Group recognised approximately
RMB416,000 (2023: RMB125,000) and
reversed RMB284,000 (2023: RMB54,000)
impairment allowance for trade receivables
and contract assets based on the collective
assessment, respectively. Impairment allowance
of RMB46,000 and RMB434,000 (2023:
RMB37,000 and RMB2474,000) were made
and RMB41,000 and RMB247,000 (2023:
RMB123,000 and RMB179,000) were reversed
on debtors with external credit rating and
credit-impaired receivables, respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P HRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 # 2 —ZE — ¥+ - A=+—HIFFZ

31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 31. £@TH ()
31b. Financial risk management objectives and 31b. £REAMREEENRBER (4)
policies (Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment =B B f2 R EFFE (&)
(Continued)
The following table shows the movement in TRINTREGERERE SR
lifetime ECL that has been recognised for trade RREHNEECHERND ARG
receivables and contract assets under the EBXET -
simplified approach.
Lifetime Lifetime Lifetime
ECL ECL ECL
(Individually ~ (Collective (Individually
assessment) assessment) assessment)
(external (internal (credit-
credit rating) credit rating) impaired) Total
2HEH 2HES
5P REEX 2HEH
(ERIFEE) (AEFEE) E-¢-FS
(P& (RBEE (BRI
FR) R (FEREE) @it
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT AR®TT ARBTT AR%Tn
As at 1 January 2023 R-E-=%-A-H 145 313 454 912
- Impairment losses recognised - BERRAESE 37 125 2,474 2,636
- Impairment losses reversed -BRERESE (128) (54) 179) (356)
— Transfer to credit-impaired -BREEENE (18) (100) 118 =
- Write-offs — HisH - - (2,620) (2,620)
As at 31 December R-BZ=F
2023 +=ZA=1+-H 41 284 247 572
- Impairment losses recognised - BRRAESR 46 416 434 896
- Impairment losses reversed -BRERESR (41) (284) (247) (572)
- Write-offs — i3 = > (422) (422)
As at 31 December RZZEZmF
2024 +=ZA=t-H 46 416 12 474
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BHmRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z —ZE —NF+ - A =+—HIFFZ

31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

31b.

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

The Group writes off a trade receivable when
there is information indicating that the debtor
is in severe financial difficulty and there is no
realistic prospect of recovery, e.g. when the
debtor has been placed under liquidation or has
entered into bankruptcy proceedings, or when
the trade receivables are over three years past
due, whichever occurs earlier.

Liquidity risk

In the management of liquidity risk, the Group
monitors and maintains a level of cash and
cash equivalent as well as undrawn banking
facilities deemed adequate by the management
to finance the Group’s operations and mitigate
the effects of fluctuations in cash flows.
The management monitors the utilisation of
borrowings.

The following tables detail the Group’s
remaining contractual maturity for its financial
liabilities. The tables have been drawn up based
on the undiscounted cash flows of financial
liabilities based on the earliest date on which
the Group can be required to pay. The table
includes both interest and principal cash flows.
To the extent that interest flows are floating
rate, the undiscounted amount is derived from
weighted average interest rate at the end of the
reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #2 —ZF —P1F+ A =+—HILFE

31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 3. @®IA @
31b. Financial risk management objectives and 31b. £REAMREEENRBER (4)
policies (Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued) REBELEE ()
Liquidity risk table TEE 2 E R
Weighted ~ On demand Between Between Total
average or less one and twoand  More than undiscounted Carrying
interestrate  than1year  twoyears  fiveyears  fiveyears  cash flows amount
#EL9 FERRS

NEYHRE  -FARE  -ERF CEER BRML REAR L
RVBOD  RMBOD  RVBOO  RMBOD  RVBOO  RMBUOWD
ARBTT  ARMTL  ARMTR ARRTR ARRTR ARRTR

2024 -4
Trade and other payables EE A RS - 2,584 - = = 2,584 2,584
Amounts dus to reated parties ERERF3E - 1878 - = = 1878 1878
Unsecured loans flom a relaed party  EERER RS 7% - - 1,351 32,592 33,043 28,201
Bark borrowings 311 3.95% 1,040 - - - 1,040 1,000
Lease liablies HEEE 6.00% m - - - m £}
5519 - 1,351 32,502 39,522 33,385
2023 s
Trade and other payables EREARAMES - 1,201 - - - 1,201 1,201
Amounts cue to reated parties ERmRAE - 2,089 - - - 20 2,09
Unsecured loans flom a related party B ABE {4 371% - - 1,351 30,34 31,607 26419
Bark borrowings BifeE 3.80% 519 - - - 519 500
Lease liabliies HESE 6.00% 109 - - - 109 103
3,068 - 1,351 30346 35,565 30,262
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BHmRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z —ZE —NF+ - A =+—HIFFZ

31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

31. @I A ()

31c. Fair value 31c. ARE
(i) Fair value of the Group’s financial (i) FrEFEHEERTHMERE
assets and financial liabilities that ZARBETDRELEHEE
are measured at fair value on a BARERE
recurring basis
Some of the Group’s financial assets REEHLDEHBE ETHER
are measured at fair value at the end ZWREHAROARERE o
of each reporting period. The following THREHEHEZSFEREE
table gives information about how the ARENEEIN (CEE
fair values of these financial assets are T b 1B 75 0% B o A 808D
determined (in particular, the valuation A RIR A Bt 28 ARE
technique(s) and inputs used) as well as AITEERNEEMDEAR
the level of the fair value hierarchy into B ENARERER (F1
which the fair value measurements are E3E) MER -
categorised (levels 1 to 3) based on the
degree to which the inputs to the fair
value measurements is observable.
Fair value as at
RUATRHANAARE
Fair value Valuation technique and
2024 2023 hierarchy key inputs
—E-mE ZET=F DAREES  RESERERESAEE
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T NS
Financial assets at fair value 189 183 Level 3 Value provided by the
through profit or loss (Note 18) investments fund with
reference to the underlying
assets of the funds.
BARE BB eREE 189 183 3B REESREMNESABERE
(Hiz#18) ENNE
A (EE) RBBRAF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P HRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 # 2 —ZE — ¥+ - A=+—HIFFZ

31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 31.
31c. Fair value (Continued)

(i) Fair value of the Group’s financial
assets and financial liabilities that
are measured at fair value on a
recurring basis (Continued)

E@MTE ()
31c. ARME (#)
(i) rEF2HEERTHERE
ZAREREEEMREE
BAREE (&)

Reconciliation of level 3 fair value EIBAREFEZLHE
measurements:
Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss
BRARESABZZSRMEE
2024 2023
—EmEF —T-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ET T ARBTFIT
Opening balance BiYeR%R 183 179
Unrealised fair value loss in profit 18zFAREIRN A A E
or loss Wz (BE) = (1)
Exchange difference ME =R 6 5
Closing balance HAR 45 8% 189 183

There were no transfers in and out from
level 3 in both years.

(ii) Fair value of the Group’s financial
assets and financial liabilities that
are not measured at fair value on
a recurring basis (but fair value
disclosures are required)

The fair values of the financial assets and
financial liabilities have been determined
in accordance with generally accepted
pricing models based on a discounted
cash flow analysis.

The directors consider that the carrying
amounts of financial assets and financial
liabilities recognised at amortised cost
in the consolidated financial statements
approximate their fair values.
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32.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BHmRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z —ZE —NF+ - A =+—HIFFZ

RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING 32. RMETHELENEBNHIE
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
The table below details changes in the Group’s TRHAMAEBREBREZHHEES
liabilities arising from financing activities, including ) RIERERIFREEH - ERHE
both cash and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising ANBEARRESREFME  FRKIRER
from financing activities are those for which cash flows EREASEGEREMNERTOERR
were, or future cash flows will be classified in the BEEHNHEESRE °
Group’s consolidated statement of cash flows as cash
flows from financing activities.
Unsecured Amounts
loans from due to
Bank Lease a related related
borrowings liabilities party parties Total
i FEf$
BTEE HEAE BEIEE BEAIRE &t
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETE ARETE ARETT ARETT
(Note 24) (Note 27) (Note 24) (Note 23)
(Hizto4) (Hiz27) (Hiz24) (fiz23)
As at 1 January 2023 RZE-_=%—f—H 18,000 47 24,785 899 43,731
Financing cash flows RERENE (17,674) (361) - 1,140 (16,895)
New lease entered R ME - 406 - = 406
Foreign exchange HNEE 3 4
translation = = 695 = 695
Interest expense FlEFH 174 11 939 = 1,124
At 31 December 2023 R-ZE-_=%
+-A=+—"H 500 103 26,419 2,039 29,061
Financing cash flows RERERE 451 (252) - (161) 38
New lease entered FEIHE - 213 - - 213
Foreign exchange HNEE 3 4
translation - - 882 - 882
Interest expense FEXH 49 9 990 - 1,048
At 31 December 2024  R=-Z-MF
+=ZHA=+—-H 1,000 73 28,291 1,878 31,242
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e P HRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #2 —ZF —P1F+ A =+—HILFE

33. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 33. BEAIXS
Apart from details of the balances and transactions Br T ARG MR M R A99 - 23 %24/
with related parties disclosed in notes 9, 23 and 24 to REEE T RN TR - AEBNFAEITUT
the consolidated financial statements, the Group also BAELTRS :

entered into the following related party transactions
during the years:

Compensation of key management personnel FEEEEBAEME
The remuneration of directors and other members of AFEEEERFEERECKE 2SN
key management during the year were as follows: T
2024 2023
—E_ME —_F_=
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T T ARET T

Short-term employee benefits HHEEREF 3,575 4,750
Retirement benefit schemes RIRERIFT B K

contributions 299 260
3,874 5,010

Short-term lease expenses yoR:ikizkeal:
2024 2023
—E-_E = — =
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARBET T

Short-term lease expenses paid to SR B s O
Sing Lee Pharmaceutical Import & BRARKPFAE
Export Co., Limited (Note) for lease of  EB{i7%Z EiFH ERISL
office premises - 287

Note:  Sing Lee Pharmaceutical Import & Export Co., Limited, in HiaE : FAEEEHROARABZRRAEBLEERE
which the shareholder, Mr. Hung, has 50% equity interest 50%# x5 1 B £+ 145 il 4 -
with joint control.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BHmRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z —ZE —NF+ - A =+—HIFFZ

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 34. ZARAFHFHEMRRR
THE COMPANY
2024 2023
—ENE —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T T ARETIT

Non-current Assets kRBEE
Investment in subsidiaries HEW B A A 3,131 3,131
Amounts due from subsidiaries RS NGIE /O] 120 279
3,251 3,410
Current Assets REBEE
Prepayments and other receivables TE - RRIA Fo E A I AR 3K 239 231
Financial assets at FVTPL BARBEFABRZ S/
BE 189 183
Bank balances and cash RITEBR MRS 2,502 157
2,930 571
Current Liabilities REAE
Other payables H A ERT BRI 8,146 4,302
Amounts due to related parties FE T A NS 75 BUIE 1,877 2,038
10,023 6,340
Net Current Assets (Liabilities) FEEERE (7,093) (5,769)
Total Assets less Current Liabilities A& ERABHERE (3,842) (2,359)
Capital and Reserves EARRHE
Share capital (Note 25) IR (BfzE25) 12,538 12,538
Reserves i (HaE) (43,474) (40,168)
Total Deficiency AR (30,936) (27,630)
Non-current Liability FRBEME
Borrowings Ep 27,094 25,271
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P HRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #2 —ZF —P1F+ A =+—HILFE

34. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF
THE COMPANY (Continued)

34.

Share-based

KD BB AR R R (40)

Share Shareholder’s payments Accumulated
premium  contribution reserve losses Total
DR GHER

BB EE RR@R  BARREE 2itER B

RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000

AREFT AREFTL AREFTT AREFT ARETTL

At 1 January 2023 R-Z2-=%-f-8 179,132 6,641 6,311 (227,171) (35,087)
Loss and total comprehensive ~ AFEBER2ERY 2%

expense for the year - - - (5,081) (5,081)

Lapse of share options BRELR - - (282) 282 =

At 31 December 2023 RZE-=F+-f=1—H 179,132 6,641 6,029 (231,970) (40,168)
Loss and total comprehensive ~ AFEEER2EMTAS

expense for the year - - - (3,306) (3,306)

Lapse of share options BRI - - (568) 568 -

At 31 December 2024 R-B-mE+=A=t+-H 179,132 6,641 5,461 (234,708) (43,474)
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